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Chairman’s Statement

EE®|E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”), | herein present
the annual report of NNK Group Limited (the “Company") together with its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 3| December 2022 (the “Reporting
Period").

BUSINESS REVIEW
The Group is principally engaged in providing mobile top-up services to mobile users
through electronic banking systems of banks in the PRC and other channels including

third-party online platforms, its own websites and WeChat public account.

In 2022, the Group has strived to increase its gross transaction value of mobile top-
up service throughout the year in order to compensate the impact on the reduction
of the average discount rate offered by the PRC telecommunication operators and
their distributors. The gross transaction value via electronic banking system increased
by approximately 6.86% to approximately RMB14,962.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 from approximately RMB14,002.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2021. Overall gross transaction value with mobile users increased by
approximately 5.78% to approximately RMBI5,114.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 from approximately RMB14,288.1 million for the year ended 3|
December 2021. The average discount rates offered by the PRC telecommunication
operators and their distributors have continued to decline in 2022. It resulted in
the decrease in average discount rate that the Company received from the PRC
telecommunication operators, their distributors and other channels to 0.56% for 2022

from 0.63% for 2021.
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The Group monitored the extent of direct cost with the increasing volume of top-up
service provided during the Reporting Period. The commission fees charged by the PRC
banks and other channels for handling mobile top-up service requests via their electronic
systems decreased to approximately RMB10.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 from approximately RMBI 1.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, with
an increase in gross transaction value by approximately 6.86%. Moreover, the Group from
time to time sourced stable and price competitive top-up resources from its suppliers
during the Reporting Period. Such measures are aimed at maintaining the Group's

competitiveness within the mobile top-up industry.

In the second half of 2022, in order to reduce potential business risks that could be
brought along by challenges the Group faces in the mobile top-up industry and seek to
diversify its sources of income, the Group has gradually extended itself into operating
two new businesses, namely (i) the Dealership Business; and (i) the Telecommunication
Equipment Business through cooperating with its business peers, ie. the PRC domestic

telecommunication operators.

DEALERSHIP BUSINESS

On 15 September 2022, the Company entered into a strategic cooperation agreement
(the “Strategic Cooperation Agreement’) with ISP Global limited (“ISP Global) which
is valid from 15 September 2022 to |5 September 2025. With the help of ISP Global's
information resources in e-commerce and customer resources, the Group began to
participate in e-commerce business in China in September 2022. Leveraging on a
framework agreement entered into with a subsidiary of ISP Global, Daily Charge SZ, a
wholly foreign-owned enterprise of the Company, entered into wholesale dealership
agreements with certain authorized manufacturers of Philips, which enables Daily Charge
SZ to utilize self-operated flagship stores of ISP Global on the Jingdong Mall (SR ZR B 4)
platform to sell water solution, personal care, health and massage products within China.
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the gross transaction value of the Dealership

Business was approximately RMB48.5 million.
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Chairman’s Statement
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TELECOMMUNICATION EQUIPMENT BUSINESS

The Group has always maintained its competitiveness in the mobile top-up service industry
and with the cooperative relationships established with the PRC telecommunication
operators over the years. In 2022, the Group launched the Telecommunication Equipment
Business based on the needs of end customers of telecommunication operators in China.
Shenzhen NNK a domestic wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, purchased relevant
equipment and information technology services from the end supplier of the industry
according to the needs of the telecommunication operators and sold such products
to them. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the gross transaction value of the

Telecommunication Equipment Business was approximately RMB33.3 million.

The profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022
was approximately RMB27.3 million, as compared with profit attributable to owners of the

Company for the year ended 3| December 2021 of approximately RMB26.5 million.

OUTLOOK

Looking forward to 2023, with the significant relaxation of domestic epidemic prevention
policies by the Chinese government and the implementation of relevant normalization
measures, the domestic economy is expected to recover gradually. However, the
Directors expect that the costs of the mobile top-up business will continue to increase
and the competition will be increasingly keen, which may have a negative impact on the

Group's performance in 2023.

In order to reduce the impact and risks brought by the decline of the mobile top-
up business to the Group, management will from time to time seek opportunities for
potential mergers and acquisitions, business integration and/or expansion to maintain the

Group's competitiveness.
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In January 2023, the Group has started to cooperate with a renowned short video social
media platform in China to carry out digital marketing services for local living, thereby
enriching its business portfolio. Local living services focus on catering, hotel and tourism,
leisure and entertainment, tourist attractions and other service scenarios, and the industry
has plenty room for development. According to relevant data and the estimation of the
offline market size and online penetration rate of the sub-industries, the total market size
of the local living market in 2021 for in-store catering, in-store integrated and hotel and
tourism industries was approximately RMB968 billion, and will increase to RMBI,812.8
billion in 2025, with a CAGR of 17%. In which, the market size of in-store catering industry
is expected to reach RMB357.4 billion in 2025, the market size of the in-store integrated
industry is expected to reach RMB391.7 billion in 2025, and the market size of the hotel
and tourism industry is expected to reach RMBI1,063.7 billion in 2025. Compared with
2021, the number of merchants achieving sales on this local living service platform has
increased by 22 times and the overall transaction amount has increased by more than 30
times. The Group will place efforts in the growth of these business segments in the future

should they be able to positively contribute to the Group's long-term development.

At the same time, the Group will continue to evaluate and review the performance and
retums of the new business segments launched in 2022 and increase the investment in

these segments as and when appropriate.

IMPACT OF THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC
In 2022, despite the impact of the disturbance of COVID-19 pandemic and related
containment measures in certain cities of China, we still maintained a stable business

performance due to our market position and excellent technology platform.
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Chairman’s Statement
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The Group adopts a conservative policy in cash and financial management. To manage the
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and to minimize the finance risk, the Group's treasury
activities are centralized. The Group's liquidity and financing arrangements are reviewed
regularly by the Directors and the top executives. We will continue to strengthen refined
management, as well as cost savings and expense control brought about by economies of
scale, so as to mitigate any potential impact of the post COVID-19 pandemic era on our

business development.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere
gratitude to our staff and management team for their dedication and contribution in the
past year, as well as to our shareholders and business partners for their confidence and

support to the Group.

Huang Junmou

Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately RMB86.7
million, representing a decrease of approximately 4.3% as compared with approximately
RMB90.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The decrease in revenue was
primarily due to the overall decrease in mobile top-up requests via electronic banking
systems and the revenue from the mobile top-up services for the year ended 3|

December 2022 had decreased when compared with prior year.

Gross Transaction Value with Mobile Users

The gross transaction value with mobile users increased by approximately 5.78% to
approximately RMBI5,114.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 from
approximately RMB14,288.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The gross
transaction value via electronic banking systems increased by approximately 6.86%
to approximately RMB14,962.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 from
approximately RMB14,002.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The gross
transaction value through offline channels and other channels including third party
online platforms, the Group's own websites and WeChat public account decreased by
approximately 47% to approximately RMBI51.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 from approximately RMB285.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
increase in the gross transaction values via electronic banking systems was mainly caused
by enhanced cooperation with major PRC banks. The decrease in the gross transaction
values through offline channels and other channels was resulted from the suspension of
operation of physical stores due to the outbreak of COVID-19 and the streamline of the

downstream channels during the Reporting Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENRR DN

Gross Transaction Value with PRC Telecommunication Operators, their Distributors
and Other Channels

The average discount rate that the Company received from the PRC telecommunication
operators, their distributors and other channels decreased from approximately 0.63%
for the year ended 3| December 2021 to approximately 0.56% for the year ended 31
December 2022. The gross transaction value with the PRC telecommunication operators,
their distributors and other channels increased by approximately 5.78% for the year ended
31 December 2022 as compared to the year ended 31 December 2021, which was in

line with the increase in the gross transaction value with mobile users.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue decreased by approximately 6% to approximately RMBI3.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately RMB14.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021, primarily due to the effective cost control for the mobile top-

up services.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit decreased by approximately 4% to approximately RMB72.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately RMB75.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2021.

The Group's overall gross margin increased slightly to approximately 83.6% for the year
ended 31 December 2022 from approximately 83.4% for the year ended 3| December
2021.

Other Income and Expenses

Other income and expenses increased by approximately |1.5% to approximately RMB9.7
million for the year ended 3| December 2022 from approximately RMB8.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021. Such slight increase was primarily due to the increase in
interest income, net foreign exchange gain and the increase in government subsidy, offset

by the decrease in income on additional credit for the input value added tax (“VAT").
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Distribution and Selling Expenses

Distribution and selling expenses decreased by approximately 25% to approximately
RMB7.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately RMB9.9
million for the year ended 3| December 2021, primarily due to the decrease in sales

promotion expenses to bank customers.

Administration Expenses

Administration expenses decreased by approximately 3.2% to approximately RMB30.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately RMB31.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021, primarily due to the decrease in professional and

consultants' fees for business development and staff cost.

Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses decreased by approximately 5% to approximately
RMB7.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately RMB8.6

million for the year ended 3| December 2021, primarily due to the decrease in staff cost.

Finance Costs

Finance costs decreased by approximately 55.4% to approximately RMBI.| million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately RMB2.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2021, primarily due to the decrease in average bank borrowings and the

decrease in average borrowing rate.

Income Tax Expense

The Group's income tax expense significantly increased from approximately RMB5.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB8.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022, which was mainly due to the increase in PRC Enterprise

Income Tax.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENRR DN

Profit for the Year attributable to Owners of the Company

As a result of cumulative effects of foregoing, profit attributable to owners of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately RMB27.3 million,
as compared with profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 3|

December 2021 of approximately RMB26.5 million.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Company during 2022. The
capital of the Company consists of net debts, which includes bank borrowings, net cash
and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, retained profits and other reserves. The bank borrowings were all dominated
in Renminbi and were repayable within one year with fixed interest rate range from 4.2%
to 5.5%. The cash and cash equivalents were mainly dominated in Renminbi and Hong

Kong dollars. Certain financial data are summarized as follows:

ENRREE AEEERREFR

B ERMEENRATE  BE_T__F
TZAZT-HIEFEARAER AEIEE
FHARBIBEL  MBE-_T=_—F+
ZAZT—HEFEARARERE ARG
MAREUSEET

RBESRMBERARERERS
ARBNENEEN S - —FVEZH -
ARNFRNEADEERFR (RERTE
) RekALEEMFERALRERA
[E(L R (REDBIRA - REEMREHM
) - |ITEFIUAREE - YR —F
WIEE - BEFENT42%E55% e kR
PEBMEFEUARERABTE - ETH
BEEIMT

As at 31 December

R+=HA=+-—H

2022 2021

—E--F —ZT-—F

RMB’000 RMB000

AREFT ARETT

Bank balances and cash RITHEARRE S 96,217 32,520
Net current assets mEEEFE 259,394 241,403
Net cash used in operating activities RETHMAR S FE (33,503) (67,044
Net cash from (used in) financing activities MEZSME (A R %8 57,546 (3.851)

As at 31 December 2022, bank balances and cash of the Group was approximately
RMB96.2 million, as compared with approximately RMB32.5 million as at 31 December
2021. The Group reported net current assets of approximately RMB259.4 million as at 31
December 2022, as compared with approximately RMB24 1.4 million as at 31 December
2021. The Group's current ratio was approximately 2.1 as at 31 December 2022, as

compared with approximately 2.8 as at 31 December 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For the year ended 31 December 2022, net cash used in operating activities was
approximately RMB33.5 million, as compared with net cash used in operating activities
of approximately RMB67.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. For the
year ended 31 December 2022, net cash used in financing activities was approximately
RMB57.5 million, as compared with net cash from financing activities of approximately
RMB3.9 million for the year ended 3| December 2021. The decrease in net cash used in

operating activities was due to a decrease of advance payments to upstream suppliers.

The management reviews the funding requirement of the Group on a monthly basis to
fulfill the capital required for the operation of the mobile top up services and the new
businesses. As at 31 December 2022, the borrowings of the Group was approximately
RMBI150.0 million, as compared with approximately RMB50.0 million as at 31 December
2021. As at 31 December 2022, the total bank borrowings, being interest-bearing bank
borrowings which were dominated in Renminbi, carried interest rate at 4.2% to 5.5% (31
December 2021: fixed interest rate at 5.5%) per annum and were repayable within one

year.

Trade Receivables

Trade receivables mainly represent receivables from the PRC banks in relation to our
mobile top up service, the Telecommunication Equipment Business and the Dealership
Business with amounts of approximately RMB197.2 million, RMB29.0 million and RMB17.5
million respectively. Trade receivables from mobile top up service increased from
approximately RMB168.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately
RMBI197.2 million for the year ended 3| December 2022, primarily due to the increase in
transactions with longer credit period (about 30 to 45 days from invoice date) with Bank

of China, our major client.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MIEJE n-J-nHH& *ﬁ'

Trade receivables tumnover days (calculated by the average of the beginning and ending
balances of trade receivables of the year, divided by the gross transactions value with
mobile users for the year and multiplied by 366 days) for the year ended 31 December
2022 was 4.96 days (for the year ended 31 December 2021: 4.58 days). The Company
realised that the increase in transactions with longer credit period would require a much
closer monitoring of the settlement in order to ensure business tumnover. The Company
will continue to monitor the credit risk by ongoing review the settlement of customers,
and evaluate the credit limits annually accordingly to the track record and financial position
of the counterparties. The Group's trading terms with the customers of the two new
businesses, namely Dealership Business and Telecommunication Equipment Business, are
mainly on credit with credit periods ranging from three months to three years depending
on several factors including trade practice, the size of the contracts, credibility and
reputation of the customers. In order to manage the credit risks associated with trade
receivables with these customers effectively, credit limits of these customers are evaluated
periodically. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the senior management. An
impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date to measure expected credit

losses.

Gearing Ratio

As at 3| December 2022, the gearing ratio (calculated by dividing bank borrowings
by total equity as at the end of the year) of the Group increased to approximately
57.05% from approximately 21.2% as at 3| December 2021 due to the increase in bank

borrowings.

Capital Expenditures

For the year ended 3| December 2022, the Group had capital expenditure of
approximately RMB3.1 million, as compared with approximately RMBI.4 million for the
year ended 3| December 2021. The above expenditure was mainly attributable to the

increase in office renovation expenses.

Significant Investment

As at 3| December 2022, the Group did not have any significant investment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Capital Commitments

As at 3| December 2022, the Group did not have any material capital commitments.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group's reporting currency is in Renminbi to which the Group’s material transactions
are denominated. The net proceed from global offering are denominated in Hong Kong
Dollars, which exposed the Group to market risk arising from fluctuations in foreign
exchange rate. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group will monitor foreign exchange exposure closely

and consider the usage of hedging instruments when the need arises.

Charges on Assets
As at 31 December 2022, bank borrowings with amounts of RMB85.0 millions were

secured by certain of the Group's trade receivables (2021: nil).

Contingent Liabilities and Guarantees
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group did not have any significant contingent

liabilities, guarantees or any litigation.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS
There was no specific plan for material investments or capital assets as at 31 December

2022,

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS
During the Reporting Period, there was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,

associated companies and joint ventures by the Group.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM") will be held on Wednesday, 14
June 2023. Notice of the AGM will be published and despatched to the shareholders of

the Company ("Shareholders”) in due course.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MIEJE FI—J-FIHH& *ﬁ'

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the transfer books
and register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 9 June 2023 to
Wednesday, 14 June 2023, both dates inclusive, during which period no share transfers
can be registered. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, unregistered
holders of shares of the Company should ensure that all share transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company's branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 8 June 2023.

DIVIDEND
The Directors did not recommend payment or the declaration of final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 134 (31 December 2021: 109) full-time
employees. Total staff cost (including Directors’ remuneration) was approximately
RMB27.9 million for the year ended 3| December 2022, as compared with approximately
RMB25.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The Group believes that
employees are one of its most important assets and the Group strives to offer a
competitive remuneration to its employees. The Group has been recruiting and
promoting individuals based on merit and their development potentials. Remuneration
package offered to all employees including Directors is determined with reference to their
performance, qualifications, experience and the prevailing salary levels in the market. The
Group has been providing training opportunities for its employees in order to enhance

their qualifications and equip them with necessary skills.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Huang Junmou (E&), aged 56, is our chairman and has been an executive
Director of the Company since 18 June 2014. He is a founder of the Group and has
served as a director and chairman of the board of Shenzhen Niannianka Network
Technology Co., Ltd. (RYITTFFRBHERHL AR 2 F]) (“Shenzhen NNK”) since
its incorporation. He is responsible for overseeing the Group's overall strategic planning
and management. Mr. Huang has over |7 years of experience in information technology
related industries, including over |5 years of experience in the mobile top-up service
industry. Prior to founding Shenzhen NNK, he was the general manager of Shenzhen
Motivity Telecom Co, Ltd. (RYITTERE) S BB R 2 F)), a company primarily engaging
in the provision of information technology outsourcing services from June 2004 to May
2006, where he was responsible for business development. Mr. Huang was a shareholder
and a director of Shenzhen Honglingyu Industrial Limited Company from May 200
to May 2004, where he was responsible for strategic planning and management of the
company. Prior to that, Mr. Huang was a shareholder and worked as a supervisor for
Shenzhen Difulan Industrial Limited Company from May 1998 to May 2001, where he was
responsible for administrative and financial management. Mr. Huang was an employee of
the Shenzhen Post Office (AYIITTEE /B) from September 1988 to August 1992, and
an employee of Shenzhen Telecommunications Development Company (FIITTE(E
EEE N A)) from November 1992 to November 1995, Prior to that, Mr. Huang worked
for Shenzhen Fengsheng International Textile and Fashion Company (3|2 5% BB 2
AR AR A A]) from October 1986 to October 1988. Mr. Huang is a director of Fun
Charge Technology Limited (“Fun Charge Technology'), a substantial shareholder of the
Company.

Dr. Zhou Jinhuang (A€ H), aged 57, has been an executive Director of the Company
since 8 November 2022. Dr. Zhou graduated from PLA Information Engineering
University* (B2 IE {5 8 THEKZ) (currently known as the PLA Strategic Support Force
Information Engineering University* (< B % i KBS S R H0 5 8 TI2KE)) in 1987
and obtained a master’'s degree in economics from the School of Economics of Beijing
University (L RAZLEZSFT) in 1998 and a doctorate degree in economics from
Beijing Normal University (1t A& AER) in 2007. From March 2019 to October 2022,
Dr. Zhou was the general manager of the Information Technology Department of China
Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd. (PEIZEFEEETERMHBMRAF]) and the
chairman of Huarong Rongtong (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd* (ERbEE L R)EHEE
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEBEBREFE

B2 R]). From November 2016 to November 2018, Dr. Zhou worked as the chairman
of the board of directors of ||| Bill Exchange (FUREBRIZIER HH LRMHBRAF).
From May 2015 to November 2016, Dr. Zhou was the vice-president of Shanghai Huarui
Bank (/8 ZEIHERTT). From December 1998 to May 2015, Dr. Zhou successively served
as the secretary and the deputy director of the secretariat department of the general
office of the People’s Bank of China (B A R#R1T), the deputy director of the payment
and settlement department of the People’s Bank of China and the director of the general
office of the payment and settlement department of the People’s Bank of China. He has
over 25 years of experience in the field of banking and finance in the People's Republic
of China. From June 2016 to August 2019, Dr. Zhou served as an independent non-
executive director of China Smartpay Group Holdings Limited (P Bl & BIERE
PR 2 7]), a company listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock
code: 8325).

Mr. Guan Heng (B818), aged 42, has been appointed as an executive Director and
chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 2 November 2022. Mr. Guan
obtained a bachelor degree in telecommunication engineering from Beijing University
of Posts and Telecommunications (3L REFE AZ) in 2003, and a master of science
degree in telecommunications from Queen Mary University of London in 2004. Since
2015, Mr. Guan has been the managing partner, director and a member of the investment
committee of ChiFortune Venture Capital Co,, Ltd. (It RRIEHKREBIEFR D A).
From 2015 to 2022, Mr. Guan was the chief operating officer of Beijing Inspiry Technology
Co, ltd. Jt REFHFEIRHEB R 2 7)) and co-founder and director of Beijing Payment
Union Technology Co., Ltd. (At Ik BB EBEHE AR 2 A]). From 2014 to 2015, Mr.
Guan was the general manager of the Internet Car Business Division of Autopia (Beijing)
Mobile Tech Co., Ltd* (BFEE (L) BERLAR R F]). From 2008 to 2014, Mr.
Guan consecutively served as the project manager and research and development
department manager of Sony Ericsson Mobile Communications Inc. and Sony Mobile
China Ltd. From 2005 to 2008, he worked as the R&D engineer in the Beijing Research
and Development Centre of Nortel Networks Inc. of Canada (M2 At B 7

AL, He has accumulated over |7 years of experience in telecommunication industry.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Fan Weiguo (SEfEH), aged 59, was first appointed to our Board as a non-executive
Director on 28 October 2021 and his term of appointment ended on |0 February 2022.
He was re-appointed as a non-executive Director on 17 March 2022. He is currently
the president of Shenzhen City Commodity Exchange Market Federation* (&YI|T 7
MR ZTIZHAE). He served as the assistant to president, senior reporter and vice
general manager of Economic Herald (& /B #R) from 1992 to 2008. Mr. Fan was the
special assistant to the chairman of the board of China Resource And Transportation
Group Limited (FEIE R AEE AR F]), a company listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange™) (stock code: 0269),
from 2009 to 2010. Between May 2011 and March 2013, he also held two positions at
North Mining Shares Company Limited (3t 772 AR 2 7)), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0433), including the positions of executive
director between May 2011 and May 2012, and non-executive director between May
2012 and March 2013. Mr. Fan was the executive director of Global Strategic Group
Limited CRIREXBE B BRAT]), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8007), from 2014 to 2016. He was also the vice chairman of the
board of Universal Television (3R¥X&18 &) from 2016 to 2019.

Mr. Fan graduated from International East-West University of United States of America
with a master degree of business and administration. He is also a senior economists
and senior planner qualified by the Ministry of Labor and Social Security of the People’s
Republic of China.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEBEBREFE

Mr. Yu Zida (% F), aged 58, has been a non-executive Director of the Company since
18 June 2014. He is responsible for overseeing the strategic development of our Group.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Yu has served as the president of Shenzhen Sinomaster
Investment Group Co,, Ltd. (RIITT1& /1B E KB B R 2 F]) since September 2013,
He has served as director of T&S Communications Co., Ltd. (RYIKR K BIERHER
72 7A]) since March 2014, a company Listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock code:
300570). Since 20 March 2015, he has been served as a director of Shenzhen Aisidi Co.,
Ltd. CRINTE @A 1D AR A A]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(Stock code: 002416). From April 2016 to March 2019, he has been served as a director
of Shanghai Kuwu Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. (/8BS EEEEE RN ER
72 7]), a company listed on New OTC Market.

Mr. Yu was a deputy director of the end user committee of the China National
Accreditation Service for Conformity Assessment (FBIS 18T E IR R A & B 2 HiL
FAFPZEE) from November 2007 to August 2013, He was recognized as a National
Young and Middle-aged Expert with Outstanding Contributions (FFEI# & F A %
BREIER) by the State Council of the PRC in 1999 for his contribution to engineering
services. Mr. Yu was awarded certificates for High-Level Professional in Shenzhen in
November 2013 and April 2019 for each of terms of five years, where he was recognized
as a national-level talent by the Human Resources and Social Security Administration
of Shenzhen Municipality (FYITT A N ERFIH 2IRIED). He served as an assistant
vice president and Head of the Headquarter Research and Development Promotion
Department (T H#EEANER) of the Haier Group (BF5[E) started from February
2002. From October 2003, he served as a vice president and the head of the information
technology products department, from April 2005 he served as a vice president and head
of the company's strategy department, from December 2009, he served as senior vice
president and chief technology officer, and from April 2010 to September 2013 he served
as executive vice president and Chief Technology Officer of the Haier Group. He also
served as a director of Qingdao Haier Co. Ltd. (F&/8MIRHER A F), a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600690), from June 2010 to April
2013.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Yu received a bachelor's degree in power engineering from Huazhong University
of Science and Technology (EEFRHXAZ) (formerly known as Huazhong College of
Engineering (3H TEFx)) in July 1985. He further obtained a master's degree in power
engineering from Huazhong University of Science and Technology ((EFBHE A E2)
(formerly known as Huazhong Polytechnic University (EFR 32 T KX22)) in July 1988,

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lin Zhangxi (PRE ), aged 71, was appointed to our Board as an independent
non-executive Director on 25 November 2014. He has over 26 years of experience in
the information systems industry. He has held multiple research and teaching positions,
including tenured professorship and the co-director of the Center for Advanced Analytics
and Business Intelligence of Texas Tech University from 2007 to May 2018, and Emeritus
Professor of Texas Tech University since February 2019, the dean of Yunshang Silk Road
Big Data Industry Research Institute, Korla Economic & Technological Development
Zone (ERENEERMAZRE L HME BABUIREZHPT) from August 2016
to January 2018 representing Xihua University (8% K22 at Sichuan, the director of
the Sichuan Province Finance Intelligence and Engineering Key laboratory (P9)I|4& &
MEZHSMTIEEHERE) from May 2008 to December 2015, the director of
Fujian Engineering School Next Generation Internet Research Center (f812 T12Zft
T—REBERMEBHFIEEZER L) from 2004 to 2010, adjunct professor of the
Fujian Engineering School since June 2004, a professor of Tongji University (Bl AE2)
since October 1995. He headed the provincial pilot of international payment balance
information management system, a program of the 7th Five-Year Programs for Science
and Technology Development of China of the National Development and Reform
Committee during 1988 to 1992. He was a deputy supervisor at the Fujian Province
Economic Information Centre (f82%& & E{5 27 1) from November 1987 to July
1992 and a senior engineer at the Fujian Provincial Planning Committee Computer Centre

(BEETEIZBGEFAEH L) from November 1983 to October 1987.
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Mr. Lin received a master of engineering degree from Tsinghua University (/5% K£2) in
June 1982, He further received a master of science degree in economics in December
1996 and a doctor of philosophy degree in December 1999 from the University of Texas
at Austin. He is a member of several key industry organizations, including the Institute
of Electrical and Electronics Engineer, the Institute for Operations Research and the

Management Sciences and Association for Information Systems.

Mr. Qian Haomin (82 %), aged 46, was appointed to our Board as an independent
non-executive Director on 25 November 2014. He has extensive experience in brand
strategy and operations and participated in the establishment of CSJ-SBI Financial Media
Co, Ltd, a joint venture between China Securities Journal and SBI Group in January 201 1.
He currently serves as a director, general manager of CSJ-SBI Financial Media Co., Ltd. He
joined China Securities Journal (FF BIZ& % %R) in June 2001 and had held various positions
including reporter, director of the career development department and assistant to the
chief editor and assistant to the journal president. Prior to joining China Securities Journal,
he worked as an assistant researcher at the International Information Research Agency of
the National Information Centre (BIZ {58 24 /0 BIFRE B AFFEFT) from August 1998 to
June 2001. He was a member of the drafting committee of the “Interpretation of Securities
Law” of The National People's Congress Securities Law Amendment Drafting Group (&
B ARE B SRE/ NMECE R ERE ) HFERA) and the drafting committee of the
2005 and 2006 editions of “China Trust Company Operation Report” by China Renmin
University Trust Fund Research Institute (B A R R 25 5L EIE S FFFEFT2005 %2006
FE(FHAGTEARGEELE)REZE). In addition, Mr. Qian joined China Securities
Jinniu (Beijing) Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. (P4 (It ) IREZABRAF)
in March 2012 and resigned as the chairman of the board of directors the company on
30 September 2022. Mr. Qian is qualified as a fund practitioner of the Asset Management
Association of China (P EIEFIREES KW E), and he was recruited in July 2017 as
the researcher at the Institute of Finance and Accounting in Wuhan University (/% A £

ISR T

Mr. Qian received a bachelor's degree in economics from Peking University (At L RE) in
July 1998.
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Ms. Zhao Jinlin (B &), aged 54, was appointed to our Board as an independent non-
executive Director on 25 November 2014. She is a professor in the School of Economics
of Shenzhen University, which she joined in June 2006. Ms. Zhao is a committee member
of China International Taxation Research Institute. She was an independent non-executive
director of Shirble Department Store Holdings (China) Limited (538 B S5 (T B A
fR 2 R]), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0312)
between June 2010 and April 2019, an independent non-executive director of Shenzhen
Infinova Technology Co,, Ltd. (RIIERAREAMNER A
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002528) between January 2014 and February

Al), a company listed on

2019, and an independent non-executive director of Shenzhen Esun Display Co., Ltd (%%
YImBRERERA
code: 002751) between March 2016 and March 2019.

Al), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock

Ms. Zhao has been appointed as an independent director of Shenzhen Inovance
Technology Co, Ltd. (RINTEE) AR HDBRA
Stock Exchange (stock code: 300124), with effect from 24 May 2021, an independent
director of Shahe Industrial Co,, Ltd. (2 EERHER R
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000014), with effect from 22 April 2021, an

BESRMNAERA
@) a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 14 February 2023 (stock code:

al), a company listed on Shenzhen
7)), a company listed on
independent director of Emdoor Information Co., Ltd. (I &3
001314), with effect from |5 January 2021, and an independent non-executive director of
X Technology Group Limited (ZHRHE EBBR R

Board of the Stock Exchange on 24 November 2022 (stock code: 02436), with effect
from 27 September 2022.

), a company listed on the Main

Ms. Zhao received a bachelor's degree in welding from the Xi'an Jiaotong University (Fa%
BAEY in July 1989, a master's degree in accounting from Southwestern University of
Finance and Economics (78R8 EA4EAE) in June 1995 and a doctor of philosophy degree
in accounting from Jinan University (ZE A Z2) in January 2005,
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Save as disclosed above,

(1) the Directors did not hold any directorship in other listed public companies of
which the securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas
in the last three years prior to the date of this report and does not hold any other

positions with the Company or other members of the Group; and

(2)  the Directors do not have other relationship with any other Directors, senior

management, substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Lu (ZF8), aged 61, is the assistant general manager of Shenzhen NNK. He joined
the company since 29 October 202 1. He has over 4| years of management experience in
the finance industry, and is proficient in the banking and electronic payment sectors. Mr. Li
was the vice president of YINSHENG Technology Service Group Limited (#RES%H ik
EBBRAE]) from 2009 to 2021, and served as the president of YINSHENG E-PAY
Service Company Limited ($RE&% fHARIRID AR 2 F]) from 2010 to 2017. Mr. Li
was the director of risk management of Tenpay Technology Company Limited (8138
BHE AR A F]) from 2006 to 2007. Mr. Li is also experienced in the banking industry by
serving as the assistant general manager of Shenzhen city branch of ICBC (1 B T &#R7T7)
from 1987 to 2006 and the senior chief of Qingdao city branch of ICBC (Bl Lk
77) from 1979 to 1987. He graduated from the University of Tian Jin (KZAZ) in 1978

with a master degree of management science and engineering.

Mr. Hung Hing Hung (BtEE4L), aged 41, is the Chief Financial Officer and Joint Company
Secretary of the Company. Mr. Hung joined the Company in November 2021. He has
over |6 years of experience in the field of auditing, accounting and finance. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Hung held senior positions in different organisations, including in an
interational accounting firm and various public and private companies in Hong Kong. Mr.
Hung is responsible for the financial management and company secretarial matters of the

Group.

Mr. Hung graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and obtained a bachelor's
degree in Business Administration (Professional Accountancy) in 2006. He is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant.

24 NNK Group Limited Annual Report 2022

BRI EXCREESD -

() ZEFEERAFEAYIBE=FLE
EEBFNEBIBIMEMESFNS
LTHMEMARARFETENES
B ERAAR A EEE MK
BRAETEMEMBEL - &

2 HFESHEARRAEMEGLES -
RRERAR - TERRIEBRER
BEAMEER

SREEE

ERRE 615 BRIFEFREGBLE -
WA—E-_—F+A-t+ABMALRRT -
WESBITERAR4I FEELR  TRE
ROIRBFINES - TERER_TTNEF
ET-FEARBNEREEEERA
AINEIER YR _T-—ZTFE-_T—+F
EERBEINRBEROEBRARNER - F
TER_ET EEZ_ZTTLFEAVNE
BEARRARNRBRERBE - ZEETA
BROIELR RN/ \EFEZZTERX

EEPRIFRITRIITATEIBEE &
R—NENFE-ANEFEERBE IR
TEBEMATRREE - FR—NEN\FE
ERKEARE REEEMNESETIZELS

fi o

REWEE 4158  ARRIEREWBEE RS
BARWE - MEER-T=-—F+—AM
ARRA] « BREZ - Bt RBERSAE
6F LA L4858 o IMARRDRIR - HEELHE
ErFEEE (RRERSAMESMLEES
RARMLARE) RRBL - HEEEFE
AEBNBEERARMESH -

ARER_TERNFEENBETXASE
BIRERE (X85 B8 - RATE

=]
SREIAGEREE -



Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the Company for the

year ended 31 December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

[t is the belief of the Board that good corporate governance plays a vital part in
maintaining the success of the Company. The Company is committed to achieve and
maintain high standards of corporate governance practices to ensure greater corporate
performance accountability and transparency, and safeguard the interests of shareholders

of the Company (the “Shareholders").

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has complied with all the applicable
Code Provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code") in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The Board will continue to review and enhance its
corporate governance practice of the Company to ensure compliance with the CG Code

and align with the latest developments.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its
code of conduct regarding Director’s securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry
to all Directors, all the Directors have confirmed that they complied with the required

standard set out in the Model Code during the year ended 3| December 2022.

THE BOARD

Corporate strategy

The strategy of the Group is to deliver sustainable returns with solid financial fundamentals,
so as to enhance total long-term return for Shareholders. Please refer to the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual
report for discussions and analyses of the performance of the Group, how the Group
generates and preserves value over the longer term and how the Group will execute its

strategy for delivering the business objectives of the Group.
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Board Composition
The Board currently comprises eight Directors, including three executive Directors, two

non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

The composition of the Board for the year ended 3| December 2022 and up to the date

of this annual report is as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. HUANG Junmou (Chairman)
Dr. ZHOU Jinhuang (appointed on 8 November 2022)

Mr. GUAN Heng (Chief Executive Officer) (appointed on 2 November 2022)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. FAN Weiguo (appointed on 28 October 2021, term of appointment ended on
10 February 2022 and re-appointed on 17 March 2022)

Mr. YU Zida

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. LIN Zhangxi

Mr. QIAN Haomin

Ms. ZHAQ Jinlin

The biographical details of the Directors and the relationships among the board members
and the senior management are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages |7 to 24 of this annual report. Details
regarding the term of appointment of the non-executive Directors are set out in the
section headed “Directors’ Service Contracts and Letters of Appointment” on page 77 in

this annual report.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer of a listed company should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. Mr. Li Lu was the CEO of Shenzhen NNK| the main subsidiary of the
Company, from January 2022 to November 2022. He was responsible for the Group's
day-to-day management, operations and business development in the PRC during that
period. The original responsibilities of Mr. Li Lu had been delegated to Mr. Guan Heng, an
executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company, who was appointed on 2
November 2022. In accordance with Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, during the
year ended 3| December 2022, the roles of the chairman (the “Chairman”) and CEO are
separately performed by (i) Mr. Huang Junmou and (i) Mr. Li Lu (until | November 2022)
and Mr. Guan Heng (since 2 November 2022), and the division of their responsibilities is
clearly established and set out in writing in order to ensure a clear distinction between the

responsibilities of the Chairman and CEO.

Mr. Huang Junmou is the Chairman of the Board and primarily responsible for providing
leadership to the Board and overseeing the Group's overall strategic planning and
management. The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning of the Board in accordance with good corporate governance practices. With
the support of the company secretaries of the Company, the Chairman is also responsible
for ensuring that the Directors receive, in a timely manner, adequate information, which
must be accurate, clear, complete and reliable, and appropriate briefing on issues arising
at Board meetings, and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in
a timely manner. The Chairman encourages all Directors, including the independent non-
executive Directors to actively participate in all board and committee meetings. Mr. Huang
is a founder of the Group and has over |7 years of experience in information technology
related industries, including over |5 years of experience in the mobile top-up service

industry.

Mr. Guan Heng is the CEO of the Company. He is responsible for the Group's day-
to-day management, operations and business development in the PRC. Mr. Guan has

accumulated over |7 years of experience in telecommunication industry.
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Independent non-executive Directors

During the year ended 3| December 2022, the Board at all times met the requirements
of Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive Directors representing one-third of the Board with
one of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related

financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the independent
non-executive Directors in respect of his/her independence in accordance with the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with the

independence guidelines as set out under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and oversees the
Group's businesses, strategic decisions and performance and is collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The
Directors take decisions objectively in the interests of the Company. The Board has
delegated to the CEO, and through him, to the senior management the authority and
responsibility for the day-to-day management and operation of the Group. In addition, the
Board has established board committees (the “Board Committees”) and has delegated
to these Board Committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms
of reference. Further details of these committees are set out in section headed “Board

Committees” in this annual report.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy matters, strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk management, material transactions (in particular
those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of Directors
and other significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating to
implementing decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and

management of the Company are delegated to the management.
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All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and

professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

All Directors have access to all the information of the Company as well as the services
and advice of the company secretary and senior management. The Directors may, upon
request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the

Company's expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and in the interest of the Company and the Shareholders

at all times.

The CG Code requires directors to disclose the number and nature of offices held in
public companies or organizations and other significant commitments as well as their
identity and the time involved to the issuer. Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments to the Company in a timely manner and the Board regularly reviews
the contribution required from each Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the

Company.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ liabilities in

respect of legal actions against its Directors.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board revised and adopted a board diversity policy on 30 March 2022 which set
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company considered diversity
of board members can be achieved through consideration of a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualification, skills, knowledge and industry and length of service. The Company aims to
maintain an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board that are relevant
to the Company's business growth. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the

benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
qualification, skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be made

upon the merits and the contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) will review
the board diversity policy, as annually appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of this
policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and

recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises of eight Directors, covering
different genders and has a broad age distribution and a diverse mix of background,
knowledge and skills. The Nomination Committee considers that, appropriate balance has

been stricken among the Board members in terms of skills, experience and perspectives.

Gender Diversity

Board Composition

The Board believes that gender diversity is a manifestation of board diversity, among
all other measurable objectives. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board
comprises seven male directors and one female director. The Company will continue to
apply the principle of appointments based on merits with reference to the Board Diversity

Policy as a whole.
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The Group recognises the importance of diversity and has a diverse workforce in terms
of gender, providing a variety of ideas and levels of competency that contribute to
the Group's success. In the hiring process, the Group takes into account a number of
measurable factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional specialisation, experience, skills, knowledge and other
qualifications. Appointment of candidates is solely based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regards for the benefits of diversity
on the Group. As of 3| December 2022, the gender ratio of the Group's workforce is
43% male and 57% female. Overall, the Board considers the recruitment strategy adopted

by the Group is effective and adequate.

BOARD MEETINGS

Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are normally made available
to Directors in advance. The Board meets at least four times per year at approximately
quarterly intervals in accordance with Code Provision C5.1 of the CG Code. Notice
of not less than 14 days would be given for all regular board meetings to provide all
Directors with an opportunity to attend pursuant to Code Provision C.5.3 of the CG

Code and include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other board and committee meetings, reasonable notice would be given. Board papers
together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent to all Directors
at least three days before each board meeting or committee meeting to keep Directors
have sufficient time to review the papers and be adequately prepared for the meetings. All
Directors can access to the senior management and the joint company secretaries of the
Company at all time and upon reasonable request seek independent professional advice

at the Company's expense.

Minutes of the meetings are kept properly with copies circulated to all Directors for
information and record. Minutes of the board meetings and committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail of the matters considered by the Board and the committees
and the decisions reached, including any concems raised by the Directors. Draft minutes
of each board meeting and committee meeting are sent to the Directors for comments
within a reasonable time after the date on which meeting is held. The minutes of the

board meetings are available for inspection by Directors.
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The articles of association of the Company (“Articles”) contain provisions requiring ARRABERAA(TARD HAKRX
Directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for ~ REEEBRIEZEEE IR ENEM B
approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a material BATHAERNGHNRHNAE FRER

interest. Z AT ABHEENETEAY -
ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS EERZEEREHERR

The attendance record of each Director at the Board, Board Committees meetings and HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFEAXR
general meetings of the Company held during the year ended 31 December 2022 is set RREFLRESS ESZE98RLR
out in the table below: RASWLHIANTE

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HE/ g8RY
Annual/
Board  Nomination Remuneration Audit  Extraordinary
Name of Director Meeting ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee General Meeting
R¥EE/
£33 EzE83 R7ZEE HMZEe ENZEe VN
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. HUANG Junmou %ﬁ%?%ﬁ 44 Il I NANER 3
Dr. ZHOU Jinhuang (anpointed on 8 November 2022)  B& & BT (R=F=—471—F/| HEZ() 00  NATER NATER NATER 00
Mr. GUAN Heng (appointed on 2 November 2022) Féﬁ rﬂﬂ(ﬂ: Eo - FEER) 00 NATER NATER NATER 00
Non-executive Directors FonES
Mr. Fan Weiguo (appointed on 28 October 202, EEEEE(R-2--4TA-T\REZ 44 NARER  NATER  NATER 33
term of appointment enced on 10 February 022and - - EERZFZZE - ATRLR - TR
re-appointed on 17 March 2022) “ECCE-RTLREENER)
Mr. YU Zida WELE 44 NATER  NATER  NAMER 33
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. QAN Haornin BRREE 4/4 Il NATMER n 33
Mr. LN Zhangs WERRE 44 NIATER I/ 0 3B
Ms. ZHAO Jinlin BEMTL 44 I/ I 0N 33

Apart from the annual general meeting, the Company held two extraordinary general BRERRBFAGIN  RRARHE_T__F

meetings during the year ended 3| December 2022. TZA=+—BLEFERITRRRRERERIAR
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Code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code stipulates that the chairman should at least
annually hold meetings with the non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) without the executive directors present. For the year ended 31
December 2022, the Chairman met with the non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors without other executive Directors present to understand their

concerns and to discuss pertinent issues.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS
Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as Directors of the Company and of the conduct,

business activities and development of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal, comprehensive and tailored induction
on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of director's responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction
shall be supplemented by visits to the Company's offices and meetings with senior

management of the Company.

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4 of CG Code, Directors should participate in appropriate
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. Internally-
facilitated briefings for Directors will be arranged and reading material on relevant topics
will be issued to Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company's expenses. According to the records of the
Company, in 2022, all Directors attended training sessions on duties and obligations
of directors of companies listed on the Stock Exchange which was conducted by the

Company's legal adviser as to Hong Kong laws.
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PDeaipa

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the key methods of attaining continuous

professional development by each of the Directors are summarised as follows:

HE-ZT -~

FT-A=1T-HLHE &
EREGHEEXEROTENEMANT :

Attending Reading
courses/ regulatory
Name of Directors seminars materials
HERE MEEE
EEpE e REEHR
Executive Directors iTES
Mr. HUANG Junmou BRHAE v v
Dr. ZHOU Jinhuang (appointed on 8 November 2022) A& &H L (R=FE=-—F+—H/\HEZ(F) y y
Mr. GUAN Heng (appointed on 2 November 2022) FBEE (R-E-—F1+—H_HEZF) V y
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. FAN Weiguo (appointed on 28 October 2021, SBEBEE (RCE-—F1TH-1/|HEZE
term of appointment ended on 10 February 2022 AR -E__F_F1H&% R
and re-appointed on 7 March 2022) ZE_—F=HA1HEEFEL) \ V
Mr. YU Zida BFELE v V
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. QIAN Haomin BRR%E v V
Mr. LIN Zhangxi WERLE V y
Ms. ZHAO Jinlin BEMLL \ V
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Code Provision B.2.2 of the CG Code states that all directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy shall be subject to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment and that every director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be

subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company
and is appointed for a specific term of three years unless terminated by not less than three

months’ notice in writing served by either the executive Director or the Company.

Each of the non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors has
entered into a service contract/signed an appointment letter with the Company and is

appointed for a specific term of three years.

All appointments of Directors are subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of
Directors under the Articles. In accordance with the Articles, all Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any new Director appointed
to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that

meeting.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are
laid down in the Articles. The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
Board composition, developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination
and appointment of Directors, monitoring the appointment and succession planning of

Directors and assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and
the Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's affairs.
All Board Committees of the Company are established with defined written terms of
reference. The terms of reference of the Board Committees are posted on the Stock

Exchange’s website and Company's website.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and paragraph D.3 of the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among other things, to review and supervise
the financial reporting process, risk management and internal control system of the Group,
oversee the audit process and select external auditors and assess their independence and

qualifications.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms.
Zhao Jinlin, Mr. Lin Zhangxi and Mr. Qian Haomin. Ms. Zhao Jinlin is the chairlady of the
Audit Committee and she is the Company's independent non-executive Director with the

appropriate professional qualifications.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 December 2022 to
review the annual financial results and report in respect of the year ended 31 December
2021 and interim financial results and report for the six months ended 30 June 2022 as
well as significant issues on the financial reporting and compliance procedures, internal
control and risk management systems, and the effectiveness of the Company's internal

audit function.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference
in compliance with the CG Code and the roles and the responsibilities delegated to
the Remuneration Committee by the Board. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are, among other things, to establish, review and make recommendation to
the Board on the remuneration policy and remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management; and to establish transparent procedures for developing
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/her

associates will participate in deciding his’/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent non-executive Directors,
being Ms. Zhao Jinlin and Mr. Lin Zhangxi and one executive Director, being Mr. Huang

Junmou. Mr. Lin Zhangxi is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee held a meetings on 30 March 2022 to review the
remuneration package of the Directors and senior management, the remuneration policy

and remuneration structure of the Company.

The Board adopted a revised remuneration policy in December 2022.The primary goal
of the Group's remuneration policy for executive Directors is to enable the Company
to retain, provide incentive and reflect their individual performance by a reasonable
remuneration package. The remuneration package includes basic salary, performance
and/or discretional bonus, participation in the share option scheme (the “Scheme”) and
other benefits. Remuneration of the non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors mainly includes the director’s fee which is a matter for the Board to
decide by reference to the duties and responsibilities of the non-executive Directors and

independent non-executive Directors and their participation in the Scheme.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee with written terms of reference
in compliance with the requirements of the CG Code and the role and responsibilities
delegated to the Nomination Committee by the Board. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are, among other things, to make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment and removal of Directors and evaluate the structure and composition
of the Board. In the nomination procedures, the Nomination Committee makes reference
to criteria including reputation of candidate for integrity, accomplishment, experience,

professional and educational backgrounds.

The Nomination Committee comprises two independent non-executive Directors, being
Ms. Zhao Jinlin and Mr. Qian Haomin and one executive Director, being Mr. Huang

Junmou. Mr. Huang Junmou is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee held a meeting on 30 March 2022 to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board, assessed the independence of independent non-
executive Directors to determine their eligibility and discussed the re-appointment of

directors and succession planning for directors.

The Board adopted a nomination policy in March 2019. This policy aims to set out the
approach to guide the Nomination Committee in relation to the selection, appointment
and re-appointment of Directors, and to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience, knowledge and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of

the Company's business.
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The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and recommend candidate(s) for
directorships to the Board by giving due consideration to criteria including but not limited

to (collectively, the “Criteria"):

(a)  Diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational

background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

(b)  Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of available time and

relevant interest;

() Qualifications, including accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries

the Company's business is involved in;

(d)  Compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the

Listing Rules for the appointment of an independent non-executive Director;

(e)  Reputation for integrity;

(f)  Potential contributions that the individual(s) can bring to the Board; and

(g)  Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend retiring Director(s) to the
Board for re-appointment by giving due consideration to the criteria including but not

limited to:

(@)  The overall contribution and service of the retiring Director(s) to the Company,
including but not limited to the attendance of the meetings of the Board and/or
its committees and general meetings where applicable, in addition to the level of

participation and performance on the Board and/or its committees; and

(b)  whether the retiring Director(s) continue(s) to satisfy the Criteria.

In order to ensure independent views and input are available to the Board, the Company
has formalised and adopted written terms on the division of functions reserved to the
Board and those delegated to the management. The Board reserves for its decision on all
major matters of the Group, including the approval and monitoring of all policy matters,
overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of directors and other significant financial and operational matters. All
Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as the advice and
services of the company secretary and senior management of the Company, with a view
to ensuring compliance with Board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations. Any
Director may request independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at
the Company's expense, upon reasonable request being made to the Board. The Board
annually reviewed such mechanism and concluded that the mechanism was effective for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties including:

. to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on corporate
governance;
. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of

Directors and senior management;
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. to review and monitor the Company's policies and practices on compliance with

legal and regulatory requirements;

. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to employees and
Directors; and
. to review the Company’s compliance with CG Code and disclosure in the

corporate governance report in the annual report of the Company.

The Board has performed the above corporate governance duties during the year ended

3| December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Directors also acknowledge
their responsibility to ensure that the financial statements of the Group are published in a

timely manner.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible for
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no

realistic alternative but to do so.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the Consolidated Financial Statements is set out in the Independent

Auditor’s Report on pages |15 to 120 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the year ended 3| December 2022, the Board conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group, including
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and

budget of the Group's accounting, internal audit and financial reporting function.
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The Board is responsible for overseeing the risk management and internal control system
of the Group and review their effectiveness at least once a year. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss. A defined management structure with specified limits of authority and
responsibilities is developed for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition,
maintaining proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for

internal use or for publications, and complying with applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Company's risks are identified from operations in its established enterprise-wide
risk assessment methodologies. The Company periodically reviews each position of the
operating departments and other functional departments to identify, analyse and evaluate
the risks. The risk assessment results and the proposed internal control measures are
submitted to the Directors and senior management of the Company for review and
approval. The Directors and senior management of the Company are also responsible for
supervising the effectiveness of implementation and future execution of the risk control

measurement.

The Company has an internal audit function to carry out the analysis and independent
appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's risk management and
internal control systems. The results of the internal audit and review are reported to
the executive Directors and the Audit Committee. The Group has engaged Zhonghui
Anda Risk Services Limited (“Zhonghui Anda") to conduct a review on the effectiveness
of the major cycles of the Group's internal control system for the year ended 3|
December 2022. Such review covered material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls and it did not reveal any significant defects. Zhonghui Anda
has reported major findings and areas for improvement to the Audit Committee. The
Audit Committee has reviewed the Group's internal audit function and is satisfied with its
adequacy and effectiveness for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Audit Committee
also reported the risk management assessment conducted by Zhonghui Anda to the
Board in the Board meeting held on 31 March 2023.
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Relevant recommendations made by Zhonghui Anda have been properly followed up by

the Group to further enhance its internal control policies, procedures and practices.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems, and considered
the risk management and interal control systems are effective and adequate in all material

aspects in both design and operations.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditors of the Company in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to
approximately RMB2.0 million and RMB0.49 million respectively. Non-audit services
performed by the exteral auditors included review of the Group's interim results, agreed
upon procedures in connection with the Group's connected transactions and preliminary

announcement of 2022 final results.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Hung Hing Hung and Ms. Wong Wai Ling are the joint company secretaries of the
Company. Ms. Wong Wai Ling is a vice president of a corporate services provider, SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, and assists Mr. Hung Hing Hung in
company secretarial affairs. The primary corporate contact person of Ms. Wong Wai Ling

at the Company is Mr. Hung Hing Hung.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. Hung Hing Hung and Ms. Wong Wai Ling
have undertaken not less than |15 hours of relevant professional training respectively in

compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for formulating policies
on remuneration of Directors and senior management of the Group. Details of the
remuneration of each of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out

in note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of this annual report.

The senior management's (including the executive Director) remuneration for the year

EEREREEBNITMH
ARFERHEAREEERSREEEH
MBI EAERANEF  -BE-FTZ
“E+ZAZTHUEFE  REENHH
HBERAF RS M BIMAME2 -

BE-Z-__Ft-_A=t-HLFESHK

ended 31 December 2022 is within the following bands: EEE(BEHTES) NTMERN Ty
& :
Number of
Remuneration bands individuals
FHEE A
Nil to RMBI,000,000 Tz AR 1,0000007T 4

RMB,500,001 to RMB2,000,000

AR ¥ 1,500,001 702 A K #2,000,0007T I

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS/INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company and the Board believe that effective communication with Shareholders
and other investment community is essential for enhancing investor understanding of the
Group's business performance and strategies, improving the level of corporate governance
transparency and strategic credibility. The Company's objectives on investor relations
are to maintain strong contacts with investors, to provide them with accurate and timely
information and to listen to Shareholders' suggestions and concerns, and answer raised

questions sincerely.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in
particular, through annual general meetings and other general meetings. The Chairman,
non-executive Director, independent non-executive Directors, and the chairmen and the
chairlady of all Board Committees (or their delegates) will make themselves available at

general meetings to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The 2023 annual general meeting (“AGM") of the Company will be held on Wednesday,
14 June 2023.
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To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website at
www.nnk.com.hk, where up-to-date information and updates on the Company's business
operations and development, financial information, corporate governance practices and

other information are available for public access.

The Company and the Board value the views and the inputs of Shareholders and
investors. The Company welcomes suggestions from investors and Shareholders in
relation to the development of the Company to the Company's investor relations team

via email or telephone.

After reviewing the implementation and effectiveness of the Group's Shareholder
communication policy including steps taken at the annual general meeting and other
general meetings, and the handling of queries received (if any) which were conducted
during the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board was of the view that the Group's

Shareholder communication policy remained effective and adequate.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy, which aims to set out the
principles and guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation to the declaration,
payment or distribution of its profits, as dividends to the Shareholders. According to the
dividend policy, the Board shall take into account the following factors of the Group when

considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

. operation requirements;

. eamings;

. financial condition;

. capital requirements; and

. any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions are proposed at
Shareholder's meeting on each substantial issue at general meetings, including the election

of individual Directors.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to article 12.3 of the Articles, general meeting shall be convened on the written
requisition of any two or more Shareholders deposited at the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong at 40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre, No. 248 Queen's
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong or, in the event that the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by
the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. General meetings may also be
convened on the written requisition of any one Shareholder which is a recognised clearing
house (or its nominee(s)) deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong,
or in the event that the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist, provided that
such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further 21 days,
the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more than one-half of the
total voting rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner,
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided
that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expensed incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the

Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as a Director

Pursuant to article 16.4 of the Articles, no person shall, unless recommended by the
Board, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general meeting unless
during the period, which shall be at least seven days, commencing no earlier than the day
after the despatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and ending
no later than seven days prior to the date of such meeting, there has been given to the
company secretary notice in writing by a member of the Company (not being the person
to be proposed), entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given,
of his/her intention to propose such person for election and also notice in writing signed

by the person to be proposed of his/her willingness to be elected.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles or Cayman Islands Companies Law for
Shareholders to move new resolutions at general meeting. Shareholders who wish to
move a resolution may request the Company to convene a general meeting in accordance
with the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph headed "Procedures for

Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting”.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the Company's
Hong Kong share registrar, namely Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong. Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the Company
to the Board could send their enquiries to the Company'’s headquarters and principal
place of business in the PRC at |3/F, Building C2, Nanshan iPark, No. 1001, Xueyuan
Boulevard, Nanshan District, Shenzhen, the PRC.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

An amended and restated memorandum of association and Articles of the Company
was adopted on 4 December 2015 and took effect from 7 January 2016. The Company
has not made any changes to its constitutional documents during the year ended 31
December 2022. An up-to-date version of the Articles is available on the Company's

website and the Stock Exchange's website.
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INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

Regarding the disclosure of inside information and internal control measures, the
Company understands its duties under the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO"), and adheres to the important principle of timely publication of
the inside information. The Company abides by the “Guide on disclosure of inside
information” published by the Securities and Futures Commission, and has developed
a complete system of internal procedures and internal control measures for processing
and publication of information in order to ensure the timely, accurate and appropriate

disclosure of relevant information to the public and regulatory authorities.

The Company has established an inside information handling team which consists
executive Directors, chief financial officer and company secretary and investor relations
to identify, evaluate and report to the Board about any potential inside information. The
Company is required to disclose inside information as soon as reasonably practicable
in accordance with SFO and Listing Rules. The Company conducts its affairs with close
regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the Securities and
Futures Commission. The Company also included in its information disclosure polices a
strict prohibition on the unauthorized use of confidential or inside information. The Board
will determine further escalation and appropriate handling the dissemination of inside

information.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is pleased to present this environmental, social and governance report (“ESG
Report”) for the year ended 31 December 2022, pursuant to the Environmental, Social
and Governance (“ESG") Reporting Guide provided in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules
(the “ESG Guide"), which sets out the Group's policies and practices in four aspects,
namely environmental protection, employment and labour practices, operating practices
and community involvement. The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG
Guide and complies with the principle of “comply or explain” provision in the Listing
Rules. The ESG Report is designed to allow Shareholders, investors (including potential
investors) and the public to have a more comprehensive and profound understanding of

the corporate governance and culture of the Company.

The Group is committed to put emphasis on environmental protection and sustainable
development. The Group strives to utilize resources efficiently and effectively in workplace
and reduce impacts on the environment; raise its social responsibility and improve well-
being of its employees; and demonstrate the Group's commitment to the corporate
social responsibility. Apart from pursuing corporate profits, the Group also took into
consideration the sustainable development of the environment, the society and corporate
governance in all aspects of the business operation of the Group, so that those standards

could be sustained.

The Board is responsible for the Group's ESG strategy and reporting. The Group has
established an ESG working team to engage the management and employees across all
functions in order to identify relevant ESG issues and to assess their materiality to the
Group's business as well as the Company's stakeholder, through reviewing the Group's
operations and internal discussions. Disclosures relating to the material ESG issues
identified have been included in this ESG Report pursuant to the ESG Guide. This ESG
Report focuses on mobile top-up services business, the principal business of the Group.
It covers the operations of the Group's PRC operating entity, Shenzhen NNK (the
“Operating Entity").
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group maintains communication with various stakeholders which refer to groups
and individuals that materially influencing or affected by the Group's business. Through
various channels, the Group can timely access the latest request of the stakeholders
and proactively respond to their requests in order to foster the Group's capability in
fulfilling its environmental and social responsibilities and achieving the Group's sustainable

development objectives.

M EREE SR

AEBERZMEEEE (HHITREEE
BELEAZENERRLEA) RFEAR &
BEERE  AKEA REERNEARE
HRFER  YTHERAEBFR  UMEER
SEBRTRERMEEL  ERAKEAR
BRRBBROEN

Stakeholders FEMEEE Communications and Responses BRETE

. Customers . P Customers satisfaction survey EFPmEERE
Customers feedback BEPRE
Commercial communication [EE3:1E
Service complaint and response RSHRFREE

«  Shareholders/Investors . BREREE Shareholders’ meeting BRRRE
Annual report/Interim report Fik,/ PR
Announcement and notice NERBE
Group websites and WeChat public KERRMERRWR

account

Direct communication HEAR

. Suppliers . g Site visit and evaluation RSRE KA
Contract execution BUEH
Cooperation negotiation aEER
Suppliers evaluation system fHIER T R R4t
Product quality EmEx
Corporate reputation PERE

+  Employees - BB Induction training ABSE
Regular staff training and activity T T REE
Communication meeting BREE
Employee feedback mechanism & B REEH I
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R HERERES

Stakeholders FEEEE Communications and Responses BREEE
+  Government and «  BUSKEEHPF]  Direct communication BEEER
Regulatory Authorities Relevant conference izl

Field visit BHRE
Compliance management aRER
Policy compliance BEaH

* Media . IEEE Announcement and notice NERBE
Interview wan
Group websites and WeChat public SEEURIMEARR

account

«  Community - HRE Volunteer activity EREEE

Donation to community IR

The business of the Group affects different stakeholders, and these stakeholders have
various expectations of the Group. To enhance the materiality analysis, the Group will
continue to expand the scope of stakeholders' engagement and collect a diverse range of

stakeholders views through various activities in the future.

A.  ENVIRONMENTAL
The Group understands that its daily operations could have impacts on the
environment, therefore the Group looks for ways to achieve environmental
sustainability while continuing its business growth. The Group encourages
environmental protection, complies with environmental legislations and promotes
awareness towards environmental protection to its employees. To put into
practice, the Group has implemented a series of environmental-friendly measures
in the workplace to minimize its environmental impacts. The Group seizes every
opportunity to engage its staff in supporting green initiatives in daily operations to
call for collective effort in sustaining the environment. To this end, the Group has
introduced several initiatives to improve energy efficiency, minimize greenhouse
gas ("GHG") emissions and enhance indoor air quality. For the year ended 3|
December 2022, the Group has complied with all relevant environmental laws and

regulations.
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Al

52

Emissions

As a specialized online mobile top-up service provider in the PRC, the Group's
operations do not involve in production-related air, water and land pollution that
are regulated by applicable laws and regulations in the PRC. For the year ended 3|
December 2022, the Group did not produce hazardous waste or harmful pollutants
in the course of its business. The Group has always been actively seeking various
environmental protection measures to reduce the indirect impact of business

development on the environment.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “A3 The Environmental and Natural
Resources” in this ESG Report, the Group considered only limited non-hazardous
waste was produced in the course of business, therefore relevant data for the year

was not available.

The carbon emissions resulting from the daily operations of the Group mainly

come from the GHG emissions generated from electricity use.
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The Group also realized that transportation by any means can result in GHG
emissions. As the Group has extensive and numerous channel partners in different
regions in the PRC, travelling on business trip is also one of the major contributions
to GHG emissions. As at 31 December 2022, due to unavoidable commercial
activities, the total emissions of GHG of the Group was 3,639.2kg, representing a
decrease of 10,158.9kg of GHG emissions as compared with 13,798.1kg as of 31
December 2021. The total emissions intensity of GHG was 29.5%g/employee,
as compared with 125.4kg/employee as at 3|1 December 2021. Such decrease
was mainly due to the decrease in business trips due to continued outbreak of
COVID-19 persisted in 2022. The Group aims at monitoring GHG emissions by
not more than 25,000kg for the year ending 3| December 2023. To achieve this
target, the Group will continue to encourage its employees to conduct meeting
with channel partners and suppliers by video conferencing and teleconferencing
and thus minimize GHG emissions. In addition, the Group also encourages staff
to take public transportation in order to reduce GHG emissions. The Group has
also adopted measures such as maintaining Company's vehicles and tires status
on regular basis, and switching off idle engines during long time waiting to reduce

energy consumption in order to reduce GHG emissions.

Use of Resources

With the vision of protecting the planet and incorporating environmental
sustainability into its business function and processes, the Group proactively seeks
opportunities to enhance operating efficiency in workplace to reduce the use
of resources. The Group closely monitors the utilization of resources and takes

remedial actions whenever necessary.

Staff are well informed of Group's energy-saving measures through different
communication channels, such as intranet and regular meetings. The Group

continuously cultivates its staff awareness and encourages their behavioral change.
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As disclosed above, several measures have been implemented to improve energy
saving in the Group's workplace. The followings are examples of energy saving
measures adopted by the Group:

- maximizing the use of natural light and energy-saving systems;

- zoning for optimal control of lighting and air-conditioning;

- using energy-saving light bulbs, installing and purchasing energy-efficient office

equipment;

- maintaining the room temperature at an average of 26 C;

- maintaining air conditioning systems and cleaning the filters of air conditioners

on a regular basis;

- switching off air conditioning systems and lighting in vacant working areas

after operation hours;

-~ tumning off office equipment when not in use;

- switching off water dispenser after operation hours; and

- putting reminder message about the importance of energy and resources

savings on or next to office equipment.
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While complying with environmental laws and regulations, the Company strongly
encourages all employees to focus on energy conservation and emission reduction
in their work and reduce GHG emissions and promote indoor air quality. As at 31
December 2022, the Group used a total of 251,598kWh of electricity, a decrease
of 20,265kWh of electricity as compared with 271,863kWh as at 31 December
2021. Such decrease was mainly due to the relocation of office in 2022, resulting
in the relocation of some data servers. The electricity consumption intensity was
| 79kWh/square meters for the year ended 3| December 2022, as compared
with 199.0kWh/square meters for the year ended 31 December 2021. Energy
consumption efficiency goal was not set during the reporting year as energy

consumption for the business of the Group is immaterial.

The Group does not involve any production and manufacturing processes,
however, the Group still persists on raising staff awareness of water conservation
and regularly checking office pipes to prevent leakage. The Group encourages
employees to save water. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
used a total of 1,343 tonnes of water, an increase of 16| tonnes of water from as
compared with 1,182 tonnes of water used as of 31 December 2021. Such increase
was mainly due to an increase in numbers of employees. The water consumption
intensity was 10.9 tonnes/employee for the year ended 31 December 2022, as
compared with 10.7 tonnes/employee for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
Group aims at monitoring the water consumption to not more than 1,000 tonnes
for the year ending 31 December 2023. To achieve this target, the Group will
continue to encourage its employees to actively participate in the activities of saving

water resources within the Group and to do its best to protect water resources.

Due to the nature of business, the Group does not use any packaging material

during the course of its business.
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The Environmental and Natural Resources

Waste management and reduction are crucial to conservation of the earth’s finite
resources. In order to improve waste management mechanisms, the Group has
adopted various waste reduction measures, especially in cutting down paper
consumption in the course of operation and purchase of paper made scratch top-

up cards.

The Group encourages staff to view the documents on electronic devices instead of
printing out hard copies. When printing is unavoidable, duplex printing is defaulted
and staffs are encouraged to reuse the single-sided printed papers. The designated
collection points have been set up in the workplace to facilitate paper and toner
cartridges recycling. Staff are also advised to reuse office consumables. For the
year ended 31 December 2022, the Group used a total of approximately |19,500
pieces of paper (2021: 78,000 pieces). The increase was mainly due to the increase
in number of employees. The Group will continue to recommend green office
and conserve resources. The Group will continue to contribute to the sustainable

development of mankind, while continuously enhancing its business capabilities.

Regarding to the Group's paper made top-up cards inventory, the Group has
chosen to purchase larger proportion of virtual top-up cards, supplemented by
a small amount of prepaid paper made top-up cards. For the year ended 3|
December 2022, the Group did not purchase any paper made top-up cards,
a significant decrease as compared with 151,642 cards for the year ended 3|
December 2021, For the already-purchased paper made top-up cards, the Group
stipulates that once the prepaid card are used, they shall be sent to the designated
collection points for paper recycling so as to reduce the waste of paper and

increase the paper recycling rate.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group understands that good air and water quality are vital to health. The
Group cares about its staff and therefore makes every effort to provide a healthy
workplace environment for them. The Group has implemented various measures to
maintain good indoor air quality for staff, such as regular cleaning of air-conditioning
systems and filters of air conditioners. Professional cleaning personnel are engaged

to maintain the indoor environment of workplaces.

Climate change

As the Group engaged in mobile top-up services that can perform at in-house,
significant climate-related issues do not affect daily operating activities. In view
of extreme weather such as typhoons and thunderstorms that are occasionally
happened during summer, the Group provides guidance to employees whether
commuting to office is required under extreme weathers. The Group has policies
in place to ensure doors and windows are closed properly after work, in order to

prevent any damages by overnight typhoons and thunderstorms.

SOCIAL

The Group believes that employees are the valuable assets of an enterprise
and regards human resources as its corporate wealth in maintaining its leading
position in the mobile top-up service industry. To empower our staff, the Group
continuously provides on-the-job trainings and development opportunities to
enhance employees’ career progression. The Group offers competitive employment
package and benefits to attract and retain competent persons. The Group also
cherishes employees’ well-being and strives to provide them with a healthy and safe

working environment.
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Employment

Workforce

The Group keeps track of the updates of the laws and regulations in the PRC and
has strictly abided by the relevant laws and regulations such as the Labour Law of
the PRC (3 AR HEFEI % E))%) and the Labour Contract Law of the PRC (FF
FEARKMBLENA FE) for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Group
has entered into labour contracts with all employees to protect their legitimate
rights and interests. Recruitment is open for all qualified personnel and conducted
in a fair, just and open manner, and recruitment information is announced with the
Company's information or disclosed to the public. Recruitment and promotion
are based on the candidates’ capability instead of other factors such as gender,
race, age and religion. All employees and candidates enjoy equal opportunities and
fair treatment. The Group has established a selection and evaluation system to
optimize the allocation of human resources and internal promotion. The philosophy
of developing a wide array of talents helps to build up the overall strength of the

Group and maintaining its leading position in the industry.

The Group has also established policies and procedures regarding the dismissal of
its employees. Compensation for dismissed personnel is well settled and the Group
has strictly abided by the provision of Labour Law of the PRC (2 A R 2£H0
BIZ5E0)%). The Group will conduct interviews and conversations with dismissed
personnel to comfort their frustrations and collect their feedbacks. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Group had not received any complaint or involved

in any legal proceeding related to dismissal matters.

The comprehensive workforce is essential to optimize the Group's operation. As
at 31 December 2022, the Group had |34 full time employees, an increase of
21.9% as compared to the |10 employees as at 31 December 2021. The female
to male ratio is approximately 57:43. The Group's employees were allocated in
departments of research & development 22.4%), marketing sales and purchasing
(14.9%), customer services (36.6%), administration (5.2%) and others (20.9%).
The Group had a young and energetic workforce, with the 45% were aged below
30 and 44% were aged 31-40. The Group's employees were allocated in areas of
Guangdong Province (61.2%); Sichuan Province(28.4%); Beijing (8.2%) and Hong
Kong, PRC (2.2%).
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Analysis of 2022 and 202 annual employee turnover rate TECCFR-BC-FFERERY
x

The Group's employee turnover rate in 2022 was 23.13%, which was decreased AEENEERDER_T__F73

by 6.81% as compared to the turnover rate of 29.94% in 2021. The decrease 23.13% BT = —F129.94% %

in turnover rate was mainly because the Group has implemented appropriate 681% - MBETRIZERANEED

measures to retain talents in the department. REGEE e BErfAT -
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THE EMPLOYEE TURNOVER RATE OF 2021 AND 2022 (BY LOCATION)
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Benefits and Compensation BRIRFMH

The Group endeavours to offer a comprehensive and competitive remuneration
package to attract, retain and motivate talent employees. Remuneration adjustments
are based on staffs’ performance and their overall quality of work. Based on the
performance and the potential of employees as well as the macroeconomic
environment, the Group offers attractive fringe benefits, reasonable level of salary
increase and flexible individual holiday arrangements so as to ensure a balanced life

for its employees.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group strictly abided by the provisions
of Labour Law of the PRC (2 AR £ FNEI25 8 7%) and the provisions of the
Company's staff handbook expressly specify the working hours and rest periods.
The Group adopts an eight-hour shift, five working days and the staff are also
entitled to statutory holiday. For the staff who cannot enjoy the statutory holiday
while on shift, the Group will provide overtime pay according to the relevant laws
and regulations. Apart from the usual annual leave and paid sick leave, the Group
also offers additional leave entitlements for other circumstances like marriage,
bereavement, matemnity, paternity and work-related injury, etc., which allows the
staff to have flexible leave arrangement. The Group also grants certain amount of

mobile credit as birthday gifts for all employees.
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Equal Opportunities

To ensure equal employment and advancement opportunities for all individuals,
the Group assesses individuals based on their experience, qualifications and abilities
when it comes to employment, remuneration and promotion. The Group's
employment practices will under no circumstances, be influenced or affected by a
candidate’s or employee's race, gender, age, disability or family status. The Group
offers equal working opportunities and discourages any kind of discrimination,

including discriminating on the basis of the personal characteristics of its employee.

Health and Safety

The Group has committed to provide employees with a safe working environment
and pay tremendous attention to employees own health. The Group has strictly
abided by the relevant laws and regulations such as the Labour Law of the PRC (/1
EARKMES
SIRBEA) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

7%) and the Regulations on Work-Related Injury Insurance (T

The Group prides itself on providing a safe, effective and congenial work
environment. The Group is required to comply with occupational safety laws
and regulations imposed by the government authorities in the PRC. The Group
has implemented various occupational health and safety procedures to maintain
a safe work environment, including (i) providing guidelines for operational and
safety control procedures to all employees; (i) adopting protective measures at
its facilities; (iii) inspecting facilities regularly to identify and eliminate safety hazard;
and (iv) providing trainings to employees on safety awareness. Inspections and
management review of health and safety policies have been performed by the

Group to ensure the effectiveness of the arrangements, training and guidelines.
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R HEBRERES

In view of the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has implemented

various hygiene measures in the workplace including;

. Social distancing at the workplace

. Temperature taking and recording before entering the Group's premises
. Use hand sanitizer provided

. Wear face mask all the time

. Disinfect entire office before starting work

. Briefing matters about COVID-19 to all staff

In addition, the Group prioritizes the health and well-being of its employees.
In order to provide employees with sufficient medical care, in addition to the
medical insurance coverage required by laws, the Group has provided pension,
unemployment, occupational injury and maternity insurance for its employees in
compliance with applicable PRC laws and regulations. As the Group's business
expands, the Group will continue to regularly review and assess its risk portfolio
and adjust its insurance coverage based on its need and industry practice. The
Group has also provided annual medical check-ups for its employees and carried

out cultural and sports activities to promote staff relationship and physical fitness.

The Group did not encounter any major accident during the operation which
brought death of employees in each of the past three years including the year
ended 3| December 2022. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
did not encounter any accident which made any employees suffer loss of work days

because of injuries on job.
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Development and Training

The Group believes nurturing talents is the cornerstone of the Group's business
development. The Group has committed to offer different training opportunities
to its staff, to provide them with a suitable platform for career advancement
and professional development. The Group holds regular trainings for new
employees in order to build cohesion amongst new joiners as well as provide
in depth understanding of the Company's philosophy and strategies. The Group
also encourages employees to share their know-how and experience with other
departments’ colleague in order to improve everyone's comprehensive competence
and horizon. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company arranged
all the department to launch related training course within colleagues, such as
technical department courses, new employee orientation, work trainings and some
experience exchanging seminars. Directors and senior management attended a
two-hour continuous professional training courses organized by Company's legal

advisor.

Labour Standards

The Group strictly prohibits the use of child and forced labour in the Group, and is
fully committed to create a work environment which respects human rights. Staff of
human resources department audit and verify staff identity during the recruitment

process to ensure that no child labour will be employed.

The Group attaches great importance to the protection of rights and interests
for employees, strictly complies with the relevant provisions of national and local
employee rights and interests. The provisions of the Company's staff handbook
expressly specifies the working hours, rest and leave, labour protection and so on

to encourage work-life balance and prevent any compulsory labour.
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OPERATING PRACTICES
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Supply Chain Management

The Group selects telecommunication operators, distributors of telecommunications
operators, e-commerce platform and third-party online game operators (collectively
“suppliers”), to support the business operations, and is committed as much as
possible to conduct the business with suppliers that act in a socially responsible
manner to meet the ethical expectations. As at 31 December 2022, the Company
had 123 suppliers (2021: 81). As a specialized mobile top-up service provider in the
PRC, the Group understands the importance to work closely with its supply chain
to ensure the sustainability of the Group's business. A supplier evaluation system
in terms of price, quality, cost, delivery and after-sales service has been established
by the Group and applies to all suppliers. The Group carries out long-term quality
monitoring and conducts regular reviews on all suppliers as well as random
examination on different suppliers to ensure sustainable quality material supplies
and services. The Group will also take into account suppliers’ reputation, their track
record of high corporate standards, expertise, capacity and etc. so as to select
the qualified suppliers and appropriate management's approval is required before
entering an agreement. Such procedures aim to support operational efficiency and

segregation of duties.

Distribution of suppliers by region
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Product Responsibilities

On the basis of strictly abiding by the relevant laws and regulations, the Group has
taken a variety measures to ensure the quality of service. During the year ended
31 December 2022, the Group was not aware of any violation of the laws and
regulations on its services (including advertising, labelling, service quality, customer
privacy protection and consumer right etc.) and any event that had material impact
on the Group. The Group did not have any services provided subject to recalls for

safety and health reasons.

The Group primarily engages in providing mobile top-up services and data usage
top-up services. The Group has developed a reliable, secure and scalable platform,
007ka top-up platform, through which the Group processes mobile top-up request
received from mobile users. The Group has committed to deliver high-quality top-
up services through its 007ka top-up platform and WeChat public account to the
customers. In order to ensure delivery of high-quality top-up services, the Group
has in place a real-time automatic mechanism to monitor irregularities of top-
up results such that administrator can deal with such irregularities proactively and
enable customers to enjoy fast, reliable and convenient top-up services. The Group
provides customer services on a 24/7 basis to enhance service quality, in particular,
to PRC banks, the Group has also established a 24-hour real-time monitoring
mechanism which reports irregularities in the systems to relevant personnel so
that irregularities can be dealt proactively. The above monitoring systems allow the
Group to quickly respond to and resolve network malfunction issues to ensure the
stability and security of the network and the mobile top-up services. In addition, the
Group has also maintained a dedicated customer service team to exclusively handle

enquiries or complaints from different channel partners’ customers.
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The customer service team and the customer hotline numbers are posted on the
websites of the channel partners and the Company’'s websites. Users who use
the mobile top-up services through the channel partners can make enquiries or
complaints through the customer hotlines of the Company. The Group defines
complaints as customers’ explicit or implicit expressions of dissatisfaction with the
mobile top-up or mobile data top-up services, which requires the actions to resolve
the problem and the response to the customers about the solution. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Group received 222 complaints from customers,
increased by 33.7% as compared with 166 complaints for the year ended 3|
December 2021. These customer's complaints are generally associated with delays
in the top-up process, unsuccessful recharges and failure of users to receive mobile
top-up results. Upon receipt of complaints from customers, the customer service
team immediately makes preliminary judgment on the nature of the complaints and
provides instruction to guide customers to solve problems. Unresolved complaints
relating to urgent or material issues are reported to the relevant managers on-duty.
The Group also closely monitors the feedbacks from customers. Through collecting
and analyzing customer feedbacks, the high-quality customer service team helps to
enhance customer satisfaction and loyalty. For cases of unsuccessful mobile top-up
requests, recharge of the mobile accounts for customers or refund of payments for

the mobile top-up services to customers per their requests are usually adopted.

The Group emphasizes the importance of protecting the privacy of its channel
partners and customers, and has complied with relevant laws and regulations
during the collection, processing and use of customer’s personal data. Employees
have signed the non-disclosure agreement to ensure the protection of customer’s
personal data. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not
receive complaints from channel partners or customers due to unauthorized

disclosure of information.
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Since the Group is principally engaged in providing mobile top-up services to
mobile users through electronic banking systems of the PRC banks, offline channels
and other channels including third-party online platforms, its own websites and
WeChat public account. No massive advertising campaigns were launched by the
Group. In addition, due to the nature of the Group's business, labelling of products

was not applicable to the Group.

Intellectual Properties

The Group's principal business is considered to be value-added telecommunications
services, a sector where foreign investment is subject to significant restrictions
under the PRC laws and regulations. Accordingly, we, as foreign investors, cannot
hold controlling interest in Shenzhen NNK; the PRC operating entity, which holds
certain intellectual properties required by the Group to operate its principal
business in the PRC. Accordingly, our wholly foreign-owned enterprise Daily
Charge Technology (Shenzhen) Co.,, Ltd (“Daily Charge Shenzhen") entered into
an exclusive intellectual property purchase option agreement with Shenzhen NNK
the PRC operating entity, and its shareholders, pursuant to which Shenzhen NNK
agreed to grant an exclusive option to Daily Charge Shenzhen to purchase certain
of Shenzhen NINK's intellectual properties, including but not limited to trademarks,
patents, domain names and copyrights and whether registered or unregistered,
purchased entirely or partially, at the minimum purchase price permitted by the
PRC laws and regulations. The exclusive intellectual property purchase option
agreement has no definite term commencing on |5 November 2021 until the
agreement is terminated upon the earlier occurrence of (i) Daily Charge Shenzhen
gives Shenzhen NNK 30 days’ prior written notice of termination; or (i) all the
intellectual properties of Shenzhen NNK have been transferred to Daily Charge
Shenzhen. Shenzhen NINK is not contractually entitled to terminate the exclusive
intellectual property purchase option agreement. Our management team regularly
monitors the impact of new regulations in the PRC on the exclusive intellectual
property purchase option agreement and the Group's principal business. At the
same time, the Group engages the PRC lawyers to review annually the contractual
arrangements (including the exclusive intellectual property purchase option
agreement) signed between Daily Charge Shenzhen and Shenzhen NINK and issue

legal opinions on the validity of such contractual arrangements.
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We are committed to protect the proprietary intellectual property. Our
management team and our operation team work closely to develop and maintain
the intellectual property portfolio owned by the Group, and ensure our intellectual

property are not infringed through research and control.

The Code of Ethics of the Group details the way of using intellectual property
from other companies and individuals in compliance with the laws and regulations
by our operation team when necessary. Our non-disclosure agreements protect
the intellectual property shared among us, the suppliers, distributors, dealers, other

customers and contract employees from any infringement or piracy.

Anti-corruption

The Company has strictly abided by the relevant laws and regulations such as the
Criminal Law of the PRC (R EE A RZMEIE), the Anti-Unfair Competition
Law of the PRC (FEARKMBRTEEFHFE) and the Anti-Money
Laundering Law of PRC (FZE AR £MBEIR E#E) for the year ended 31
December 2022. The Group is committed to prevent and monitor any malpractice
or unethical actions. The Group maintains and effectively implements whistle-
blowing procedures for anti-corruption and anti-fraud and is committed to promote
integrity and prevent unethical issues. The Group encourages the reporting of
suspected business irregularities and provides clear channels specifically for this

purpose.

The Group requests its staff to maintain a high level of business ethics to protect
the interests and business operations of the Group. To reinforce staff's integrity, the
Group has established the code of conduct and laid down procedures in the staff
handbook to fight against corruption, bribery, extortion and fraud. The Group has
established regulations and procedures to prevent and monitor money laundering in
the operations. All new joiners are well briefed of these regulations and procedures
during orientation and existing members can assess relevant information in the
Group's intranet to raise their awareness on anti-corruption, anti-fraud and anti-
money laundering. We had circulated the anti-corruption training materials by
electronic means to the Directors, senior management and heads of departments

during the year so that our employee could be well informed of their obligations.

NNK Group Limited Annual Report 2022
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When suspected wrongdoings are identified, such as breach of duty, abuse
of power, receiving bribes, staff can report to the secretariat of the Board for
investigation and resolution. The secretariat will then carry out investigation and
verification, and report to the regulator or law enforcement authority when

necessary.

The Group is committed to adhere to the highest ethical standards. During the
year ended 3| December 2022, the Group had not been a party to any corruption,
bribery or fraud proceedings and was not aware of any pending or threatened
proceedings related to corruption against the Group or any of the Directors. The
Group will continue to comply with ethical requirements and upholds its reputation

to prevent corruption.

Community Investment

The Group has not established a specific community policy, however, social care
is deep-seated in the Group's corporate culture and the Group is committed to
its corporate responsibilities by proactively participating in community and charity
works. During the Reporting Period, the Group donated RMB10,000 to the local

charitable organisation in Shenzhen, PRC.
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The Board is pleased to present this annual report and the audited Consolidated Financial

Statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group is the provision of mobile top-up services to mobile
users in the PRC through electronic banking systems of the PRC banks, and other
channels, including third-party online platforms, the Group's self-operated websites
and WeChat public account. In the second half of 2022, in order to diversify potential
risks arising from a single business operation and explore new sources of income, the
Group has gradually launched two new businesses, namely (i) the equipment and
information technology procurement business through cooperating with PRC domestic

telecommunication operators; and (i) the e-commerce operation and dealership business.

Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 34 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on page
I21. The financial position as at 31 December 2022 of the Group is set out in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position on pages 122 to 123. The cash flow of the
Group during the year 31 December 2022 is set out in the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows on pages 125 to 126.

The Directors did not recommend payment of final dividend in respect of the year ended

31 December 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2022 and a
discussion on the Group's future business development are provided in the Chairman’s
Statement on pages 4 to 8. A discussion on the key financial performance indicators of the
Group for year ended 31 December 2022 is provided in the Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 9 to 16 of this annual report. The review and discussion thereof form

part of this Report of the Directors.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The following are among the principal risks and uncertainties facing the business of the

Group:

. The Group provides mobile top-up services through electronic banking systems
to customers of the PRC banks. The Group's business depends on establishing
and maintaining relationships with the PRC banks. The Group's failure to continue
the contractual relationship with the existing PRC banks or enter into business
relationships with additional PRC banks in a timely manner or on favorable terms
may impair the Group's ability to continually expand its business; changes in the rate
of commission fees charged by the PRC banks may also have a significant impact on

the Group's cost of revenue and gross profit margin;

. the Group's reliance on the PRC telecommunication operators and their
distributors to source mobile top-up credits, any deterioration or termination
of the Group's relationships with them may result in severe disruptions to the
Group's business operations, loss of revenues and a material and adverse effect
on the Group's financial condition and results of operations. The Group's profit
margin may also be effected by the decline in the discounts offered by the PRC

telecommunication operators and their distributions in the future;

. the Group's ability to grow its business depends, in part, upon policies of the PRC
telecommunication operators. If the PRC telecommunication operators decide to
continue expand mobile top-up services or cooperate with the PRC banks or third-
party online platforms directly, the Group's results of operations may be materially

and adversely affected;

. the Group's business may face competition from the other mobile top-up services,
local branches of the three PRC telecommunication operators and E-commerce
platforms. If the Group or the PRC banks fail to compete effectively, the Group's
market share may decrease and the Group's business, financial condition and

prospect will be materially and adversely affected;
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. the Group's business and results of operations may be effected by the growth of
intemet market and mobile penetration and usage in the PRC, changes in customer
behaviors and preferences on the mobile top-up channels. Any decline in the
popularity of online top-up services in general, or the Group's failure to respond
to industry trends and customer requirements, may adversely affect the Group's

business and results of operations;

. development of the PRC telecommunication industry could be negatively affected
by factors such as unfavorable government policies and changes of consumer
preferences which may decrease spending on mobile telecommunication services. If
the PRC telecommunication industry does not develop as anticipated, the Group's
business may be harmed and the Group may need to adjust its growth strategy and

the Group's results of operation may be adversely affected; and

. the Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may
be influenced to a significant degree by political, economic and social conditions and

government policies in the PRC.

The details of risk factors are set out in the section headed “Risk Factors” in the

prospectus of the Company dated 24 December 2015 (the “Prospectus”).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
For the purposes of ascertaining the members' eligibility to attend and vote at the AGM,

the Company's register of members will be closed during the following periods:
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AGM BREAFAE
. Latest time to lodge transfers documents for registration No later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 8 June 2023
RE A7 18P X PAEE R & R IR PMERZZ_=FANE (BHO) TFEE=1%5
. Closure of register of members Friday, 9 June 2023 to Wednesday, 14 June 2023
EEReRRECTE “ECCHAANR (BB E-T=FRATHA(EHZ)
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To be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all duly stamped instruments of transfers,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with the
Company's share registrar in Hong Kong, namely Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, at Shops 712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than the latest time as stated above.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2022 are set out in note

34 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the change in the share capital of the Company for the year ended 31

December 2022 are set out in note 26 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in reserve of the Company (which is the same as distributable
reserve of the Company) during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note

33 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 December 2022, the Company did not have distributable reserve available
for distribution to Shareholders. The distributable reserves are calculated under the

Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the year ended 3|

December 2022 are set out in note |5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MAJOR CHANNEL PARTNERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 3| December 2022, the gross transaction value derived from
the Group's five largest channel partners accounted for approximately 97% of the
Group's total gross transaction value. The Group's largest channel partner contributed to

approximately 86% of the Group's total gross transaction value.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the cost of sourcing from Group's five
largest suppliers who are telecommunication operators and distributors accounted for
approximately 46% of the Group's total sourcing cost. The cost of sourcing from the
Group's largest supplier accounted for approximately 14% of the Group's total sourcing

cost.

As far as the Company is aware, none of the Directors nor his/her close associates and
none of the Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors possessing over 5%
of the interest in the issued share capital of the Company) possessed any interest in the

Group's five largest channel partners and suppliers.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Relationships with Employees

The Group believes that employees are its greatest assets. The Group believes that
a good working environment promotes employees’ physical and psychological well-
being. The Group provides on-the-job training and career development opportunities
to its employees to enhance staff professional skills and retain talents. The Group
provides competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate the employees. The
Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of employees and makes necessary

adjustments to conform to the market standard.

Relationships with Channel Partners
The Group's mobile top-up business consists of mobile top-up services through electronic
banking systems of the PRC banks and third-party online platforms, Group's self-operated

websites and Group's WeChat public account.
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The Group primarily provides mobile top-up services through electronic banking systems
of the PRC banks and the gross transaction value derived through electronic banking
systems accounted for approximately 99% of the total gross transaction value in 2022.
The Group maintained long-term cooperative relationships with the PRC banks as a
result of the Group's satisfactory service quality, strong brand recognition and reputation
and leading market position. The Group had an average of approximately twelve years
of business relationship with the five largest state-owned commercial banks. The Group
worked with 69 PRC banks, including the five largest state owned commercial banks and
10 of the 12 nation-wide joint stock commercial banks up to the end of 2022. The Group
also utilized other channels (third-party online platforms, Group's websites and its WeChat
public account) to provide mobile top-up services. The Group evaluates the effectiveness

and profitability of each channel when considering cooperation with the online platforms.

Relationships with Customers

The Group primarily provides mobile top-up services to mobile users, who are customers
of the Group's channel partners, including the PRC banks, offline channel partners and
other channel partners. In other words, customers of the Group's channel partners are
the Group's indirect customers. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the number
of mobile users who used the Group's services was approximately 63 million and the five

largest customers collectively contribute less than 30% of the gross transaction value.

Relationships with Suppliers

The Group primarily sources mobile top-up credits from the PRC telecommunication
operators and their distributors. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had
business relationships with 123 suppliers. The Group maintained long term relationship
with most of suppliers, and the Group's five largest suppliers had an average of

approximately nine years of business relationships with the Group.
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Report of the Directors
EEEWE

DIRECTORS BE

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022 and as at the date of this annual BE-ZT-_—_F+-A=1+—HIEFERE
report were as follows: EAFHRAMOESER -

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. HUANG Junmou (Chairman) BRREE (£E)

Dr. ZHOU Jinhuang (appointed on 8 November 2022) BAeaidt

Mr. GUAN Heng (Chief Executive Officer) (appointed on 2 November 2022) (R-FE-—F+—HHEZ(F)

MELLE (BEHTE)
(R-FE-—F+—H-HEZ(T)

Non-executive Directors FYITES
Mr. FAN Weiguo (Appointed on 28 October 2021, term of appointment ended on SEREBLE
10 February 2022 and re-appointed on 17 March 2022) (R-FE-—F+H -+ HEZT

FHR—E-—F - A+HEZEE -
TR -FE-—F=f++HEEFFHZT)

Mr. YU Zida FERE
Independent non-executive Directors BIYFHTES
Mr. LIN Zhangxi WERLE
Mr. QIAN Haomin BERELE
Ms. ZHAO Jinlin HEMR T+

Pursuant to Articles 16.2 of the Articles, Dr. Zhou Jinhuang and Mr. Guan Heng will hold BIEABE 16218 Be=mELTREBELED
office until, and be eligible for re-election at, the next following general meeting of the IRZHEZIEN T —EREASIFL
Company after their appointment. Dr. Zhou Jinhuang and Mr. Guan Heng, being eligible, EREREBEML - AeEBLREELESRE
have offered themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM. BEBRENEERFTAFAS EHEHEME -

In accordance with Article 16.18 of the Articles, Mr. Qian Haomin and Mr. Yu Zida will BIEAANE 16,1815 BEZEERMTFIEL
retire in the forthcoming AGM, and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election ERRERRRBFAE LRIE - WAER

at the forthcoming AGM. KEENEERRBEFAS L EEEE -
DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES ESREREEENERE

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Company are set ARBEENSREEENERFABENA
out on pages |7 to 24 of this annual report. FHREITRME ©
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Mr. Huang Junmou, Dr. Zhou Jinhuang and Mr. Guan Heng, the executive Directors, have
entered into a service contract with the Company and were appointed for a specific term
of three years commencing from | January 2021, 8 November 2022 and 2 November
2022 respectively unless terminated by not less than three months' notice in writing

served by either the executive Director or the Company.

Mr. Yu Zida and Mr. Fan Weiguo, the non-executive Directors, have entered into a
service contract with the Company for a specific term of three years commencing from
18 June 2020 and |7 March 2022 respectively unless terminated by not less than three

months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company on 21 June 2020. Each of these letters of appointment is for a term of

three years commencing from 21 June 2020.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of directors are set
out in the Articles. The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
composition and recommending to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for the Directors, in particular the chairman and chief

executive officer.

There was no service contract entered into/appointment letter signed by the Company
and any Directors to be re-elected in the forthcoming AGM which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors, an
annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Company considers all of the independent non-executive Directors independent.
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments and five highest paid individuals for the
year ended 3| December 2022 are set out in note 12 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements and the emolument policy of the Company is set out in the Corporate

Governance Report on pages 37 and 44 of this annual report.

No Director has waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments during the year ended
31 December 2022.

Directors' remuneration is subject to Shareholder’s approval at general meetings.
Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference to Directors’ duties
and responsibilities, the recommendations of the Remuneration Committee and the
performance and results of the Group. No Directors, or any of their respective associates,
was involved in deciding his/her own remuneration for the year ended 31 December

2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 30 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and in the section
headed “Connected Transactions” of this annual report, no Director or an entity
connected with a Director has or had a material beneficial interest, directly or indirectly,
in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisting as at 31 December

2022 or at any time during the year ended 3| December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the year ended 31 December 2022, no Directors or their respective associates has
engaged in or has any interest in any business which were in competition or were likely to

compete, directly or indirectly with the business of the Group.
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RELEVANT SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Relevant Shareholders (as defined below) or their subsidiary has or had
a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance, whether
for the provision of services or otherwise, to the business of the Group to which the

Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year ended 3| December 2022.

COMPLIANCE OF THE DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company entered into a deed of non-competition
(“Non-Competition Deed”) with Mr. Huang Junmou, Mr. Yang Hua, Mr. Li Xiangcheng,
Mr. Xu Xinhua, Fun Charge Technology, Happy Charge Technology Limited (“Happy
Charge Technology"), Cool Charge Technology Limited (“Cool Charge Technology”)
and Enjoy Charge Technology Limited (“Enjoy Charge Technology”) (collectively, the
“Relevant Shareholders”) on 23 September 2015, under which the Relevant Shareholders
jointly and severally agreed not to, whether as principal or agent whether undertaken
directly or indirectly (including through any associate, subsidiary, partnership, join venture
or other contractual arrangement of theirs) and whether for profit or otherwise, carry
on, engage, invest, participate or hold any right or be interested in or render any services
to or otherwise be involved in any business which is in competition, directly or indirectly,
or is likely to be in competition, directly or indirectly, with the business referred to in the
Prospectus that is carried on or contemplated to be carried on by any member of the

Group.

Notwithstanding the above, the foregoing restrictions do not preclude any of the Relevant
Shareholders from having any interest in shares of not more than 5% in any company
which is or whose holding company is listed on any recognized stock exchange even
though the business carried out by such company is or is likely to be in competition
with the business, provided that the aggregate number of shares held by the Relevant
Shareholders do not exceed 5% of the issued shares of such company and none of the
Relevant Shareholders is a director of such company or is entitled to appoint any director

of such company.
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Each of the Relevant Shareholders has undertaken in the Non-Competition Deed that
during the term of the Non-Competition Deed, if a new business opportunity is made
available to any Relevant Shareholder or its/his respective associates, such Relevant
Shareholder will or will procure that its/his associates to notify the Company in writing
and provide to the Company all information that is reasonably necessary for the Company
to consider whether or not to pursue such business opportunity. For details of the Non-
Competition Deed, please refer to the section headed “Relationship with Controlling

Shareholders — Deed of Non-Competition” in the Prospectus.

As stated in the Prospectus, the Non-Competition Deed would become effective upon
listing of the Company on the Stock Exchange on 7 January 2016 and remain in full force
and be terminated upon the earlier of (i) the date on which the Relevant Shareholders
and its/his respective affiliates cease to be controlling shareholder of the company within
the meaning of the Listing Rules; or (i) the Company’s shares no longer being listed on

the Stock Exchange.

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Relevant Shareholders were regarded as the
controlling shareholders of the Company due to the concert party agreement entered into
by Mr. Huang Junmou, Mr. Yang Hua, Mr. Li Xiangcheng and Mr. Xu Xinhua on |5 April
2015, and the concert party agreement was terminated on |5 May 2020. Accordingly, the
Relevant Shareholders were no longer controlling shareholders of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2022, and thus the Non-Competition Deed has lapsed and
ceased to have effect during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interest or short positions of the Directors or chief
executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which would be required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein, or
which would be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant

to the Model Code were as follows:
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Long Position in the ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”)
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REDAEBBER ((RE ) WER

Approximate

percentage of

Number of issued share
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held capital®
HEERITRAE
EEpR g%/ RmME BAEROHE BHED L
Mr. Huang Junmou® Interest in controlled corporation 64,500,000 15.54%
BERTE RIpAE RS
Notes: {iEs

(1) Mr. Huang Junmou beneficially owns 100% of the issued share capital of Fun Charge
Technology. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Huang Junmou was deemed to be interested in
64,500,000 Shares held by Fun Charge Technology.

(2)  The percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the Company's total issued share
capital of 415,000,000 Shares as at 31 December 2022

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors and chief
executives of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which was required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interest or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO) or which would be required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which was
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange.

() =EREEEEZEHBFun Charge Technology
R MEBETRAE « RIFEEFFLHAE G -
E R ERAR AR Fun Charge Technology
F7 #)64,500 000 AR 17 R A HE 2

Q BEaSDNER-E-__F+-A=+—H
AAB 2B ZETTALA415,000,000R% 8% 155

g o
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

As at 31 December 2022, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following persons
(other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company) had or deemed or taken
to have an interest and/or short position in the Shares or the underlying Shares which are
required to be disclosed under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,

or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of

the SFO were as follows:

FTERRHERR K
RZE-ZZF+=-A=+—R8 BEEH
A TIAT (BEFERARAREITBAER
ON) RSB RS E 1ER AR 10 SAR BB AR 0 = 7
AIREES RBBRHIEXVEELR3D B
FRXBTRERCHREARRRIREE S &
BBROIER6HRAFENTRMANER R,/
AR

Approximate

percentage of

Number of issued share
Substantial shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held capital®
HERITRAE
FTERR 51/ BEME BEROHE LREEEAR
Fun Charge Technology!" Beneficial owner 64,500,000 15.54%
EHBEAA
Spring Harbour Development Limited Beneficial owner 119,400,000 28.77%
(“Spring Harbour™)® EnBEBA
Ms. Lam Ching Wan ("Ms. Lam")@ Interested in controlled corporation 119,400,000 28.77%
MEFxit (MzL])® R LB
China Charge Technology® Beneficial owner 60,000,000 14.46%
ES5BEAA
Mr. Huang Shaowu® Interested in controlled corporation 60,000,000 14.46%
BRRALED RIS E RS
Harvest Gold Capital Limited" Beneficial owner 56,100,000 13.52%
ExfBA
Mr. Chong Wing Kin®® Interested in controlled corporation 56,100,000 13.52%

SRR
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Notes:

Mr. Huang Junmou is the director and beneficially owns 100% of the issued share capital
of Fun Charge Technology. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Huang Junmou was deemed to be
interested in 64,500,000 Shares held by Fun Charge Technology.

Ms. Lam is the director and beneficially owns 100% of the issued share capital of Spring
Harbour. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Lam was deemed to be interested in 119,400,000 Shares
held by Spring Harbour.

Mr. Huang Shaowu is the director and beneficially owns 100% of the issued share capital of
China Charge Technology Limited (“China Charge Technology”). By virtue of the SFO, Mr.
Huang Shaowu was deemed to be interested in 60,000,000 Shares held by China Charge
Technology.

Mr. Chong Wing Kin is the director and beneficially owns 100% of the issued share capital of
Harvest Gold Capital Limited. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chong Wing Kin was deemed to be
interested in 56,100,000 Shares held by Harvest Gold Capital Limited.

The percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the Company's total issued share
capital of 415,000,000 Shares as at 3| December 2022. As at 3| December 2022, no

Shareholders has agreed to waive or waived any dividends.

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors are not aware of any person who will have an

interest or short position in Shares or underlying Shares which would be required to be

disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Division 2

and 3

of Part XV of the SFO, or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the

Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE SCHEMES
SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company has not adopt any share award scheme.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Scheme prepared in accordance with Chapter |7 of the
Listing Rules on 14 December 2015 for the primary purpose of providing incentives or
rewards to eligible participants (the “Eligible Participants”) as defined in the Scheme to
recognize and acknowledge their contribution to the Group and motivate them to higher

levels of performance.

Certain provisions of the Scheme were amended and approved in the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 4 November 2016, the definition of Eligible
Participants in the Scheme was amended to include the advisors, consultants, suppliers,
customers, distributors, business partners and such other persons who, in the opinion
of the Board, will contribute or have contributed to the Company and/or any of its

subsidiaries as participants eligible to participate in the Scheme.

Under the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, offer to Eligible Participants options (the
“Option(s)") to subscribe for Shares subject to the terms and conditions stipulated in the

Scheme.

()  Purpose of the Scheme
The purpose of the Scheme is established to recognize and acknowledge the
contributions that Eligible Participants had or may have made to the Group. The
Scheme will provide the Eligible Participants an opportunity to have a personal
stake in the Company with the view to achieve the objective of attracting and
retaining high caliber Eligible Participants to motivate the Eligible Participants to

higher levels of performance and to promote the success of the Group's business.
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(i)

Participants of the Scheme

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant options to:

() any full-time employees of the Company or its subsidiaries;

(i) any executive or non-executive Directors (including independent non-

executive Directors) of the Company or its subsidiaries; and

(i) the advisors, consultants, suppliers, customers, distributors, business partners
and such other persons who, in the opinion of the Board, will contribute or

have contributed to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.

Acceptance of an offer of Options

An Option shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted by the grantee and
to have taken effect when the duplicate offer document constituting acceptances of
the Options duly signed by the grantee, together with a remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof, is received by
the Company on or before the relevant acceptance date. Such payment shall in no
circumstances be refundable. Any offer to grant an Option to subscribe for Shares
may be accepted in respect of less than the number of Shares for which it is offered
provided that it is accepted in respect of a board lot for dealing in Shares on the
Stock Exchange or an integral multiple thereof and such number is clearly stated in
the duplicate offer document constituting acceptance of the Option. To the extent
that the offer to grant an Option is not accepted by any prescribed acceptance

date, it shall be deemed to have been irrevocably declined.

(iii)
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(iv)

86

Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which Options may be granted
under the Scheme and under any other share option schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 0% of the total number of Shares issued on 7
January 2016, being 40,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 9.64% of the
Company's issued share capital as at the date of this annual report, excluding
for this purpose Shares which would have been issuable pursuant to Options
which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme (or any other
share option schemes of the Company). Subject to the issue of a circular by the
Company and the approval of the Shareholders in general meeting and/or such
other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time, the Board

may:

(i) refresh this limit at any time to 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of

the approval by our Shareholders in general meeting; and/or

(i) grant options beyond the 0% limit to Eligible Participants specifically
identified by the Board. The circular issued by the Company to the
Shareholders shall contain a generic description of the specified Eligible
Participants who may be granted such Options, the number and terms of
the Options to be granted, the purpose of granting Options to the specified
Eligible Participants with an explanation as to how the Options serve such
purpose and the information required under Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the Listing

Rules.

(i) Notwithstanding the foregoing and subject to the effect of alterations to
capital, the maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding Options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company at any time
shall not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. No options
shall be granted under any schemes of the Company (including the Scheme)

if this will result in the 30% limit being exceeded.

NNK Group Limited Annual Report 2022

(iv)

ROEE LR

IRIRET 8 R AR A E b BB AR i 1 2
AR BB R RS R R (D8R &
R AEPEBBR - F—HAt
B2 1T 4289 10% » 840,000,000
R (EAFRBBARBZEITR
RHI9.64%) + BRIt E M BERETE
(AR R E A AR &) A 5K
EAMABIREARE R ZTHRD © fi
ARAE BRI ERRERERES
LR/ SESF EmAR AT ET AR
HEMBAE - AEEER

() BEREFZIRAKREERE
A FHEZBEETRGN
10% : /8%

iy MEFFFIEEHNEERLHE
BEERLBR 0% ERRERE -
A WNSIE P ER: gusk:ob e =]
AERZERRENEERER
SEENEBUBHN BTERD
BRENEE RERRAEEE
BR2EERLBERENE K
(WAFEBRENAERZAR)
R EHRAIE 17.020)(d) IR T
BH o

(i) WERLMRTEEERAEHH
FET  NEFRERREE
AR B ] E o AR A T B
B R ITE R BT A BB AR 1T
FEmAEETHNRNER LR
BHATREBITRMAI30% °
TR e BHBIBI0%HIREE -
Al g R IE A A B K ] 5t &
(‘BIEHE]) &L (A REARE -



Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise
of the Options granted under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company (including both exercised and outstanding options) to each Eligible
Participant in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of
the Shares in issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant of Options in excess of

this 1% limit shall be subject to:

() theissue of a circular by the Company containing the identity of the Eligible
Participant, the numbers and terms of the Options to be granted (and
Options previously granted to such participant) and the information as

required under Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules; and

(i) the approval of the Shareholders in general meeting and/or other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time with
such Eligible Participant and his associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
abstaining from voting. The numbers and terms (including the exercise
price) of Options to be granted to such participant must be fixed before
the Shareholders’ approval and the date of the Board meeting at which the
Board proposes to grant the Options to such Eligible Participant shall be
taken as the date of grant for the purpose of calculating the subscription

price of the Shares.

Option Period

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any
time after the date upon which the Option is deemed to be granted and accepted
and prior to the expiry of 10 years from that date. The period during which an
Option may be exercised will be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion,
save that no Option may be exercised more than |0 years after it has been
granted. No Option may be granted more than 10 vyears after the date of approval
of the Scheme. Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general meeting
or by the Board, the Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years

from the date of its adoption.
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The subscription price per Share
The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Scheme shall be such price as the Board in its absolute discretion shall

determine, save that such price must be at least the highest of:

() the closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant in respect of the

relevant Options;

(i) the average closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant or where the Company has been
listed for less than five trading days, the new issue price shall be used as the

closing price; and
(i) the nominal value of the Shares.
Remaining life of the scheme
The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on |4
December 2015.
Since the adoption of the Scheme and up to the date of this annual report, no

Option had been granted, exercised, lapsed nor cancelled under the Scheme.

For details of the Scheme, please refer to the section headed “Statutory and

General Information — F. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year ended 3| December

2022 was the Company or its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that would enable

the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of the

Company or any other body corporate.
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PENSION SCHEME
Hong Kong

Qualified directors of the Group in Hong Kong are members of Mandatory Provident

Fund Schemes (the “MPF Schemes”) administered by independent trustees. Under the

MPF Scheme, the Group and its directors are each required to make contributions to the

plan at 5% of the directors’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income

of HK$30,000.

PRC

The directors of the Group's operations in Mainland China are required to participate in

central pension schemes operated by the local municipal governments, the assets of which

are held separately from those of the Group. Contributions are made by the Group based

on a percentage of the participating directors’ salaries and are charged to profit or loss as

they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension schemes.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(@)

Existing Contractual Arrangements and New Contractual Arrangements

The Company is primarily engaged in, through Shenzhen NNK; the provision of
mobile top-up services and data usage top-up services (the “Principal Business"),
which is considered to be value-added telecommunications services, a sector where
foreign investment is subject to significant restrictions under the PRC laws and
regulations. Accordingly, the Company, as foreign investors, cannot directly hold
controlling interest in Shenzhen NNK; the Company's PRC Operating Entity, which
holds certain licenses and permits required for the operation of the Company's
Principal Business. As a result, the Company's wholly foreign-owned enterprise (the
“WFOE"), Daily Charge entered into a series of contractual arrangements with
Shenzhen NINK, the Company's PRC Operating Entity, and its shareholders (the
“Existing Contractual Arrangements”) in order to conduct the Principal Business
in the PRC and to exercise effective control over the operations of, and enjoy
all economic benefits of, the Company's PRC Operating Entity. The series of the
Existing Contractual Arrangements as a whole allow the financial performance and
economic benefits of the business of Shenzhen NNK to be included in the financial
information of the Company as if the Company is the parent company of Shenzhen
NNK: Pursuant to the Existing Contractual Arrangements, Shenzhen NNK has an
obligation to pay the consulting and technical supporting services fees to WFOE

and WFOE has legal rights to retain such fees as its revenue, and the Company is
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able to acquire the entire profit (including the retained eamings) of Shenzhen NNK

under the terms of the Existing Contractual Arrangements.

Shenzhen NNK was owned as to 31.5% by Mr. Huang Junmou, 21% by Mr. Yang
Hua, 18.7% by Mr. Li Xiangcheng, 8.8% by Mr. Xu Xinhua and 20% by Mr. Huang
Shaowu (collectively, the “Existing Registered Shareholders”). Daily Charge
Shenzhen, Shenzhen NNK and the Existing Registered Shareholders, as the case

may be, entered into the following agreements as at 3| December 2020:

The management and operation agreement dated 4 March 2015 and its
supplemental agreement dated 16 April 2015 entered into among Daily
Charge Shenzhen, Shenzhen NNK and the Existing Registered Shareholders,
pursuant to which Daily Charge Shenzhen agreed to provide to Shenzhen
NNK and its subsidiaries management and operation services. Pursuant
to the management and operation agreement, Shenzhen NNK shall pay
to Daily Charge Shenzhen a service fee that equals to 100% of the annual
revenue of Shenzhen NINK after deducting costs and expenses (except the
service fee) incurred during the course of management and operation of
Shenzhen NNK and any taxes, the prior-year loss (if any) and contribution
of social insurance and housing provident fund by Shenzhen NNK in any
given vear. In addition, Daily Charge Shenzhen may at its absolute discretion
adjust the service fee or agree to any postponed payment so as to avoid any

financial difficulty of either Shenzhen NNK or itself.
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The exclusive option agreement dated 4 March 2015 entered into among
Daily Charge Shenzhen, Shenzhen NNK and the Existing Registered
Shareholders, pursuant to which the Existing Registered Shareholders
irrevocably and unconditionally granted an exclusive option to Daily Charge
Shenzhen which entitles Daily Charge Shenzhen to elect to purchase, when
permitted by the then applicable PRC laws, all or any part of the equity
interests in Shenzhen NNK from the Existing Registered Shareholders
itself or through its designated person(s). Such designated person(s) shall
be appointed by Daily Charge Shenzhen in its sole discretion. The transfer
price of the relevant equity interests shall be the minimum purchase price
permitted under PRC law, and the Existing Registered Shareholders have
undertaken to return in full the consideration received in relation to such

transfer of equity interests to Daily Charge Shenzhen.

The entrustment agreement dated 4 March 2015 entered into among Daily
Charge Shenzhen, Shenzhen NNK and the Existing Registered Shareholders,
with an annexure of the power of attorney dated 4 March 2015 executed
by each of the Existing Registered Shareholders in favour of Daily Charge
Shenzhen and/or its designated person(s). Pursuant to the entrustment
agreement and the powers of attormey annexed thereto, each of the Existing
Registered Shareholders irrevocably agreed to authorize Daily Charge
Shenzhen or its designated person(s) to exercise all of his rights and powers
as shareholder of Shenzhen NINK; including the rights to convene and attend
shareholders’ meetings, to exercise voting rights in shareholders” meetings, to
appoint and dismiss directors and supervisors, to decide on any acquisition
or disposal of his equity interest in Shenzhen NNK or the winding-up or
dissolution of Shenzhen NNK; to file documents with relevant government
authorities or regulatory bodies, and to exercise such other shareholders'

rights as stipulated under the articles of association of Shenzhen NNK.
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The equity pledge agreement dated 4 March 2015 entered into among Daily
Charge Shenzhen, Shenzhen NNK and the Existing Registered Shareholders,
pursuant to which the Existing Registered Shareholders agreed to pledge
all of their respective equity interests in Shenzhen NNK to Daily Charge
Shenzhen to secure performance of all their obligations and the obligations
of Shenzhen NNK under the management and operation agreement, the
exclusive option agreement and the entrustment agreement underlying the
Existing Contractual Arrangements. Under the equity pledge agreement, if
Shenzhen NINK declares any dividends during the term of the pledge, Daily
Charge Shenzhen is entitled to receive all dividends or other income arising
from the pledged equity interests, if any. If any of the Existing Registered
Shareholders or Shenzhen NNK breaches or fails to fulfil the obligations
under any of the aforementioned agreements, Daily Charge Shenzhen, as the
pledgee, will be entitled to dispose of the pledged equity interests, entirely
or partially.

The exclusive intellectual property purchase option agreement dated 4
March 2015 entered into between Shenzhen NNK and Daily Charge
Shenzhen, pursuant to which Shenzhen NNK agreed to irrevocably and
unconditionally grant an exclusive option to Daily Charge Shenzhen to
purchase certain of Shenzhen NNK's intellectual properties, including but not
limited to trademarks, patents, domain names and copyright and whether
registered or unregistered, entirely or partially, at the minimum purchase

price permitted by the PRC laws and regulations.

The detailed terms of which are set out in the section headed “History,
Reorganization and Corporate Structure — Contractual Arrangements” of the

Prospectus.
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In addition, the Existing Registered Shareholders granted the individual appointed
by WFOE, to exercise their shareholder's rights, including without limitation, to
declare, receive or decline the dividends or distribution. In the event that the
Existing Registered Shareholders receive any dividends or distribution of assets
declared by Shenzhen NNK, the Existing Registered Shareholders are required
to return the dividend or distribution of assets so received to WFOE. Therefore,
WFOE controls the management and board of directors of Shenzhen NNK and
is able to acquire the entire profit generated from Shenzhen NNK under the

Contractual Arrangements.

On 15 November 2021, Daily Charge Shenzhen, Shenzhen NNK, Shenzhen
Haimeng Investment Company Limited (“Shenzhen Haimeng"), Mr. Huang
Junmou, Mr Li Xiangcheng and Mr. Huang Shaowu (Shenzhen Haimeng, Mr.
Huang Junmou Mr. Li Xiangcheng and Mr. Huang Shaowu collectively, the “New
Registered Shareholders”) entered into a new contractual arrangements which
are on the same terms and conditions of the Existing Contractual Arrangements,
mainly due to the change of the nominal shareholders of Shenzhen NNK from
Mr. Yang Hua and Mr. Xu Xinhua to Shenzhen Haimeng, a company owned as to
80% by Ms. Lin Peizhen (“Ms. Lin") and 20% by Ms. Chen Yixi (“Ms. Chen”) (the
“New Contractual Arrangements”). The Existing Contractual Arrangements were
terminated concurrently. Shenzhen NNK is now owned as to 31.5% by Mr. Huang
Junmou, 29.8% by Shenzhen Haimeng, 18.7% by Mr. Li Xiangcheng and 20% by Mr.

Huang Shaowu.
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Daily Charge Shenzhen, Shenzhen NNK and the New Registered Shareholders

entered into the following agreements as at 3| December 2021:

The management and operation agreement dated |5 November 2021
entered into among Daily Charge Shenzhen, Shenzhen NNK, the New
Registered Shareholders, Ms. Lin and Ms. Chen, pursuant to which Daily
Charge Shenzhen agreed to provide to Shenzhen NNK management and
operation services. Pursuant to the management and operation agreement,
Shenzhen NNK shall pay to Daily Charge Shenzhen a service fee that
equals to 100% of the annual revenue of Shenzhen NNK after deducting
costs and expenses (except the service fee) incurred during the course of
management and operation of Shenzhen NNK and any taxes, the prior-year
loss (if any) and contribution of social insurance and housing provident fund
by Shenzhen NNK in any given year. In addition, Daily Charge Shenzhen may
at its absolute discretion adjust the service fee or agree to any postponed
payment so as to avoid any financial difficulty of either Shenzhen NNK or

itself.

The exclusive option agreement dated |5 November 2021 entered into
among Daily Charge Shenzhen, Shenzhen NNK and the New Registered
Shareholders, Ms. Lin and Ms. Chen, pursuant to which the New Registered
Shareholders irrevocably and unconditionally granted an exclusive option
to Daily Charge Shenzhen which entitles Daily Charge Shenzhen to elect
to purchase, when permitted by the then applicable PRC laws, all or any
part of the equity interests in Shenzhen NNK from the New Registered
Shareholders itself or through its designated person(s). Such designated
person(s) shall be appointed by Daily Charge Shenzhen in its sole discretion.
The transfer price of the relevant equity interests shall be the minimum
purchase price permitted under the PRC law, and the New Registered
Shareholders have undertaken to retum in full the consideration received in

relation to such transfer of equity interests to Daily Charge Shenzhen.
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The entrustment agreement dated 15 November 2021 entered into among
Daily Charge Shenzhen, Shenzhen NNK;, the New Registered Shareholders.
Ms. Lin and Ms. Chen, with an annexure of the power of attorney dated 15
November 2021 executed by each of the New Registered Shareholders in
favour of Daily Charge Shenzhen and/or its designated person(s). Pursuant
to the entrustment agreement and the powers of attorney annexed
thereto, each of the New Registered Shareholders. Ms. Lin and Ms. Chen
irrevocably agreed to authorize Daily Charge Shenzhen or its designated
person(s) to exercise all of his rights and powers as shareholder of Shenzhen
NNK; including the rights to convene and attend shareholders” meetings,
to exercise voting rights in shareholders’ meetings, to appoint and dismiss
directors and supervisors, to decide on any acquisition or disposal of the
New Registered Shareholders', Ms Lin's and/or Ms. Chen’s equity interest in
Shenzhen NNK or the winding-up or dissolution of Shenzhen NNK, to file
documents with relevant government authorities or regulatory bodies, and
to exercise such other shareholders' rights as stipulated under the articles of

association of Shenzhen NNK.

The equity pledge agreement dated |5 November 2021 entered into
among Daily Charge Shenzhen, Shenzhen NNK and the New Registered
Shareholders, pursuant to which the New Registered Shareholders agreed
to pledge all of their respective equity interests in Shenzhen NNK to
Daily Charge Shenzhen to secure performance of all their obligations and
the obligations of Shenzhen NNK under the management and operation
agreement, the exclusive option agreement and the entrustment agreement
underlying the New Contractual Arrangements. Under the equity pledge
agreement, if Shenzhen NNK declares any dividends during the term of
the pledge, Daily Charge Shenzhen is entitled to receive all dividends or
other income arising from the pledged equity interests, if any. If any of the
New Registered Shareholders or Shenzhen NNK breaches or fails to fulfil
the obligations under any of the aforementioned agreements, Daily Charge
Shenzhen, as the pledgee, will be entitled to dispose of the pledged equity

interests, entirely or partially.
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5. The exclusive intellectual property purchase option agreement dated |5
November 2021 entered into between Shenzhen NNK and Daily Charge
Shenzhen, pursuant to which Shenzhen NNK agreed to irrevocably and
unconditionally grant an exclusive option to Daily Charge Shenzhen to
purchase certain of Shenzhen NNK's intellectual properties, including but not
limited to trademarks, patents, domain names and copyright and whether
registered or unregistered, entirely or partially, at the minimum purchase

price permitted by the PRC laws and regulations.

Spring Harbour is a substantial shareholder of the Company and Ms. Lam Ching
Wan is the ultimate beneficial owner of Spring Harbour. Given Ms. Lin, who
entered into the New Contractual Arrangements as one of the New Registered
Shareholders, is the sister-in-law and accordingly an associate of Ms. Lam Ching
Wan, Ms. Lin is a connected person of the Company under Chapter [4A of the
Listing Rules. As Shenzhen Haimeng is a majority-controlled company held by Ms.
Lin, Shenzhen Haimeng is also deemed to be a connected person of the Company
under Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules. Meanwhile, the other three New
Registered Shareholders, Mr. Huang Junmou, Mr. Li Xiangcheng and Mr. Huang
Shaowu, remain as the nominal shareholders of Shenzhen NNK under the New

Contract Arrangements and as connected persons of the Company.

Apart from the above, there was no new contractual arrangements entered into,
renewed or reproduced between the Group and the PRC Operational Entity
during the year ended 3| December 2022. There was no material change in the
Existing Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances during the period
from | January 2021 to 14 November 2021 and there was no material change
in the New Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances during the
period from |5 November 2021 to 31 December 2022. None of the contracts
mentioned above has been unwound during the year ended 31 December 2022 as
none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of the contracts under the Existing

Contractual Arrangements and New Contractual Arrangements has been removed.
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Set out below are certain key financial information of Shenzhen NNK as prepared
in accordance with the PRC accounting standards during the year ended 3|
December 2022:
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Year ended

31 December
2022

BE
—BCCE
+=ZA=1+—H
JI:3: 5
RMB’000
ARBTR

53

Revenue 1

BE

Total assets 1%

/

86,655
506,599

The Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are of the view
that the Existing Contractual Arrangements and New Contractual Arrangements
are (i) fundamental to the Group's legal structure and business operations; and (ii)
entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, on normal
commercial terms, fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a

whole,

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 26 November 2021 for

further details of the New Contractual Arrangements.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements prescribed in
Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules with respect to the continuing connected

transactions of the Group.

Waiver from Stock Exchange and Annual Renew

The Stock Exchange has granted a waiver from strict compliance with (i) the
announcement, circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules; (ii) the requirement of setting a maximum aggregate
annual value, i.e. an annual cap, for the fees payable to Daily Charge Shenzhen under
the Existing Contractual Arrangements and New Contractual Arrangements; and (i)
the requirement of limiting the term of the Existing Contractual Arrangements and New
Contractual Arrangements to three years or less, for so long as the Shares are listed on
the Stock Exchange subject to certain conditions as disclosed on pages 204 to 205 of the

Prospectus.
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RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE NEW CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
AND THE ACTIONS TAKEN BY THE COMPANY TO MITIGATE THE

RISKS

Risk associated with the New Contractual Arrangements

BHENZHEHENER

B ENRHEHENEBRRADTR
A3 1R By T BREN O $E e

Mitigation actions taken by the Company

A RAERBANERE R

If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish the
structure for operating the Company's business in the PRC do not
comply with the PRC laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, the Company could be subject to
severe penalties or be forced to relinquish the Company's interests in
those operations.

WP ERARRRYARREFREEXEORBNRENTS
REDERER - I FEARERBRRAMNE - AREH

XA BRERTSERERN ARG AER

The Company's New Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective
in providing operational control as direct ownership and the Company's
PRC Operating Entity or its shareholders may fail to perform their

obligations under the Company's New Contractual Arrangements.

ARBHFE ORI NN E R R AR RURHE S 1S
BARBENPRLEEERIERRATERARITRENE LB
ARRHETHEE -
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The Directors will closely monitor the latest development of the
existing or future applicable PRC laws or regulations (such as Foreign
Investment Law), and will take measures to ensure that the Company
is under the control of the PRC investors so as to comply with

relevant rules and regulations in the PRC.
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According to the entrustment agreement and powers of attorney,
equity pledge agreement and the management and operation
agreement, the arbitration tribunal may decide compensation for
the equity interests or property ownership of the PRC Operating
Entity or their shareholders, decide enforceable remedy or demand
a bankrupt on the PRC Operating Entity or their shareholders for
relevant business or enforceable asset transfer. Any party is entitled to
request the competent court to execute the arbitration award when
it comes into effect.
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Risk associated with the New Contractual Arrangements

BHENZHEHENER
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Mitigation actions taken by the Company

AR PRI R R i

The Company may lose the ability to use assets held by its PRC
Operating Entity that are material to the operation of the Company's
business if the Company's PRC Operating Entity declares bankruptcy or

becomes subject to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

WMARRNPREEERSMhRENTRRAIZRER - AKX
AR RELZERTELEERIEMEANRRBEENSE
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The Company's New Contractual Arrangements may be subject to
scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities and additional taxes may be imposed.
A finding that the Company owes additional taxes could substantially

reduce the Company's net income and the value of the investment.

FEM B R LB E AR BN SO L HE KA e IS
o WERARBEREIMNR - BIRTBERBR D AR HRA
FRENRAEE-

Pursuant to the exclusive option agreements, in the event of a
mandatory liquidation required by the laws of PRC, the New
Registered Shareholders irrevocably and unconditionally granted
an exclusive option to Daily Charge Shenzhen which entitles Daily
Charge Shenzhen to elect to purchase, when permitted by the then
applicable PRC laws, all or any part of the equity interests in Shenzhen
NNK from the New Registered Shareholders itself or through its
designated person(s). Such designated person(s) shall be appointed
by Daily Charge Shenzhen in its sole discretion. The transfer price
of the relevant equity interests shall be the minimum purchase price
permitted under PRC laws and the New Registered Shareholders
have undertaken to return in full the consideration received in relation
to such transfer of equity interests to Daily Charge Shenzhen.
BREBRERESR - WPBEZRBREBHEE - HEDHER
PRI R BRI R T AR R BRERE - BT RX
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BBHETEA TR ECRRBE R FF RN LT
DIHE - ZHEEALTHARKARBRY 2 EREETE - 86
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Having considered (i) the tax compliance certificate issued by
the relevant tax authorities; and (ii) that the Company has not
encountered any interference or encumbrances from any PRC tax
authority or other government authorities to the New Contractual
Arrangements, the Directors are of the view that the New
Contractual Arrangements are not likely to be challenged by the PRC
tax authority and other government authorities.
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Risk associated with the New Contractual Arrangements

BHENZHEHENER

Mitigation actions taken by the Company

AR PRI R R i

The shareholders of the Company's PRC Operating Entity may have
conflicts of interest with the Company, which may materially and
adversely affect the Company's business.
AREPERLERORRAGLBANTEMNEER - Erlaelt
ARARINEBERBATFTE

100 NNK Group Limited Annual Report 2022

@)

(d)

The independent non-executive Directors will review, on an
annual basis, the compliance with and enforcement of the
Non-Competition Deed that the Company entered into with
the Relevant Shareholders on 23 September 2015;

BUFKTEEREFER AR RAABREREN T~
AFNAZ T =RV THEFRENET RATER |

each of the Relevant Shareholders undertakes to provide
all information necessary for the annual review by the
independent non-executive Directors and professional advisors
of the Company with regard to the compliance with and
enforcement of the Non-Competition Deed;
ARRREBFGRRUEBUFNTEENARAIRE
BRI HFRBETIATERETFEENMEE
VEREPTHER ;

each of the Relevant Shareholders will disclose decisions
on matters reviewed by our independent non-executive
Directors of the Company related to the compliance with and
enforcement of the Non-Competition Deed in the annual
report of, or by way of announcement; and
FARREERRFERIUNAEAABRBELIFNTE
EMEHNEMETRATIRFRENFTEMEL AR
R

the Relevant Shareholders will make an annual confirmation on
compliance with their undertaking under the Non-competition
Deed in the report of the directors in Company's annual
report.
AREBRRENARAFRAEZERETRETERS
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Risk associated with the New Contractual Arrangements

BHENZHEHENER
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Mitigation actions taken by the Company

AR PRI R R i

The New Contractual Arrangements between the Company's WFOE
and the Company's PRC Operating Entity may subject the Group to
increased income tax due to the different income tax rates applicable
to the Company's WFOE and the PRC Operating Entity and adversely

affect the Company's results of operations.

ARERARARASNEBECE R TREEERNIERNER
EEE  ARARINEBECKEADANTEELERE ZAR
FEORABEEREBMAEHE ML HRARNEEREE
KM E -

The Company conducts its business operation in the PRC through its
PRC Operating Entity by way of the New Contractual Arrangements,
but certain terms of the New Contractual Arrangements may not be

enforceable under PRC law.

ARREBTREEERUMANLHN T AETERARREZ
& R ORIENE TSR BRI RIE BDER R HIBIT

The WFOE was accredited as a software enterprise in January 2016
and therefore is entitled to an income tax exemption for two years
starting from the first profitable year and an income tax rate of 12.5%
after a 50% reduction for the subsequent three years. From 2021
onward, the WFOE will be subjected to an income tax rate of 25%,
which will be the same as the income tax rate applicable to the PRC
Operating Entity.
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The New Contractual Arrangements contain provisions to the effect
that the arbitral body may award remedies over the shares and/or
assets of the Company's PRC Operating Entity, injunctive relief and/
or assets of the Company's PRC Operating Entity. These agreements
also contain provisions to the effect that courts of competent
jurisdictions are empowered to grant interim remedies in support of
the arbitration pending the formation of an arbitral tribunal. Any party
is entitled to request the competent court to execute the arbitration
award when it comes into effect.
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Risk associated with the New Contractual Arrangements

BHENZHEHENER

Mitigation actions taken by the Company

AR PRI R R i

If the Company exercises the option to acquire equity ownership of the

PRC Operating Entity, the ownership transfer must be approved or filed

with PRC governmental authorities and is subject to taxation, which may

result in substantial costs.
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Pursuant to the New Contractual Arrangements, Daily Charge
Shenzhen (or its designee) has the exclusive right to purchase all or
any part of the equity interests in the Company's PRC Operating
Entity from the respective shareholders for the minimum price
permitted under the then applicable PRC laws. The equity interest
transfer is subject to the approval from or filings with Ministry of
Commerce of the PRC (the “MOFCOM"), Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology of PRC (the “MIIT") and/or their local
competent branches. According to the exclusive option agreement,
the transfer price of the relevant equity interests shall be the minimum
purchase price permitted under PRC law and the New Registered
Shareholders have undertaken to return in full the consideration
received in relation to such transfer of equity interests to Daily
Charge Shenzhen. In addition, the equity interest transfer price may
be subject to review and tax adjustment by the relevant tax authority.
The shareholders of the Company's PRC Operating Entity will be
subject to PRC individual income tax on the difference between the
equity interest transfer price and the then current registered capital
of the Company's PRC Operating Entity. The shareholders of the
Company's PRC Operating Entity will pay, after deducting any such
tax, the remaining amount to Daily Charge Shenzhen under the New
Contractual Arrangements. The amount to be received by Daily
Charge Shenzhen may also be subject to enterprise income tax.
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For details of the risks associated with the New Contractual Arrangements, please
refer to the section headed “RISKS RELATING TO THE NEW CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS" in the Company's announcement dated 26 November 2021.

(b)

Continuing Connected Transactions — The Framework Agreement

On 14 December 2021, the Company and the Yinsheng Communication Company
Limited (a connected supplier of the Company) (the “Connected Supplier”)
entered into a framework agreement in relation to the purchase of the mobile
top-up credits and mobile data usage top-up credits (the “Products”) by the
Company and supply of the Products by the Connected Supplier (the “Framework
Agreement”). The annual caps in respect of the Framework Agreement for the
period from 26 October 2021 to 3| December 2021 and each of the two financial
years ending 3| December 2022 and 2023 are RMBI20 million, RMB700 million
and RMB864 million respectively. The independent shareholders of the Company
had approved the proposed annual caps for the period from 26 October 2021
to 31 December 2021 and each of the two financial years ending 31 December
2022 and 2023 in respect of the continuing connected transactions pursuant to the
Framework Agreement at the extraordinary general meeting held on 10 February

2022.
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In view of the growth in demand for the Products under the Framework
Agreement as a result of the growth in business of the Group, the Board expects
that the original annual caps under the Framework Agreement will be insufficient
for the years ending 31 December 2022 and 2023. Therefore, on 26 May 2022,
the Company and the Connected Supplier entered into the Supplemental
Framework Agreement to revise the original annual caps to the proposed revised
annual caps and to extend the Framework Agreement for one year. The proposed
revised annual caps in respect of the Supplemental Framework Agreement for the
three financial years ending 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 are RMB1,500
million, RMB2,000 million and RMB2,400 million respectively. The independent
shareholders of the Company had approved the proposed revised annual caps for
the three financial years ending 3| December 2022, 2023 and 2024 in respect of
the continuing connected transactions pursuant to the Supplemental Framework

Agreement at the extraordinary general meeting held on 22 August 2022.

The Connected Supplier, being a company indirectly controlled by the sibling of Ms.
Lam Ching Wan who is the substantial shareholder of the Company, is a connected

person of the Company under the Listing Rules.
Please refer to the announcements dated 14 December 2021 and 26 May 2022

and the circulars dated 14 January 2022 and 3 August 2022 of the Company for

details.
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The following table sets out the relevant annual cap and the actual transaction
amounts of continuing connected transactions of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2022.
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Transactions For the year ended 31 December 2022
S
% t-RA=t—-HLFE
Actual Amount
Annual Cap for the period
FELR HHERER
(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(AR®FR) (AR¥TR)
Continuing Connected Transactions under HEZR i K SRR 2R 1 8 TR T HOH548 1,500,000 992,750
The Framework Agreement and BERH

the Supplemental Framework Agreement

Pursuant to Rule 14A55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed the continuing connected transactions under the Existing Contractual
Arrangements, New Contractual Arrangements, the Framework Agreement and the
Supplemental Framework Agreement for the year ended 3| December 2022 and

confirmed that these continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of the business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better;

(i) in accordance with the relevant arrangements/agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the

Shareholders as a whole; and

(iv)  are subject to interal control procedures established by the Company which are

sufficient and effective.
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The independent non-executive Directors have also confirmed that (i) the transactions
carried out during the year ended 31 December 2022 have been entered into in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the Existing Contractual Arrangements and
New Contractual Arrangement respectively have been operated so that the revenue
generated by the Company's Operating Entity has been substantially retained by Daily
Charge Shenzhen; (ii) no dividends or other distributions have been made by the
Company's PRC Operating Entity to the holders of its equity interests which are not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group; and (iii) apart from the
New Contractual Arrangements, there were no new contracts entered into, renewed or
reproduced between the Group and the PRC Operating Entity during the year ended 3|
December 2022.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board has engaged the auditor of the
Company to carry out procedures in relation to the Existing Contractual Arrangements,
the New Contractual Arrangements, the Framework Agreement the Supplemental
Framework Agreement in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Based on the work performed, the

auditors of the Company have provided a letter to the Board confirming that:

(i) nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditors of the Company
to believe that the Existing Contractual Arrangements, the New Contractual
Arrangements, the Framework Agreement and the Supplemental Framework

Agreement have not been approved by the Board;

(i) nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditors of the Company
to believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements under the Existing Contractual
Arrangements, the New Contractual Arrangements, the Framework Agreement

and the Supplemental Framework Agreement governing such transactions;
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(i

nothing has come to their attention that caused the auditors of the Company to
believe that dividends or other distributions have been made by Shenzhen NNK to

their equity interest holders;

for transactions involving the receipt of goods or services by the Group, nothing has
come to their attention that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the

intemal and pricing policies of the Group; and

with respect to the aggregate amount of the continuing connected transactions set
out above in relation to the the Supplemental Framework Agreement, nothing has
come to their attention that causes the auditors of the Company to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions have exceeded the revised annual

cap disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 26 May 2022.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions undertaken in the normal course of business

are set out in note 30 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Other than those

transactions disclosed under the section headed “Connected Transactions” above, none

of them constitutes a connected transaction required for disclosure under Chapter 14A of

the Listing Rules.

The related party transactions mentioned in note 30 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements are not continuing connected transactions which are subject to annual

reporting requirements under Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules, hence there is no

disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules for such

transactions.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

Environmental Protection

As a specialized online transaction service provider, the Group's business does not involve
in production-related air, water and land pollutions which are regulated by the applicable
laws and regulations in the PRC. No hazardous waste was produced by the Group in its

course of business in year ended 3| December 2022.

The Group complies with the relevant laws and regulations in environmental protection
and impact on the environment has always been a major focus of the Group. The
conscientious use of resources and adoption of best practices across the Group's business
operation underlies its commitment to protect the environment. The Group encourages
environmental protection and promotes awareness towards environmental protection to
the employees. The Group encourages all employees to be eco-friendly and participate in
energy and resources saving, such as encouraging duplex printing and reuse of single-sided
printed papers, saving water and electricity to reduce energy consumption. The Group will
continuously make efforts to put emphasis on environmental protection and sustainable

development.

Comepliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group persists in maintaining good corporate governance and operating in
compliance with the laws and integrity through abidance by relevant laws and regulations,
industry regulations and business ethics. For the year ended 31 December 2022 and up
to the date of this annual report, the Group had not been and were not a party to any
material legal, arbitral or administrative proceedings, and the Group was not aware of any
pending or threatened legal, arbitral or administrative proceedings against the Group or
any of the Directors which could have a material adverse effect on the Group's operations

or financial condition.
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Workplace Quality

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does not discriminate on the basis
of personal characteristics. The Group has employee handbooks outlining terms and
conditions of employment, expectations for employees' conduct and behavior, employees'
rights and benefits. The Group also establishes and implements policies that promote a

harmony and respectful workplace.

The Group believes that employees are the valuable assets of an enterprise and regards
human resources as its corporate wealth. The Group provides on-the-job training and
development opportunities to enhance its employees’ career progression. Through
different trainings, staff's professional knowledge in corporate operations, occupational and
management skills are enhanced. The Group has also organized wide range of activities for
employees, such as outings, professional skills sharing class and New Year celebration to

promote staff relationship and physical fitness.

Health and Safety

The Group prides itself on providing a safe, effective and congenial work environment.
Adequate arrangements, trainings and guidelines are implemented to ensure the working
environment is healthy and safe. The Group prioritizes the health and well-being of staff.
In order to provide employees with adequate medical coverage, staff are entitled to free

medical check-ups, in addition to medical insurance required by laws.

Training and Development

The Group is committed to the professional and personal development and growth of all
employees and considers training and development a continual process. Training courses
are provided to help employees develop and maintain consistency, proficiency and
professionalism. Structured training programs including courses, seminars and workshops
are offered to staff at all levels with the objective of grooming and unleashing their full
potential, organizational development and facilitating team synergies. Employees are
encouraged to take advantage of these programs to equip themselves with the skills and

knowledge for expanded career opportunities within the Group.
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Commitment to Quality

The Group has made relentless efforts in delivering premium customer experience
with superior mobile top-up services. The staff have an acute judgment on market and
customers’ needs. Therefore, customer requests are promptly satisfied and steered
through establishing various channels to foster two-way communication. With a proactive
approach on continuous improvement in customer experience, the Board believes that

the Group can acquire competitive advantages in its business operation.

Management of Supply Chain

The Group adheres to open, fair and transparent criteria in selecting suppliers, and has
established a supplier evaluation system in terms of price, quality, cost, delivery and after-
sales service. The Group will carry out long-term quality monitoring and conduct regular
reviews on all suppliers as well as causal examination on different suppliers to ensure

quality supplies and services.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate governance and
has complied with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. Principal
corporate govermance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate

Governance Report on pages 25 to 48 contained in this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE PROVISIONS

The Articles provides that every director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him/her as a
director of the Company in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which

judgment is given in his favour, or in which he or she is acquitted.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and costs associated with

defending any proceeding which may be brought against the Directors.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES
During the year ended 31 December 2022, neither the Company nor any of its

subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision regarding pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws of the
Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis

to existing Shareholders.

BANK LOANS
Al the bank loans of the Group are repayable on demand or within one year. Details
of the bank loans of the Group as at 31 December 2022 are set out in note 24 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements.

DONATION
The Group had made a donation of RMBI10,000 during the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: Nil).

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save for the Scheme of the Company as set out in this annual report, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 3|

December 2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the

year ended 31 December 2022.
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
As at the date of this annual report, there has been no change to the information of the
Directors and chief executives which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing

Rules.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the Shareholders by
reason of their holding of the Shares. If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights in

relation to the shares of the Company, they are advised to consult an expert.

REVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed the auditing, internal control and financial reporting matter,
including the review of the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022. The Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 3|
December 2022 have been audited by the Company's external auditors, Deloitte Touche

Tohmatsu.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group in the past five financial

years is set out on page 208 of this annual report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
There were no significant events that may affect the business operation and/or the

financial position of the Group subsequent to 31 December 2022.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company's Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 7 January
2016 and the Company raised net proceeds (after the exercise of the over-allotment
option and after deducting the underwriting fees, commissions and other expenses
payable by the Company in connection with the global offering of the Company) of
approximately HK$52.0 million. The utilisation of the net proceeds was in accordance
with the proposed allocation as set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of

Proceeds” in the Prospectus,

As at 31 December 2021, the unutilised amount of the net proceeds was approximately
HK$7.8 million in which the intended use was related to the potential acquisitions of
businesses and assets that are complementary to the Group's business and operations, or
forming strategic alliance with value chain partners. During the vear ended 3| December
2022, the Group has not utilised such net proceeds. As the Group had not identified,
committed to or entered into negotiations with any acquisition targets or value chain

partners, the Group has no specific expected timeframe for fully utilising such proceeds.

SUFFICIENT PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the public float as required by the Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual
report.
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AUDITOR

There has been no change of the Independent Auditor in the past three years.
The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 3| December 2022 have

been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu which will retire, and, being eligible, offer

themselves for re-appointment at the AGM.

For and on behalf of the Board
Huang Junmou

Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the shareholders of NNK Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of NNK Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group"”) set out on
pages 121 to 207, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 3| December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (*HKSAs")
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code"), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
W

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

BRETEE

Revenue recognition of mobile top-up service

F a4 BT (B R TS W it a7

During the year, the majority of the Group's revenue was
contributed from the mobile top-up service. We identified
the revenue recognition of mobile top-up service as a key
audit matter due to its significance to the consolidated
financial statements. The revenue was approximately
RMB84 million for the year ended 31 December 2022,
representing 97% of the Group's revenue.

FRN - BEEERBHWRKE FHREEFTERS -
AIRR/RTHRFBEAERGUAERSBEREAS
H - REASHEHSRAMEHRRMEEREN - BE-
T _F+ A=t HULEFEMNRSHORARKS
BET  HEEBEWRER97% -

Once a mobile top-up request from a mobile subscriber
was placed, the request would be automatically transferred
from the channel of customer to the 007ka Top-up
Platform (the “‘System").
FHRAFP—BTEFTHBEREB K  FLERERP
REBPEBE07AERETS ([RE]D) -

All the top-up transactions were generated and recorded

in the System automatically.

FIEREFRERXZR RGN B BEK ML -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ATETEERRETEENS R

Our procedures in relation to the revenue recognition of mobile top-

up service included:

AITERFTREETERG B aERNEF B

i

i)

Evaluating the effectiveness of internal controls over the
revenue recognition process in respect of mobile top-up service
and the System;
HFHEEFTERE M AR BRER A EE SR
HEITRHE

Confirming with the major channels of customer of the Group
for the transaction amounts of mobile top-up service;
RFRFEBRERBRXZERE EEETI2EFPRELE
TTHERR. -

Involving our internal information technology specialists in
testing the validity and accuracy of the mobile top-up request
received by the Group recognised in the System and its
authentication process on security validation check; and
FRATABERRMBZAARGAERN EEEE
ENTFHEEFTEERNEREFERE AR Z 2 RE R
BHREBE &

Involving our internal information technology specialists
to perform various data analysis on the completeness of
transaction record and the reasonableness of transaction
pattern.
BRATABERRMERE R LHETEE MR FHEN
AR ETZIRERDMN -



Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include

the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no

realistic altermnative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial

reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
W

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or

the override of internal control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

0 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors” use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concem. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events

or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concem.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner

that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit

opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,

the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied

with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with

them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
W

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor's report is

Chung Chi Man.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

31 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GREEREMEZEKRER

fFor The Year Ended 3/ December 2022
BE-F——4f—A=1—HIIFE

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2022 31/12/2021
SES BZE
—E-CE —E-—F
+=ZRA=t—-H +ZA=+—H
LFE FE
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
FiE ARBTF T ARBTT
Revenue Yo 6 86,655 90,622
Less: Tax surcharge B N (290) (288)
Cost of revenue LEnID® (13,887) (14,783)
Gross profit E7 72,478 75,551
Other income and expenses HWA R 8 9,741 8,654
Distribution and selling expenses DIHRIHERX (7,487) (9,944)
Administrative expenses THRX (30,177) (31,178)
Research and development expenses MEFEx (7,298) (8,589)
Finance costs BB 9 (1,095) (2457)
Profit before tax BRI AT 4 1 10 36,162 32,037
Income tax expense PrEBA< I (8,897) (5,559)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year RRBIEAR AR F RN R
attributable to owners of the Company PHEKEAE 27,265 26478
Eamings per share FREF 14
— Basic (RMB cents) - ZNOUN ) 6.57 638
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

a BRI R

At 3 December 2022
RCE- A f=+—H

31/12/2022 31/12/2021
—E-C —E-—F
+=ZA=+—-H +=-A=+—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B s AR%ETR ARETF T
Non-current Assets FRBEE

Property, plant and equipment M - BWERRE 15 3,723 1,947
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 2,034 1,553
Rental deposits HER® 155 262
Trade receivables B 5 rEUGRIE |8 9,047 -
Deferred tax assets RLERIEEE 25 85 =
15,044 3,762

Current Assets RBEE
Inventories "E 17 9,430 23,562
Trade receivables B 5 WA 8 234,383 168,514
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables ANFIE - ke REMEKIE 19 151,525 151,332
Tax recoverable AR ERHIE = 152
Bank balances and cash RITEESR IR S 20 96,217 32,520
491,555 376,080

Current Liabilities RBEE
Trade payables g HENFIA 21 19,771 21,176
Other payables H ot fEf501A 0 60,177 6198
Tax liabilities HMIEARE 1,578 5
Lease liabilities ME&E 23 635 1,505
Borrowings a5 24 150,000 50,000
232,161 134,677
Net Current Assets mEBEERE 259,394 241,403
Total Assets less Current Liabilities BEERTBDAE 274,438 245,165
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A BRI R

At 3/ December 2022
RoB-—#+-A=+-H

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

—E-C —E-—F
+=A=+-R t-A=+-A

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

Pt AR®T R ARETT

Non-current Liabilities FRBERE

Lease liabilities HEAR 23 1,559 201

Deferred tax liabilities BRLERIEEE 25 9,930 9,280
11,489 9481

Net Assets BEFE 262,949 235,684

Capital and Reserves B REE

Share capital IR 26 27,221 27221

Reserves s 235,728 208,463

Total Equity s 262,949 235,684

The consolidated financial statements on pages |21 to 207 were approved and authorised FNIRTENFEHBHRREHESTGN

for issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2023 and are signed on its behalf by: CECCF-A=TREREETE
WA FIALTHR AR

Huang Junmou Zhou Jinhuang

BhHR AEeE

Executive Director and Chairman Executive Director

HITEERTE HiTEE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERRER

For the year ended 3/ December 2022

HE-F--

Attributable to owners of the Company
LN 2PN

Capital  Statutory Retained

Share Share
capital premium
BE  ROEE

RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL ARBTR

reserve reserves earnings Total
BXfglE LERKE  RERA #st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBMTRT ARMTRT ARMTR
(Note i) (Note ii)
(&R (&R

At | January 2021 RZZE=—F—H—H 27221 38037
Profit and total comprehensive FERHEN R ERREE

income for the year = =

46,510 10,340 87,098 209,206

= = 26478 26,478

At 3| December 2021 RZZ--F+-A=+—-H 272l 38,037
Profit and total comprehensive ENEFREERRER

income for the year - -

46,510 10340 113576 235,684

= = 27,265 27,265

At 31 December 2022 R-E-—F+-A=+—H 27221 38,037 46510 10,340 140,841 262949
Notes: Bz
0) The amounts of capital reserve mainly include: (i) ERHRHoEIERE

124

(@

an amount of RMB25,510,000 representing the differences between the consideration
received on disposal of the entire equity interests in Shenzhen Shenzhou Tongfu
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhou Tongfu”) and Chengdu Shenzhou Tongfu
Technology Co, Ltd. (“Chengdu Tongfu"), subsidiaries of the Company, to a related
company and Mr. Huang Junmou, Mr. Yang Hua, Mr. Li Xiangcheng, Mr. Xu Xinhua
and Mr. Huang Shaowu, and the carrying amounts of the net assets of Shenzhou
Tongfu and Chengdu Tongfu; and

an amount of RMB20,680,000 representing the difference between the nominal value
of the share capital issued by the Company and the registered capital of a subsidiary
acquired by the Company upon a corporate reorganisation for the purpose of listing
of the shares of the Company on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

As stipulated by the relevant laws in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the PRC
subsidiaries are required to maintain a statutory reserve fund. The minimum transfer to

statutory reserves is 10% of profit after tax of the PRC subsidiaries according to the PRC

subsidiaries’ statutory financial statements. No appropriation is required if the balance of the

statutory reserves has reached 50% of the registered capital of the PRC subsidiaries. The

statutory reserves can be used to make up losses or for conversion into capital.

NNK Group Limited Annual Report 2022

@@ EFEARKE25510,0007T @ BH—R
B AR REBREE - HELE -
TEREE  THERERERREL
HE B BB A BRI TR
MREEERAR ([HMNBA]) kK
Wi MNBRRERERAR ([ REBE
1) B2 AP AR AT UCER A R (B ER4e
BN RKBENNFEERETEMHE
RZERE: &

b) EBARE20680,0007T  ER AR
ARRHIEBEBHERHTARAA
(TBXAT]) Emmg i TAREREAR
NEEBITRAEERADAMEA
B — B A A E Az e =
8o

REARLME ([FE ) BEERTHA - F
BEfBARRER —REERES - BBE
EERBORESRARETEMBEARN
EEMB IR E A BB R R HRRBA
M EY 10% © fHATE R EeET BB A
Al EARINS0% - RIBAELERE © AE
REITARBRHERSERAER -



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
B E - Ff A= —HIEE

Year ended Year ended
31/1212022 31/1212021
SES BZE
—E-CF —E-—F
+t=A=+-B +ZA=+—H
HEE IHFE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTF T ARBTT
(Note)
(FfH=E)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REED
Profit before tax BRB AL A 36,162 32,037
Adjustments for: -
Finance costs MBAA 1,095 2457
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREEENE 1,421 1,385
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BERREBITE 1,058 866
Loss on written off/disposal of property, M HEWE - BER
plant and equipment RiEERE 222 67
Interest income FEHA (1,965) (1,014)
Unrealised net exchange loss RERINEBEFR (638) (289)
Gain on early termination of leases RERIEHE RS (55) =
Recognition of (reversal of) impairment loss R () B S RWRIE
in respect of trade receivables REEE 168 61
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital LEECEPHLETENE 37,468 35448
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERD () 14,132 (8,763)
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables B S RENGRIE (55) B (75,084) 20,523
Increase in prepayments, deposits and ANFIE - ke MEMENKEIE
other receivables 120 (193) (113,149)
(Decrease) increase in trade payables B HREMFIE ORd) 18 (1,405) 2,702
Decrease in other payables Hip s mRm (1,804) (2,345)
Cash used in operations KEEEMARE (26,886) (65,584)
Income tax paid BERFAEH (6,617) (1,460)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETEFMARS TR (33,503) (67,044)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Withdrawal of structured deposits MEHARE I 1,011,000 1,021,120
Interest received PR 1,965 1,014
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AN N g —1
FmERERER
For the year ended 3/ December 2022
BE-F_—#1_A=1—HIFE

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2022 31/12/2021
SES BZE
—E-CE —E-—F
t=A=+-R tZA=1—H
LFE FE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTF T ARBTT
(Note)
GED
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEWE - BFERREMETIE 30 7
Placement of structured deposits FrE BTN (1,011,000) (1,021,120)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE  BEK&E (3,086) (1,397)
Refund (payment) of rental deposits BR (X)) HERS 107 (77)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REAZBFRAREFE (984) (153)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES RMEEE
New bank loans raised FLRITER 110,000 -
Repayments of borrowings BERER (50,000) -
Interest paid ERFE (1,095) (2457)
Repayment of leases liabilities EEREAE (1,359) (1,394)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES ~ BEEEFTS (FiH) B&FHE 57,546 (3,851)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ReRReFEYILN R ) F58 23,059 (71,348)
Cash and cash equivalents at | January R—A—ANReIKREEFEY (17,480) 53,579
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SNERE KB B E 638 289
Cash and cash equivalents at 3| December, RT_A=t—HNHEER
represented by: ReEEY k- 6,217 (17,480)
Bank balances and cash RITEHREIA S 96,217 32,520
Bank overdraft BTEX (90,000) (50,000)
6217 (17,480)

Note:

b

AR AEEERERARTEXBNASERESE
BHERE D - Rt BB FERBRRITEX
ARENRE SEWETRE -

The comparative figures have been adjusted by including bank overdraft as cash and cash
equivalents as the management of the Group considers the bank overdraft forms an
integral part of the Group's cash management.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

NNK Group Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The Company's registered
office is located at PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY - 1104, Cayman
Islands. The address of its principal place of business is |3/F, Building C2, Nanshan
iPark, No. 1001 Xueyuan Boulevard, Nanshan District, Shenzhen, the PRC.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activity of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) is provision

of mobile top-up service to mobile subscribers in the PRC.

During the vear, the Group also expanded into two new businesses, namely: (i)
the e-commerce operation and dealership business (the "Dealership Business");
and (i) the equipment and information technology procurement business (the
"Telecommunication Equipment Business") through cooperating with its business

partners, i.e. the PRC domestic telecommunication operators.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is

also the functional currency of the Company and each of subsidiaries.

e P AR R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F-—F+-A=1—HIFE

—REHR
FEREEFRAR ([ADR ) RHA
SREEMALARRRERAR - B
BRONELHERXFABRAFTERE
i o ANA B]RE#E FEERIA PO Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KYI-1104,
Cayman Islands © HF 225t Eit &
FELRYI TR LR BRI 1001 57 AL
BECRI3E -

ARBRBREEZERRR] « A7) R EH
BLOR (G A&E ) WEREHKL
MAEFHBERETHESTER
7 o

FR - AEETRBREMBINES - A
(EMBEELHER ([RHEEK])
R MEXBEY (ATBEBEASEEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2022
B2 -E-—ff-A=+—HIFE

128

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RETERUBEEEN(E
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) BEMEREZEN ] NER
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year AEEBHERNKBITEBMBERE
2R

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs RAREE - ARIGATHREK A%
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) BXERSTHHEEe A AE
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group's annual period ([EBEHTMAE]) BH2EEBES
beginning on | January 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial B RE R BB N2 - —
statements: F-A—BERIZENAEEFEH

Amendments to HKFRS 3
BEBIBRELERE35E (BFTAK)
Amendment to HKFRS 16
BERMBHEERF 165% (BRI X)
Amendments to HKAS 16

BB GTERE 165 (BRI )
Amendments to HKAS 37
BER G ERFEI7R (BTA)
Amendments to HKFRSs
BERIBHEER (BFTAK)

DE-GESE

Reference to the Conceptual Framework

BoER 2 et

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021
“EC—FRA=THREECovid- 1912 ELR R
Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use
WE - BE K&k - BEREA K

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

BREAH — BITRHZKAR

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020
“E-\FE_T_TFEEBUBHREEN 2 FREIE

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no RAFERBEE B ENEREER
material impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for the current HAREERAFE FBEFREHNTBAR
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial ARERR /IR EGEMBREM
statements. HEBEITRENEATE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P AR R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F-—F+-A=1—HIFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RETEBUBBREEN(E
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED) B EER]) WER (&)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective ERMEERERNITREBITE SR
B EER
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs AEBEWEREERA TS BMERAK
that have been issued but are not yet effective: ERE A RBIEFT BB R EE
al:

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 and Insurance Contracts'

February 2022 Amendments to HKFRS 17)
BERMBHREENE 758 (BE_Z-TFTAK RREREA

—E- - ANERMBRERENF 175 ER)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint

Venture?

BAMBREENE 105 REBGLER REFRABENARSECEZHANEELESLIE?

52858 (E7]X)
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’®
BEMBRELERE 657 (BFTA) ERERNEERE
Amendments to HKAS | Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and

related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)°

BB GERIFE 5 (BFIA) BREDEARDHIFRBDAREEREEST (ZT-FF) NERBIERD
Amendments to HKAS | Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?®
BB GAERIFE 5 (BFIA) s RENIERB R E
Amendments to HKAS | and Disclosure of Accounting Policies'

HKFRS Practice Statement 2
BAQTENE | KRB BN BREER SHERNEE
BIEREE M UEFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates'

R EIERACHEN) SEHATHER

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction'
BB ERTERF 1258 (BRI X) BE-RFELNEERAEABNETHA'

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2024.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial

statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2022
B2 -E-—ff-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. HEMBRROEREE

STATEMENTS

The mobile top-up service provided by the Group is prohibited and restricted from BEEARBEREMER - REBFATE
foreign investment in the PRC pursuant to the applicable PRC laws and regulations. HEOFHEBTERBETRZELNR
The Group has adopted a series of contracts (the “Structured Contracts”) with SIONEIRE - REBDFEMEZRYITTE
Shenzhen Niannianka Network Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen NNK") and its FREERBFERAR ([FINFEEFR])
registered shareholders to maintain and exercise the control over the operation MEZEGCIRREI B —RIEH ([
of Shenzhen NNK, and to obtain all of its entire economic benefits (the “VIE MEHN])  UEENRTEEFRIEEER
Arrangement”). The Structured Contracts are irrevocable and enable the Group LB ZETRR I - WESHE 2 I
to: Mz ((ENEERRE]) - &B1ES

ARG - WA ALK :

. exercise effective financial and operational control over Shenzhen NNK; . TEEFIFERNERI B K

RETERIE

. exercise equity holders' voting rights of Shenzhen NNK; . TEFRINFFRIEERE AR
e
. receive substantially all economic returns generated by Shenzhen NNK in . ESFNEFREENBAIL D
consideration for the business support, technical and consulting services OEEIR - EAEAREEPTIR M
provided by the Group; EHxIR - Bt KA RE
B
. obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase the entire equity . ESEELKREBERIFEEF
interest in Shenzhen NNK from the registered shareholders; and 2RI BB RIER
K
. obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of Shenzhen NNK from the . BEEDRREEFINFEFEREI
registered shareholders as collateral security for all of Shenzhen NNK due MR R - EERYIFFERIE
to the Group and to secure performance of the registered shareholders' NAREEBRAERENEELS - I
obligations under the Structured Contracts. BRECRREBTREBILS
KTIERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Company does not have any equity interest in Shenzhen NNK. However, as a
result of the Structured Contracts, the Company has power over Shenzhen NNK;
has rights to variable returns from its involvement with Shenzhen NNK and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over Shenzhen NNK and therefore
is considered to have control over Shenzhen NNK. Consequently, the Company
regards Shenzhen NNK as an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary and consolidated
the financial position and results of Shenzhen NNK in the consolidated financial

statements of the Group during both years.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules") and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost
basis at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set

out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in

exchange for goods and services.

e P AR R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F-—F+-A=1—HIFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2022
B2 -E-—ff-A=+—HIFE

132

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 Share-based Payments, leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16"), and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2

Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised
into Level |, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value

measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

J Level | inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical

assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

J Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level I,

that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities (including structured entities) controlled by the Company

and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

S has power over the investee;

S is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the

investee; and

S has the ability to use its power to affect its retums.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three

elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the
subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group

ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries

to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on

consolidation.
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For the year ended 3/ December 2022
HE-F-_F1_A=1—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied,
i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the particular performance

obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or
services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially

the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance

obligation if one of the following criteria is met:
* the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided

by the Group's performance as the Group performs;

S the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer

controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group's performance does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for

performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains

control of the distinct good or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services that the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (“HKFRS 9"). In contrast, a receivable represents the Group's
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before

payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services
to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of

consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are accounted

for and presented on a net basis.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised amount of
consideration for the effects of the time value of money if the timing of payments
agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with a
significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer.
In those circumstances, the contract contains a significant financing component. A
significant financing component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the payment terms agreed

to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of the associated
goods or services is less than one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of

not adjusting the transaction price for any significant financing component.
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For the year ended 3/ December 2022
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Existence of significant financing component (continued)

For contracts where the Group transferred the associated goods or services before
payments from customers in which the Group adjusts for the promised amount
of consideration for significant financing components, the Group applies a discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. The Group recognises interest income
during the period between the payment from customers and the transfer of the

associated goods or services.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the
Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a performance obligation
to provide the specified goods or services itself (ie. the Group is a principal) or
to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the

Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before that

good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the provision
of the specified good or service by another party. In this case, the Group does
not control the specified good or service provided by another party before that
good or service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent,
it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to be

provided by the other party.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the

use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial application
of HKFRS 16 or arising from business combinations, the Group assesses whether
a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will
not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently

changed.
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For the year ended 3/ December 2022
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 4. EBEEHBE (H#)

Leases (continued) HE (&)

The Group as a lessee FEEEREAHA

Short-term leases FEHIHE

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of various AR5 B A2 HIE E TR A 2 e A AR

staff quarters that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement BARB BRI 12EASUATHZIE

date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases BTREEHE WITBEsBEEEE-

are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. REMENHENRERERNRER

EHRRRX

Right-of-use assets RHBEEE

The cost of right-of-use asset includes: FRAEEENKRABEE

+  the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; . MEBBVIHRTENEE

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any . N HEi s 2 A fE B R E{]FE
lease incentives received; ERNF - BRERISERNHEER

B
anyinitial direct costs incurred by the Group; and s AREEENEAVBEEK
7N

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and . REBRBRERBKRIEEEE - Ik
removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is located or BZEEMRMNESSEBAEE
restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and REZHENKBTIREHERTE
conditions of the lease. SKEVARRE R EE A O TR ST o
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and

impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its

estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated

statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered

as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease labilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the
lease liability at the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the

lease is not readily determinable.
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For the year ended 3/ December 2022
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 4. EBEEHBE (H#)

Leases (continued) HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (continued) FEEEREHEA ()

Lease liabilities (continued) HEEE (B)

The lease payments include: MERNHKBE :

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease . BEENR(BREEEETMZR) B
incentives receivable; E{A] FE AR & 528D

*  variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured o HURRBEESAN XA EHEN
using the index or rate as at the commencement date; o st ERE ARG B EE

EEEME ;

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value . FIHBEERTEHAEEES
guarantees; DEESEE

S the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to . HMAEBSERTETEEERE
exercise the option; and B OLEERNTRE K

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the . SR IEAERNE Z (HEE K
Group exercising an option to terminate the lease. RRMAEETHRLAERE

) e

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion PEREE%Z  HEEEREAFEN

and lease payments. HENRIELTRE

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated REBNGAEVBRIRAGZHEAE

statement of financial position. 2 REFER -
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use

one or more underlying assets; and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate
with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the

particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group
remeasures the lease liability, less any lease incentives receivable, based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a

revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified
contract contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract
to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease

component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in
currencies other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies

are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the
retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they arise.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or

sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which

they are incurred.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the
Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be

received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss

in the period in which they become receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research and development activities which is not eligible for

capitalisation is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefits scheme which is classified as
defined contribution plans and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to

the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid as and when employees rendered the services. All
short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS

requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as salaries and

bonus) after deducting any amount already paid.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred

tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit
differs from profit/loss before tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted

or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a

transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and

they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting

period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient

taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences
that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the

reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the
Group recognises the right-of-use assets, and the related lease liabilities, the Group
first determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use

assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease
liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the leasing transaction as
a whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the
lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible

temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to

income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they
relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes. Property,
plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property

assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted

for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the
asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds

and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets to determine whether there
is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order

to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are allocated
to the relevant cash generating units when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group

of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating

unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately

in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or
a group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of financial

position include:

(@)  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits, excluding
bank balances that are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in such

balances no longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally with original
maturity of three months or less), highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for
the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for

investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group's cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-term

borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of
inventories are determined on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all costs necessary to
make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to

make the sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in

the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for
trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS |5 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS
I5"). Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial

assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of
a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying

amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at

amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to

collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at

fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

S the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is

achieved by both selling and collecting contractual cash flows; and

J the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS

3 Business Combinations applies.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial
assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost
of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting

period following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (‘ECL")
model on financial assets (including trade receivables, deposits and other receivables
and bank balances), which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit

risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events
over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (*12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the industry default rates quoted by a credit agent, adjusted
for any factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the

forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables without significant
financing component. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors

with significant balances and/or collectively with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to
I2m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the

likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

()

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue

cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing

whether credit risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial

instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

J significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g.
a significant increase in the credit spread and the credit default swap

prices for the debtor;

0 existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the

debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

J an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor;
0 an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory,

economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results in a

significant decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

(continued)

0;

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes
that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has

reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying

significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For intemal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default
occurs when information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the

Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging

default criterion is more appropriate.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 4, EERHBR(E)
Financial instruments (continued) $MIAHE)
Financial assets (continued) THEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 BB B R A 2 I 9 5 B A BT
(continued) T &R EERE (&)
(i) Credit-impaired financial assets iy FEREEHEE
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a CREEN BN ZESH (Y
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset ZERMEEMNGETRARREERE
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes BRI E)RERESEE
observable data about the following events: HE - eREERFEEREN
EREEEM TSR
B -
+  significant financial difficutty of the issuer or the borrower; - BOARERAMNEKRNS
;
+  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event; . ERAH(WBEROFH
SBEREN)

+  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons - BRANERABEH@EE
relating to the borrower's financial difficulty, having granted to the N BT R B A8 B A 438
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise mmEERAREERA
consider; AT GERBAVEHT

. it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or . R ONCEEACPN T
other financial reorganisation. HinfA =R
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

(continued)

)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating
that the counterparty is in severe financial difficutty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or

loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that

is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate

determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered on a collective
basis taking into consideration internal credit rating information and forward

looking information.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

(continued)

)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following

characteristics when formulating the grouping:

0 Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

0 External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the

constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case

interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables where the corresponding adjustment is recognised

through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to
the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received

and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions

of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets
of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the

Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including trade payables, other payables and bank borrowings are

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group's
obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid

and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described in Note
4, the directors of the Company are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.

Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the

revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving estimations (see
below), that the directors of the Company have made in the process of applying
the Group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the

amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Principal versus agent consideration

In determining whether the revenue of the Group shall be recorded on a net basis
or a gross basis, the Group has made reference to indicators and requirements
stated in HKFRS 15. Determining whether the Group is acting as a principal or an
agent requires judgment and consideration of all relevant facts and circumstances,
and the Group considers itself as having an agency relationship with its customers

by assessing features that are arising from its operation and contractual agreements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Principal versus agent consideration (continued)

For the mobile/mobile data usage top-up services, the performance obligation of
the Group s to arrange the mobile/mobile data usage top-up services of the PRC
telecommunication companies to the mobile subscribers. In this case, the Group
does not control the top-up credits provided by the PRC telecommunication
companies before passing to the mobile subscribers. When the Group satisfies the
performance obligation, the Group recognises revenue in the amount it expects to
be entitled as specified in the contracts, net of costs of mobile/mobile data usage
top-up credits sourced from the PRC telecommunication companies and other

vendors.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group launched the
Telecommunication Equipment Business. The performance obligation of the Group
is to satisfy the needs of end customers of telecommunication operators in the
PRC on provision of telecommunication equipment with specified setting requested
by the end customers. In this case, the Group does not control the equipment
and does not expose to inventory risk. When the Group satisfies the performance
obligation, the Group recognises revenue in the amount specified in the contracts,
net of the costs of telecommunication equipment, as well as the installation costs

incurred for the end customers of the telecommunication operators.

In addition, in September 2022, the Group entered into a strategic cooperation
agreement with a business partner to develop the Dealership Business. The
performance obligation of the Group is to arrange for the provision of household
appliances to the customer by placing orders to the designated suppliers. In this
case, the Group does not control the specified goods provided by the suppliers
before the good is transferred to the customer and the Group did not ordinarily
expose to inventory risk. When the Group satisfies the performance obligation, the
Group recognises revenue in the amount specified in the contracts, net of the costs

of the products from suppliers.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)
Principal versus agent consideration (continued)

Details of the revenue from contracts with customers are set out in Note 6.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that may have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets

and liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The management of the Group estimates the amount of lifetime ECL of trade
receivables individually, based on internal credit ratings of trade debtors, after
considering aging, historical repayment records, past due status of respective trade
receivables and forward-looking information. The assessment of the provision of
ECL for trade receivables involves certain degree of estimation and uncertainty as
the provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates including interal credit
ratings and corresponding default rate. At each reporting date, the credit ratings are

reassessed and forward-looking information are considered.

The information about the ECL and the Group's trade receivables are disclosed in

notes 28(b) and |8 respectively.
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for the year ended 31 December 2022
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6. REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

Wz

EPANUED R
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2022 3171212021
BE-B--F HE-T-_—F
+t=A=+—-8B +ZA=+—H
HFE IR
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Type of service PR %5
Mobile top-up service FREERERS 83,951 90,255
Mobile data usage top-up service FHREFTERE 149 282
Other top-up service H i R ERRTS 24 85
Service income arising from the Telecommunication
Equipment Business BREREEBEEHIRBLRA 1,897 -
Service income arising from the Dealership Business RS T EE BV IRTS I 634 -
86,655 90,622

The Group provides the mobile top-up and mobile data usage top-up services by

facilitating transactions between the PRC telecommunication companies and mobile

subscribers, through the channels of financial institutions and other channels.

Mobile top-up service income is entitled from the mobile subscribers, net of cost

of mobile top-up credits sourced from the PRC telecommunication companies and

other vendors.

Mobile top-up service income is recognised when the PRC telecommunication
companies completed the mobile top-up service for the mobile subscribers, being

at the point in time when the mobile subscribers have the ability to direct the use

of the credits and obtain the benefit of the credits.
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For the year ended 3/ December 2022
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REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Service income arising from the Telecommunication Equipment Business is
recognised when the equipment has been delivered in the end customers of the
telecommunication operators, being at the point in time when the suppliers of the
telecommunication equipment transferred the risks and rewards of the products
to the end customers. The Group recognises revenue in the amount specified in
the contracts, net of the costs of telecommunication equipment, as well as the

installation costs incurred by the suppliers for the end customers.

Service income arising from the Dealership Business is recognised at the point in
time when the household appliances manufactured by the suppliers have been
transferred to the customer of the Group. The Group recognises revenue in the

amount specified in the contracts, net of the costs of the products from suppliers.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to be identified on
the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that are regularly
reviewed by the executive directors and the chief operating decision makers (the
“CODMs") in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their

performance.

The CODMs review the Group's financial performance as a whole, which is
principally generated from the provision of mobile top-up service, mobile data
usage top-up service and other top-up service by the Group to customers and
determined in accordance with the Group's accounting policies, for performance

assessment. Therefore, no separate segment information is prepared by the Group.

Geographical information
All of the Group's revenue is derived from customers in the PRC and assets are
principally located in the PRC. Therefore, no geographical segment information is

presented.
Information about major customers

There was no revenue from individual customer of the Group contributing over

|0% of the total revenue of the Group during both vears.
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for the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F-—F+-A=1—HIFE

OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES 8. HiWARREX
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2022 3171212021
BE-2-_F HE-T_—F
+t=A=t+-B +ZHA=+—H
HEE R
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETT
Interest income MEKA
— from structured deposits (Note i) — REHEBIEFR (M) 790 603
— from bank deposits — RBRITER 1,175 411
Govemment subsidy (Note if) BT Rh (BT 2,010 694
(Recognition of) reversal of impairment loss in respect of  FAE ZEUFIE (7ERR) 2
trade receivables HIREEE (168) 6l
Net foreign exchange gain (loss) SNEW R (B51R) F5E 691 (321)
Loss on written off/disposal of property, s HEME - BE REE
plant and equipment MIEE (222) (67)
Gain on early termination of leases REX FHE W 55 -
Income on additional credit for the input value added tax ~ #ETFIE(ER ([BEH ) &
("VAT") (Note i) FAIME SR (P aTiii) 5,473 7,145
Others HAh (63) 128
9,741 8,654
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8.

9.

166

OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 8. HtWARMX (&)

Notes: B st -

()  During the years ended 3| December 2022 and 2021, the Group entered into (y HBEZZE--_FR-FT-_—F+=8
principal and return unprotected-structured deposits with banks in the PRC that were =+—HIEE AEBRTE%Z
denominated in RMB and without fixed maturity period. Interest of the structured FKIBTHE AL DI RIFRER LT
deposits varied depending on the performance and retum of underlying investments FR(EAREANE  EETEIHH
managed by the banks. The structured deposits were classified as financial assets at ) o R MEFROFSETHRITE
fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition. All the structured deposits were ERABRENRERLRME « &
purchased and redeemed during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. BUEEZAIT RSB AR AT

Eff \BEaNemEE - MALERE
HEFEIREE—F_—FR-_F—
— S+ A=+ HLEFERERE
| o

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the relevant government authority iy BWEZE-—F+-A=+—HLF
granted subsidy to the Group amounting to RMB2,010,000 (2021: RMB694,000) in B ABBRRERRAEETEM
relation to the Group's industry related funding scheme. The government subsidy was B E BT EIRAEE R DEIEAR
recognised in profit or loss in the year in which it became receivable. #2010000T (ZE=—F : ARK

694,0007T) ° B 178 B 7 165 B8 AT R ER
B FEARNERIER o

(i) On 21 March 2019, the PRC tax authority has published 2019 Bulletin 39 with iy RZZT—NEF=ZA=+—H ' PEH
effective period from | April 2019 to 31 December 2021 which states that additional BHEBEG —_E—NEE9ELE
10% of input VAT would be granted to the qualified general VAT payer to offset (e —E—NFENA—HBZEZ
VAT payables. On 3 March 2022, the PRC tax authority has extended the effective E-—F+ZA=+—8) ELH
period to 3| December 2022 in Announcement 2022 Bulletin | 1. A& BE—RIBER AT AR TN

|0%HIEIEISER - LI HEMIEE
BH-RZT-—F=A=R " #EAH
Vg3 Fa e Sk A W B /N
BERSERE-T_—_F+=-A=
+—A-

FINANCE COSTS 9. BAIBRAE

2022 2021

—E-CE - —F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Interest on bank borrowings RITREFFR 957 2333
Interest on lease liabilities MEREBNE 138 124
1,095 2,457
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

e P AR R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F-—F+-A=1—HIFE

10. BRBLADEF

Year ended

3171212021

Year ended

31/12/2022

BE-B--F HE_T——%
t=A=+t—-B +-A=t-H

HEE IHFE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREFT
Profit before tax has been arrived at after charging: BRAE AR A T HUR A T & I81&
Gk
Directors' emoluments (Note 12) EEM< (PHE12) 3,464 2949
Salaries and other benefits, excluding those of directors TENEMEN (TREESH) 21,561 19,463
Retirement benefit scheme contributions, RRRBHET IR
excluding those of directors (TEEEEH) 2,856 2,695
Total staff costs BIRABE 27,881 25,107
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment WE¥ - BENMSETE 1,058 866
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 1,421 1,385
Auditor’s remuneration Gl EA
— Audit services — BtIRS 2,002 1,966
— Non-audit services — EEETIRT 492 456
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE Il. FIBHRAX
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2022 31/12/2021
BE-B--F HE_T——%
+t=B=+—-H +ZA=+—H
HFE IHFE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARBTT
Current tax: BNERTRIA -
— PERERMAEH
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax ("EIT") ([EEMEBH) 8,239 2967
— PRC Withholding Tax — RETEMH - 648
8,239 3615
Underprovision in prior years BEFEREBEIE
~PRCEIT — B PEPEH 93 -
8,332 3615
Deferred tax (Note 25) EERA (FfEE25) 565 1,944
8,897 5559
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

Hong Kong

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made in the consolidated
financial statements as no assessable profit was generated in Hong Kong for both

years.

The PRC
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “PRC EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulations of the PRC EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC

subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

As a small-size and low-profit enterprise under the PRC EIT Law, Daily Charge
Technology (Shenzhen) Limited (“Daily Charge SZ"), a wholly foreign-owned
enterprise of the Company, and Shenzhen Qianhai Yixing Network Technology
Co, Ltd* (RIIATE 2= EAERHL AR A7), a PRC subsidiary of the Company,
were entitled to 20% preferential tax rate and only 12.5% of the taxable profits
is subject to the PRC EIT Law, with effective period from | January 2022 to 31
December 2024.

e P AR R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F-—F+-A=1—HIFE
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)
The PRC (continued)

The tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before tax per the

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as

follows:

Frig®iRa s ()

HE (&)
FARBERXA A EERaBE RE
2 E KSR P ROBRBADRA > a0

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2022 3171272021
BE_B__F HE_T-—F
+t=ZA=+-B +ZA=+—H
FE IHFE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTF T ARBTT
Profit before tax BRBEAT A 36,162 32,037
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% BEAH R % TERFE 9,041 8,009
Tax effect of expense not deductible for tax purpose PSR RS E 1,782 3,686
Tax benefits (Note i) P EE () (2,019) (2,445)
Tax effect of tax relief or concessionary tax rate granted I N —K P BIH B 7]
to a PRC subsidiaries EREBENENNETE - (133)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised BT RERATIAER - (4,206)
Withholding tax on distributed profits of a PRC Hh B 8 2 R AT 2 T A Y
subsidiary (Note i) TR (FTEii) - 648
Underprovision in prior years BEFEREBTRE 93 -
Income tax expense for the year FRMRERFAX 8,897 5559

Notes:

(i) Pursuant to Caishui 2018 circular No. 99, Shenzhen NNK is entitled to additional tax
deduction on qualifying research and development costs expenditures.

(i) Under the PRC EIT Law, 10% withholding income tax is generally imposed on

dividends relating to any profits earned commencing from 2008 by enterprises

established in the PRC to foreign investors. For the year ended 31 December

2021, the Group has applied 10% tax rate for dividends declared by a subsidiary

incorporated in the PRC. There was no dividends declared during the year ended 31

December 2022.
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2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to

the applicable Listing Rules and the CO, is as follows:

e P AR R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F-—F+-A=1—HIFE

12. EF FETBAERESHNMH
€
RBER TR R A BHEGI TR &R
FRAEERTZITHAENFHOT :

Salaries Retirement
and other  benefit scheme
Fees allowances  contributions Total
TER RIKER
ue Hitr=RRg HE 5 &t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT AR®TR ARMTRT AR%TR
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BZE—Z-_"F+_-H
=t+—-RLEFE
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Huang Junmou (Note i) R FREAE (5L - 2,007 92 2,099
Mr. Guan Heng (Note iv) e (M) 23 336 16 375
Dr. Zhou finhuang (Note v) AeEEL () 23 186 6 215
Non-executive directors: FHTES
Mr. Fan Weiguo (Note ii) SBRETEI A (P EEi) 259 - - 259
Mr. Yu Zida T ERA 129 - - 129
Independent non-executive directors BUERTES
Mr. Lin Zhangxi WEHKE 129 - - 129
Mr. Qian Haomin BESLL 129 - - 129
Ms. Zhao Jinlin HEMLLT 129 - = 129
821 2,529 [14 3,464
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[2. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

2. EE - FETHAEREESNH

(CONTINUED) € (&)
Salaries Retirement
and other  benefit scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
TER RIGER
e Ht28h ATEIfHR At
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT  AR®TRT ARETT  AR%TR
For the year ended 31 December 202 BE-T-_—51+-A
=+—HILFE
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Huang Junmou (Note i) EfRFEEE (M) 124 1010 56 1190
Mr. Yang Hua (Note i) WBE LA (M EEi) 104 833 67 1,004
Non-executive directors: FHITES
Mr. Fan Weiguo (Note i) SBETE A (PN EE) 4l - - 4|
Mr. Yu Zida FESE 124 - — 124
Mr. Li Xiangcheng (Note i FERR A (METi) |14 - - |14
Mr. Xu Xinhua (Note i FrENEE S A (S 104 = = 104
Independent non-executive directors BUERTES
Mr. Lin Zhangxi R & 124 - - 124
Mr. Qian Haomin BRERES 124 — — 124
Ms. Zhao Jinlin HE T 124 — - 124
983 1843 123 2949
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(CONTINUED)
Notes:

(i) Mr. Huang Junmou also served as chief executive officer of the Company. His
emoluments include service rendered as chief executive. He was resigned as a chief

executive officer on 2 November 2022.

(i) Mr. Yang Hua resigned as an executive director and chief executive officer, Mr. Xu
Xinhua resigned as a non-executive director and Mr. Fan Weiguo was appointed as a

non-executive director on 28 October 2021.

(i) Mr. Li Xiangcheng resigned as a non-executive director on 3 December 2021.

(iv)  Mr. Guan Heng was appointed as an executive director and chief executive officer on

2 November 2022. His emoluments include service rendered as chief executive.

(v)  Dr. Zhou Jinhuang was appointed as an executive director and authorised

representative on 8 November 2022.

e P AR R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F-—F+-A=1—HIFE

2. EE - FETHAEREESNH
& (&)
isE -

() BERFRTENEERDREERT
T EMeREEREREHIERME
RS - FR-_ZE-—F+—A=H
BIEEHITE °

iy MZZEZ-—F+AZ+T/N\B BEX
ERERTEERERNTE - AT
ERABEFNMTES eHR L
BEERIRIMNTES -

iy FTEREER-Z-_—F+-A=H
BHEFEITE S

vy BELER-_Z-_—_F+-A-AK
ZHERPTESRERNTE - AW
SREERERNITRE R

v BAsEBIRN-_Z-_—F+—ANR
BEERPMTESREERE -
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e M AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2022
B2 -E-—ff-A=+—HIFE

2.

174

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS 2. EE - T ETHAERES N
(CONTINUED) € (&)
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year included one (2021 AEBNERNAESS T EERE—
two directors) director, details of whose remuneration are set out above. Details Z(ZE-—F - WEL)EE  HHH
of the remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2021: three) highest paid HBFFNLEX - WIEARARIESERT
employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as BITBAENBRTNE (ZE=-—F
follows: —R)ReFNEENFRNFMERE
N
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2022 31/12/2021
BE-2-_F HE-T-_—F
t=A=+-B T-A=t+—H
LHEE 1L
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT
Salaries and allowances TE KRR 3,871 1,898
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRRAETEIHR 189 175
4,060 2,073
The number of the highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief WIkAANTEERTETHAENS
executive of the Company is as belows: SHMEE AZIT
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
No. of No. of
employees employees
BEAH BE AR
— Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 — T ZE 1,000,000/ 7T 2 3
— HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 — 1,000,001 77T 2 1,500,000 7 2 -

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors, chief executive of the Company or the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of the directors and the chief executive of the Company has waived any

emoluments during both years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. DIVIDENDS 13.
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the Company
during 2022, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting
period (2021: nil).

4. EARNINGS PER SHARE 14.
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the

Company is based on the following data:

e P AR R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-F_—F1_f=1—HIFE

3=\

ARAHER —T - —FREBRKR
ﬁ%%kmﬁ%ﬂw'ﬁﬁ%%iﬁﬁ
FRRBEEARS (CT_—F &) -

BREF
ARBHEENEEGRERBF TIER
UTEEHE

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2022 3171212021
BE-Z--F BE_T_—F%
+=A=t-R +=A=+-AH

ILFE IEFE
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETT

Eamnings for the purpose of basic earnings per share: RERERBMNM S HRH
— profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company — 2N B1#EA A FEAG F A F

27,265 26478

Number of shares

RPEE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2022 31/12/2021

BE-E-_—f BT ——F
t=A=+-R tZA=1—H

HEE LFE
’000 ‘000
Tk Thx
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for HERERRMMEH
the purpose of basic eamings per share TR 98 415,000 415,000

No diluted earnings per share for both 2022 and 2021 were presented as there

were no potential ordinary share in issue for both 2022 and 202 1.

HR-E- RS- —FUIEERE
BRTEER AT -_—FK-F
T —FEHREFEREERT
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e M AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2022

#E=

I5.

176

—E-Ff A= HIFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. % - WEKRE
Computer
Leasehold Motor and office
improvement vehicles equipment Total
HE HEY YA
YL AE WARE a5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR¥Trn AR¥TR AR®ETx
COST R AR
At | January 2021 W-_ZE-—F—F—H 509 2362 12,495 15,366
Additions NE = = 1,397 1397
Disposals/write off HE /W - (595) (537) (1,132)
At 31 December 2021 RN—_ZE-_—F+-_fA=+—H 509 1,767 13,355 15,631
Additions NE 2,353 - 733 3,086
Disposals/write off e/ #H (433) - (3,135) (3.568)
At 31 December 2022 R-E-_—#+-F=+—H 2429 1,767 10953 15,149
DEPRECIATION e
At | January 2021 WZZE-_—%5—F—H 292 1,959 1,625 13,876
Provided for the year FRERE 87 284 495 866
Eliminated on disposals/write off RIS /e = (565) (493) (1,058)
At 31 December 202 | R_E-_—F+-HA=+—H 379 1,678 11,627 13,684
Provided for the year FRERE 237 — 821 1,058
Eliminated on disposals/write off RIS /e (360) - (2,956) (3316)
At 31 December 2022 RZE-_—F+=-A=+—H 256 1,678 9,492 11,426
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2022 RZE-_—_#F+-A=+—H 2,173 89 1,461 3,723
At 31 December 2021 —F+-A=+—H 130 89 1,728 1,947
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e P AR R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-F_—F1_f=1—HIFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 15. Y% BERRE (&)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a Lt - BE RREBEB TR A
straight-line basis over the useful lives as follows: FHRNREGEEETNE -
Leasehold improvement Shorter of respective lease terms or 5 years
MEMREE ARSI E UABREERE)
Motor vehicles 5 years
atd 5%
Computer and office equipment 3 to 5 years
B PE N 3ESF
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS l6. EREEE
Land and
buildings
in the PRC
REIRY it
53 &2
RMB’000
AR®TR
At | January 2021 RZZEZ—F—H—H 1,905
Addition NE 1,033
Depreciation provided for the year FAMERE (1,385)
At 31 December 2021 and | January 2022 —E—H+ZA=+—-BK
:E::E*ﬂ —H 1,553
Addition INE 2,194
Early termination of leases RELILHEE (292)
Depreciation provided for the year FRFTERE (1,421)
At 31 December 2022 RZZE-_—F+-A=+—H 2,034
For both years, the Group leases land and buildings for its operations. Lease RREEE  ~AEBRETHEETH
contracts are entered into for fixed term of | year to 5 years (2021: | year to 4 BB - HEAS NI | ER5EHE T H
years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain different terms i3} g‘[j (ZE-—F: |FEF4%F)- 1

and conditions. The total cash outflows for leases during the year amounted to TIREREERERN - BBESTRAN

RMBI,497,000 (2021: RMBI,518,000). 15< RiEHE - FREENRES T EE
BARE1497000L (ZF=—F : A
R#1,5180007T) °

|H'_\
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e M AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2022
HE-F-_F1_A=1—HIFE

17. INVENTORIES 7. #E&
31/12/2022 31/12/2021
—EBC-CE —E-—F
+t=ZA=t—-8B +tZHA=+—-H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT R ARETT
Pre-paid mobile top-up credits BENFREERERR 9,430 23562
18.  TRADE RECEIVABLES 18. BEZEWREA
317122022 317122021
k- St - —E-—F
+t=BA=+—-H +ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
Trade receivables B 5 R RIE
— Mobile top-up service — FHREERERK 197,150 168,599
— Telecommunication Equipment Business — BEREEREK 29,010 =
— Dealership Business — RIHET 17,523 =
Less: allowance of credit losses B EEEREE (253) (85)
243,430 168,514
Less: Amount due for settlement with |2 months shown — J 75'”?5/?@3%?5%4\ 121E A A
under current assets FEREE BT (234,383) (168514)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown SIESERB BN 121 A 1%
under non-current assets B ERIFIR 9,047 -
As at | January 2021, trade receivables from contracts with customers amounted R-ZZE_—F—A—B XB%XF&
to RMB188,976,000. KHE 5 IR R AR ¥ 188,976,000

TEO
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Trade receivables from mobile top-up service mainly represent receivables
from financial institutions in relation to the mobile top-up service which the
settlement period is normally within | day from transaction date. Due to deepening
cooperation with major PRC banks for their promotion activities, the Group has
granted credit period of 30 to 45 days for those trade receivables based on the
invoice date. For certain channels of customers, the credit period was about 30 to
60 days granted by the Group based on the invoice date. The Group did not hold

any collateral over these balances.

Trade receivables from the Telecommunication Equipment Business mainly
represent receivables from telecommunication operators, which are repayable by

instalments ranged from 6 months to 36 months.

Trade receivables from the Dealership Business mainly represent receivables from a
customer that the Group allows a credit period of no more than 90 days based on
the delivery date. As of 31 March 2023, trade receivables as of 31 December 2022
had been fully settled subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for credit
losses presented based on the date of service provided and revenue recognised, at

the end of each reporting period:

e P AR R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F-—F+-A=1—HIFE

B REWFE (F)
REFREETERBNE HRKKIE
TERRARFREBRERE R SR
BURBORIE  SERBRERRSHB#E
| RA o B R B = 22 B8R 17t EL 4R 8
BEINREE  AEERZEEIEK
FERTEREZAH0E45KNER
B HNETERPRE  AEERTE
REZBEH0E0XNERE - A%
B S % AR R (Y

BRERAEEEHEIEKREEEIE
WEEELERE - ZERAAN
Az 36EAMHHEE -

EEBNE S RKTIEE ZEAEE
ERRZBEIS TR BBIORNEE S
MEREFPFIE BE-T-_=F=A
=+—RB BEZTZF+ZA=t
—BMEZENREE RN RS BREH
B’E -
TIAREREBARREMEEREH
HAREERREZ2IINE S KR
(MR EEEERE) KR

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

—E-CE —E-—F

T=A=t-8 +ZA=+-A

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTF T ARBTT

0t 30 days 0Z30K 191,607 166,896
31 to 60 days 31 E260K 45,758 732
Over 60 days 60RLAE 6,065 886
243,430 168,514
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e M AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2022
B2 -E-—ff-A=+—HIFE

8.

180

TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2022, included in the Group's trade receivables balance
were debtors in mobile top-up business with aggregate carrying amount of

RMB2,804,000 (202 1: RMB2,788,000) which are past due as at the reporting date.

Based on the Group's assessment of historical credit loss experience of
these debtors arising from the mobile top-up business, including all available
forward-looking information and expected settlements, the Group does not
consider default has occurred despite the contractual payments are overdue more
than 90 days due to these customers are mainly reputable banks with strong
financial positions. However, the Group would have provided in full for trade
receivables overdue more than 180 days because based on historical experience,
such receivables are generally not recoverable, unless the Group has reasonable

and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set out in Note 28.
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9.

20.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P AR R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F-—F+-A=1—HIFE

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. BFNFE - BEREMERER
31/12/2022 3171272021
—E-CE —E-—F
+t=ZA=t—-8B +tZHA=+—-H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
Prepayments FERTROE
— for mobile top-up credit (Note) —FRFEFTESR (M) 124,279 148,362
— for Dealership Business — RIHER 24319 =
VAT recoverable AL EEET 509 1,593
Other prepayments and deposits and other receivables Hip A pIa kg e kA
FEWTRIR 2418 1,377
151,525 151,332

Note: Included in the amount as at 3| December 2022 is the prepayments to a related
party amounting to RMB936,000 (202 1: RMB21,440,000). Details of the relevant

transactions are set out in Note 30.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH 20.
The Group's bank balances and cash carry interests at prevailing market rates which

range from 0.01% to 2.60% (2021: 0.01 % to 2.60%) per annum as at 3| December

2022.

B fAZE-_—F+-_A=+—BK%
BRI @5 7B AREE936,000
T (ZZE=—F : AR®21,440,000
T0) ° IBER S IEHENARF30 -

RITERREE
RZZE-_—F+-A=+—H £&EE
RRITEBREASENTREF001%
F260%(ZFE=—F : 001%F2.60%)
RIRITTIGRERE B

FEEREIARAT 202268 181



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2022
B2 -E-—ff-A=+—HIFE

21.

22.

182

TRADE PAYABLES 21, BSENFR
The Group is normally granted credit terms of about 90 days. The Group has AEERTPREAORNERE - A%
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are within the BHIFTH SRR EEER - ERATA
credit timeframe. e FIBASRBHERER -
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the date ATARERENRBREATEEER
of service provided by the PRC telecommunication companies to the mobile AR F AP REREHBHZIINE
subscribers, at the end of respective reporting periods: SIEMNFIBRIRER A -
31/12/2022 31/12/2021
ot S 3 —E-—F
+=ZRA=t—-H +ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARBTT
0 to 90 days 0&290K 14,753 13,773
91 to 180 days 912 180K 1,290 1137
181 0 360 days 181 360K 3,728 6266
19,771 21,176
OTHER PAYABLES 2. HtENFR
31/12/2022 31/12/2021
—E-C-F —E-—F
t+=ZRA=t—-H +tZHA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTF T ARBTFT
Receipts in advance TEWGRIE 50,223 52,702
Accrued salaries et 4,830 4,152
Other tax payables Hi FEfTIE 373 261
Payable for audit fee e &R &R 2,002 954
Others it 2,749 3912
60,177 61,981
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23.

LEASE LIABILITIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P AR R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F-—F+-A=1—HIFE

Lease liabilities payable:

Within one year

23. HEEE

31/12/2022 317122021
—E-C-F —E-—F
+=A=+—-H +=ZA=+—H
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETF T ARETT

ENHESRS
—FR 635 1,505

Within a period of more than one year but not more than A —FIA F - BRHEBME

two vyears 457 201
Within a period of more than two years but not more than AHIMEL £ - BETBBRF

five years 1,102 =

2,194 1,706

Less: Amount due for settlement with |2 months shown — J& : ZIYEREN A ERRA 12{8 A X

under current liabilities HEBERFIR (635) (1,505)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown under ~ ZIYEIEREN B ERIR 121E A&

non-current liabilities S ERRIE 1,559 201
The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range from 5.2% to 5.5% AREEREIEEERFENT52%

(2021: 5.2%).

B55% (2T = —4 : 52%) o
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e M AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2022
B2 -E-—ff-A=+—HIFE

24. BORROWINGS 24. &R
31/12/2022 31/12/2021
—EC-CF T F
T=A=t-8 +ZA=+-A
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTF T ARBTT
Short-term bank borrowing A EIRITIE K 60,000 =
Bank overdrafts RITEX 90,000 50,000
150,000 50,000
Unsecured, fixed interest rate range from 4.5% to 5.5% IR - EEFNENF45%E
(2021: 5.5%) per annum and repayable within one year ~ 5.5% (ZZFZ=—%F : 55%) WH
—FREER 65,000 50,000
Secured, fixed interest rate range from 4.2% to 5.5% EEMR - EEFNENF42%E
(2021: n/a) per annum and repayable within one year 55%(ZF=—4% : NER) I
R—FREE 85,000 -
150,000 50,000
25. DEFERRED TAXATION 25. EEBIE
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting AT RRER B B ) 2RI BUIRA
PUrpOses: ERAT -
31/12/2022 31/12/2021
—E-C-F —E-—F
+t=A=+—-8B +ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARBTFT
Deferred tax assets ERENIEEE (85) -
Deferred tax liabilities ERERIERE 9,930 9,280
9,845 9,280
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P AR R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-F_—F1_f=1—HIFE

DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED) 25. RAEBIE ()
The following are the deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised and movements AT AR KB T 5 2 iR ) iRE
thereon during the current and prior years: MEaE(EE) RHE
Taxable
Timing management
difference Allowance  fee income
on revenue for credit of Daily
recognition  Tax losses losses  Charge SZ Total
ARERYI
KEER FE  HERH
MEZ HEBE HRERE EEERA EH
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR ARETRT ARET:R
(Note)
(Bt
At | January 2021 RZE=—F—H—H = (1944) = 9,280 7336
Charge (credit) to profit or loss s GEA) 5 - [,944 - - 1,944
At 31 December 2021 RZZE_—4+-A=t—H = = = 9,280 9,280
Charge (credit) to profit or loss B (Gt A) g 650 42 (43) — 565
At 31 December 2022 RZB__F+-A=t—-H 650 (42) (43) 9,280 9,845
Note: Amount represented the tax effect of RMB37,120,000 management fee charged by M ZeRABE_T—RF+-A=

Shenzhen NNK to Daily Charge SZ for the year ended 31 December 2015 under the

VIE Arrangement.

T—HILEE  REAJEFNIEER
BE o RINEFEREARTTFYIE
EIRE ARM37120,0007TH T
ggéo
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=)

PR R =T

For the year ended 3/ December 2022

BE-E-F1oA=

25.

186

=+ —HIFE

DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had unused tax losses of RMB722,000 (2021:
RMB14,000) available for offset against future profits. Deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of RMBI168,000 (2021: nil) of such losses as at 31 December
2022 and no deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of remaining
RMB554,000 (2021: RMB14,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit

streams.

25.

EAERE (8)
RZTE-Z—F+-A=+—H ££EEH

BEARBAMEBEARE7220007T (=
—F : AR¥14,0007T) @ ATEIK
HARER c RZEZZF+A=+
—B - BZEEARKE1680007T (ZF
T D)RAELCHEEE - AR
AR ACHEF ORI A - WEER &
TARKESS4000L (ZE=Z—F 1 AR
#14,0007T) HEREIENIAEE ©

2022 2021

—EC-CF —E-—F

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETF T

2026 —ERF - 14,000
2027 2t F 722,000 -
722,000 14,000

Under the PRC EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in
respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries from | January 2008 onwards.
As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate amount of taxable temporary differences
associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised amounted to RMB237,113,000 (2021:
RMB203,486,000). No deferred tax liability has been recognised in respect of
these temporary differences because the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will

not be reversed in the foreseeable future.
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27.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P AR R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-F_—F1_f=1—HIFE

SHARE CAPITAL [EE
Issued and fully
Number of Number of paid share capital
authorised issued DRTRARKRE
shares shares Us$ RMB’000
EERBEE ESRTROHA Zt  AR%TR
Asat | January 2021, 3| December 2021, R=-ZE-—%—HA—H -
| January 2022 and 31 December 2022 :?:—iJr:H =t+—f"
“E_F-RA-BR
ZZ--F+-RA=1-H
— Ordinary shares of US$0.01 each — BR00I ETHEBER 2,000,000,000 415,000,000 4,150,000 27221
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 27. EXERERE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximizing the return to owners through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains

unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which includes bank
borrowings and lease liabilities disclosed in Notes 24 and 23 respectively, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to the owners of the Company,

comprising issued share capital, retained earings and other reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure from time to time.
The Group considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. The Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of

dividends, the issue of new shares, new debts or the redemption of existing debts.

AEBERAL LU RAAEEN B
SIS TR - AR A
ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁazmyﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ
AEBBAES - AEBHERFERSE
EE— TR .

REBREARIE b BB A -
&m %FW?M&B#H%WEHF%
FHERRE MRS SR FEDN
RARBEA AREE#ED (BREE T
B~ RE BRI R B ffEE) o

AEEERE MR EAERE - A%
BEZEE AU BEE TR
(- REBREBIRMNRE - #ITHAK
- MEEXBERAEHMH FEER
BEXERE -
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e M AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2022
B2 -E-—ff-A=+—HIFE

28.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 28. £WMITA
a.  Categories of financial instruments a EMIEEH
3171212022 317122021
—E-CF —E-—F
+=A=+—-8 +=ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Financial assets SREE
Amortised cost BERR 342,024 202,394
Financial liabilities SREE
Amortised cost BESHRK AR 179,352 80,194
Lease liabilities HEafE 2,194 1,706

181,546 81,900

188 NNK Group Limited Annual Report 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables, bank balances and cash, trade payables, other
payables, borrowings and lease liabilities. Details of the financial instruments
are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risks (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management of the Group manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and

effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk related primarily to certain
bank balances that are denominated in HK$ and US$. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant

foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated

monetary assets at the end of each reporting period are as follows:

e P AR R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F-—F+-A=1—HIFE

28. €WIE (&)

b.

P ERERE R EREE
AEENTIBRERTIABREES
PR - e MO b YR
B RITESREAT - EHEM
TR~ HENFUR - AR
ERE - ZFERTANFRER
HEMERRE - BZF2RBT
EABEMEREEM SRR (B
R RN ERER)  FERBR
RBELRER - MAREZER,
REVRERBMN T X - NEEE R
EEELERZFRR - AER
K B A RO REVE & 1 1 ©

0

g
AEEEBTRENETIET
AHEME TRITASRAE BAINE
BB o AEEBRE I EAEMINE
HMREK - A - BEEEEEN
B [\ 3 5 18 e B KN R
B (RpE) -

AREREHEMRAINEEE
HEBEENREED T -

31/12/2022 31/12/2021
—E-CF —E-—F
t=A=+t-B T-A=t+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
Monetary assets SREE
HKS BT 4,900 11908
Us$ e 2 6
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For the year ended 3/ December 2022
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28.

190

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group exposes to foreign currency risk on fluctuation of HK$ and US$
during the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. The following table
details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% (2021: 5%) increase and decrease in
RMB against HKS$ or US$. 5% (2021: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used which
represents the management'’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation
at the year end for a 5% (2021: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. A
positive number below indicates an increase in post-tax profit for the year
where RMB weakened 5% (2021: 5%) against HK$ or US$. For a 5% (2021:
5%) strengthening of RMB against HK$ or US$, there would be an equal and

opposite impact in the profit or loss.

28. €WIE (&)

b.

FREREEEEREK (&)
/s (&)

EXmg (%)
FREDH

BE_T-__FR-T-_—%
+-ZA=+—HLtEE &5
B E &8 T RS TTK BRSNS L

o TRFMAEEHARKN

ATEETHBEREZE%(ZF
Z 5 5%) MBURE - FTAR
5% (ZFZ—F : 5%) BREAEE
EREELHINEEXNA RS
BT - UREDTEBEN
INEEHEMARBEERIER - I
RERPINEEEMS% (ZT =
—F 5% BBABREKE - T
51| TF £ /= iR fif A R 6 B T3k e
TR ES% (ZT=—%F : 5%) K
F AR m&mﬂ?M°MAE%

ABTRETHAER(Z

irwwﬁgvﬁﬁﬁﬁ ﬁﬂ
ERERTE

31/12/2022 31/12/2021
—E-C-F —E-—F
+t=B=+—H +ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT
HKS BT 205 497
Us$ T = =

* Less than RMB1,000

In management's opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the
inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the

exposure during the years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to lease
liabilities and fixed-rate bank borrowings (2021: lease liabilities and fixed-rate
bank borrowings). The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk which arises from cash and cash equivalents (2021: cash and cash

equivalents) which carry interests at prevailing market rates.

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps in order to mitigate its
exposure associated with transactions relating to cash flows interest rate risk.
However, the management of Group monitors interest rate exposure and

will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

The interest rate risk to the Group are insignificant. Accordingly, no

sensitivity analysis is presented for the interest risk impact.

e P AR R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
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For the year ended 3/ December 2022
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28.

192

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the
counterparties failure to perform their obligations at the end of the reporting
period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying
amount of these assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial

position.

Trade receivables

The management of the Group determines credit limits based on the credit
quality. Credit limits are reviewed annually over these balances. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model upon application of HKFRS 9 on trade
receivables individually and collectively with appropriate groupings, which
is based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to the nature of
debtors, internal credit ratings and guarantee arranged to safeguard the
receivables. Impairment (net) of RMBI68,000 is recognised for the year
ended 3| December 2022 (2021: Impairment (net) of RMB61,000 was
reversed). Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below in this
note. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group's

credit risk of trade receivables is significantly reduced.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
b.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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for the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F-—F+-A=1—HIFE

28. €WIE (&)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) b. HEBRKREZEEERBE (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EEER R EFE (&)
Deposits and other receivables and bank balances 7% REMEW IR RRTTH 6
The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are REFHAEEESEETRME
banks with high credit ratings and stated-owned banks with good reputation. TREERIFEBENR AR
WRBETHNEERRER
For deposits and other receivables, the Group performs an ongoing RReREMEWRZENS @ K
individual credit evaluation of their counterparties’ financial conditions and EEBEEREHFHNMERT
historical settlement records. The directors of the Company believe that NS EE R E R ETEER
there are no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial flie RRRIEFRE - BYRHE
recognition and the Group provided impairment based on |2m ECL and the RURZERBNEERR Y &
management is of the opinion that the outstanding debts are recoverable. BERNMAREEREZ 2EAR
HEEER RAERE mE
BERAREEER THRE -
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following REBHRNBEER RS RTE
categories: BREATER
Internal credit ~ Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
AEEE A B HRN0A HitemEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL - [2m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
BB HFHmEPRRRELYEEMANE FEPRBEEEE - REE NAAESHEEEHE
EERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL - [2m ECL
usually settle after due date not credit-impaired
BELE  EHALEONERERLONGT FENBOEEER-AEE DEARLEEER
EERE
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For the year ended 3/ December 2022
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Deposits and other receivables and bank balances (continued)

28. SRT A (#F)
b. HHKEREBEBEERBE (&)
EEmBRBETE (&)
B REMEWIERRTEE

(&)
Internal credit ~ Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
AEEE HiH B R RWBT0R HiveRmEE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
risk since initial recognition through information  not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
developed intemally or external resources
=4 ERAIMNIRERGERAEEERR BN FEBRBEEEE - AL FENRDEERE - K%L
WAREE M EERE EERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
EPS EREBETNAMEECRLECEERE FENRHEERE -B¥Ls GENRYEERRE %4
=ERE EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtorisin ~ Amount is written off Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
sH BEBEBRNEBARABENMBRELAS HHEHSE MEAEEE

ENRRBERAREEER
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b.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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for the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F-—F+-A=1—HIFE

28. €WIE (&)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) b. BREREEEERNE (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EEREREEE ()
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's financial TRAMAEFBETEEEE
assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: BRGNS EENEZER
2022 2021
External Internal Gross Gross
credit credit  |12-month or carrying carrying
Notes rating rating lifetime ECL amount amount
SR RE 2R REFEY —BCF —T--F
M FEIR  FETR ARGEES BEEE AFAEE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARKETE
Financial assets
at amortised costs
REERANEREE
Bank balances 20 Baa — AAA N/A  12m ECL 96,217 32,520
RITHEER NER  REAEHEEEE
Deposits and other receivables 19 N/A Low risk  [2m ECL 2,377 1,360
me MEMEKIR TER ERE 2EAEREEEE
Trade receivables 18 N/A (Note)  Lifetime ECL 206,080 142,946
B 5 W KIE NiEH (BR=E) (individually assessed)
FENEHEEER
(fEIRIFE)
Lifetime ECL 37,603 25,653
(collectively assessed)
FEREBEEEE
(SRBHA)
243,683 168,599

FEREEBRDA 2022F
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For the year ended 3/ December 2022
B2 -E-—ff-A=+—HIFE

28.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Note: For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with
significant outstanding balances or credit-impaired, the Group determines the
ECL on these items on a collective basis, grouped by nature of debtors and

debtors’ internal credit rating.

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group applies internal
credit rating for its debtors on trade receivables. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are

assessed on a collective basis within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
b.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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for the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-F_—F1_f=1—HIFE

28. €WIE (&)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) b. BREREEEERNE (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EEREREEE ()
2022 2021
—E-CE T —F

Gross carrying Gross carrying
amount amount
Average of trade Average of trade
loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
g2 WA EC) LGN
FHEEE BEREE FHERX ARRRE{E
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Low risk KRR 0.17% 37,603 031% 25,635

The loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates

BRETDAREEANERFH

over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking NEELBRBOLXRME
information that is available without undue cost or effort. REBBIEERBZKARE A

Trade receivables with significant outstanding balances with gross carrying i

amount of RMB206,080,000 (2021: RMB142,946,000) as at 31 December

AIESEAIIE L ERHELFAZE -

- —F#+-RA=+—8"
IR BE A ARE206,080,0007T

2022 were assessed individually. (ZZZ—%F : AR% 142,946,000

T) BEBAKRERHBENNE

SRERMGRIAD EEE T

As at 3| December 2022, the Group provided RMB65,000 (2021:
RMB80,000) impairment allowance for trade receivables based on collective
assessment, while impairment allowance of RMB188,000 (2021: RMB5,000)

were made on debtors with significant balances debtors.

RZE__F+-A=+—8"
AEERBAATEE HEK
FIEHRR ERE AR 65,000
TT(ZTZ—% : AR#%80,000
7T) + MR ERE AR 188,000
T (ZEZ—%F: AR¥50007T)
DERBEAGEHRERNEBLA
fEH -
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For the year ended 3/ December 2022
B2 -E-—ff-A=+—HIFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

28. £WMIE(4F)
b. HEERETEEERBK (&)
EERBRAETE ()

Lifetime ECL

(not credit-

impaired)

FEARY

FEER

(R#E

FERME)

RMB’000

ARBTR

As at | January 2021 N—_ZE-—F—H—H 146
Impairment losses reversed on financial instruments KT —%—H—BERY

recognised as at | January 202 | R ITAREBRERD (146)

New financial assets originated HEANSREE 85

As at 31 December 202 | RZZEZ—F+=A=1+—H 85
Impairment losses reversed on financial instruments R-E__F—A—HEZN

recognised as at | January 2022 R TAREBERD (85)

New financial assets originated FEENERERE 253

As at 31 December 2022 R-_E__%+_A=+—H 253

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating

that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic

prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation

or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade receivables

are over two years past due, whichever occurs earlier. During the year, none

of the trade receivables has been written off or is subject to enforcement

activities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains
a level of cash and cash equivalents as well as undrawn banking facilities
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group's operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management of
the Group monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings to ensure compliance

with loan covenants.

The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual maturities
for its financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities and lease liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes

both interest and principal cash flows.

Weighted Repayable

e P AR R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F-—F+-A=1—HIFE

28. €WIE (&)

b.

FREREEEEREK (&)
RBEEmE
REERBDESRRE - A&KE
ERVHAREEERRTIAEM
AEENEERRERERE)
DERNTENRE LR EE
WA R ARIRERI TR B KF o &K
CEEEEERRTERNER
TSR ARERE ST B TR

T RFIIARESRAEN
a2 BMER - ZFIRE

RALMERENANEE A HE
KNFHRE BHRE - KRB
BMERAEMRERE -

average on demand | year Total
effective or within 3 months to  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months to | year 5 years cash flows amount
BREX
mE¥S  BR3EAR KR
{7k #E fEAZIE I1E25E RERBAE REE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARMTR ARETR ARBTR AR%Trx
2022 —E-CE
Trade payables B OENFE - 19,771 - - 19,771 19771
Other payables Bt ERTFE - 9,581 - - 9,581 9,581
Bank borrowings RITEH 490 100,268 51928 - 152,19 150,000
Lease liabilties HEaR 547 195 541 1,701 2437 2,194
129815 52,469 1,701 183,985 181,546
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For the year ended 3/ December 2022
B2 -E-—ff-A=+—HIFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

28. €WIE (&)

b.

MREREEBEREE (&)

Liquidity risk (continued) REELEE (&)
Weighted Repayable
average on demand | year Total
effective or within 3 months to undiscounted Canrying
interest rate 3 months to | year 5 years cash flows amount
mEFS  BRRRE AEH
ERMZ IEAREER 3EAZIF IFESE HERERE BREfE
% RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREBTR ARBTRT ARETT ARET:
2021 “To-F
Trade payables B kMR - 21,176 - - 21,176 2,176
Other payables Bt R - 9018 - - 9018 9018
Bank borrowings RITEH 550 - 52735 - 52735 50000
Lease liabilites HEARE 520 397 1,164 206 1,767 1,706
30591 53,899 206 84,696 81,900
c. Fair value of financial instruments c. EMIANATE

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost is
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing model based on

discounted cash flow analysis.
The directors of the Company consider the carrying amounts of financial

assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in consolidated

financial statements approximate their fair values.
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29.

30.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Certain of the Group's borrowings are secured by assets of the Group and the

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P AR R

carrying amounts of which at the end of each reporting are stated below:

for the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F-—F+-A=1—HIFE

29. BEEA
AETAKBERMASEEELRM
HEREHEHROEEESIIT -

31/12/2022 31/12/2021
—E-C-F —E-—F

+=-A=+—-8 +=-A=+—H

RMB’000 RMB000

ARETT ARET T

Trade receivables B F W IE 137,402 =

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(@) Same as disclosed in Note |9, the Group entered into the following

transactions with the related party:

30. BAEEARS
(@) WMEEI9FKE  AEEEFEB

AAYTHIRS :
For the For the
year ended year ended
31/12/2022 3171212021

BE-Z-—§ gE-_Z-—F%
t=A=t-8B +ZA=t—A

1. ;4 HEFE
Name of related party Name of transaction RMB’000 RMB'000
B h A REER AR®TR ARETT
Yinsheng Communication Company Limited Purchase of mobile top-up credits 992,750 117,532

REBEERAT]

BEFTHRAEREDR

Note: Yinsheng Communication Company Limited is controlled by Mr. Lin
Chingcheng, the sibling of Ms. Lam Ching Wan, a substantial shareholder of
the Company, it became a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules from 26 October 2021. The transactions disclosed represent
purchase of mobile top-up credits by the Group from | January 2022 to 3|
December 2022 and 26 October 2021 to 31 December 2021, respectively.

Ao RBEBEARAAMALIN

Chingcheng5t 4 (MREF =2 T #
R FiES - MLt
BARBMEZRE - KT
T—F+ A+ BRELT
HER AR RNBEEAL ©
FiBENR ZEAEED IR
T F—-A—HEZZZ
ZEFTZA=T—HBRR=ZF
——F+AZ+ARBE=Z=
—FE+-A=1+—HBEFH
EERTESE -

FEEREIARAT 202268 201



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2022
HE-F-_F1_A=1—HIFE

30.

202

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management

30 BHMARS (&)
FEEEASHHS
EREERAMTIEEEEN

(b)

during the year were as follows: et :
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2022 3171212021
BE-E2__F HE-T-—F
+=B=t+-8 +=A=t+-H
LEE 22
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETT
Salaries and other short term benefits e REMEHET) 7,221 5,121
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRBHET IR 303 300
7,524 5421
The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the BEERFETHRABNBMETIH
remuneration committee having regard to the performance of individuals FMEZE K2 ZAARENRT

and market trends.
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30.

31

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(¢)  Guarantee
As at 31 December 2022, the Group's bank borrowing facilities
were RMB150,000,000 (31 December 2021: RMB50,000,000). The
Group's unsecured bank borrowing facilities of RMB65,000,000 (2021:
RMB50,000,000) were guaranteed by the Company, Daily Charge SZ,
Yinsheng Communication Company Limited, Mr. Huang Junmou, a substantial
shareholder of the Company, and Mr. Lin Chongcheng. The remaining were
secured by bank borrowing facilities of RMB85,000,000 (2021: nil), which
were guaranteed by the Company, Shenzhen Haimeng Investment Company
Limited, Daily Charge SZ, Mr. Huang Junmou, a substantial shareholder of
the Company, and Mr. Lin Chongcheng.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 14 December 2015, the Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme
pursuant to a resolution passed by its then shareholders on 14 December 2015,
for the primary purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible employees,

non-executive directors of the Company and other selected participants.

The principal terms of which are summarised in the section headed “Statutory and
General Information — F. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Company's
prospectus in respect of the listing of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange dated 24 December 2015. As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December

2021, no share option was granted.

e P AR R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F-—F+-A=1—HIFE

30. BEBARS (B)

31

 BR

R-_B__&+_A=+—H"
FEENRIEBEZIREARARE
150,000,000t (ZE=—F+=
A=+—8: AK#¥S50,000,000
7T) e AR BEEERRITERR
EAR¥650000007T (=T =—
F: AR#¥50,000,0007T) BA
DA RRFERY - REBEE
RAT - BEFLEE (KREE
ZRE&) KLin Chongcheng st A4 #&
R BRTEERRTERBEA
F#85,000,0007C (ZF=—% :
T)AARA - FNTEBERE
BRAR - RRRFI - =B
HAE(RRREERE) Klin
Chongcheng & A #& 1R ©

R
R-ZF-AF+-A+HA - REALD
AERBRRR-_F—hF+-A+tHH
BBIARR - ARAHGRERA—IR
BRE S TERMRAALRESE
RER  FMTEERAMET2EE
TRALREN S B2 RD -

AR ElM £ R IFFBUE R AR R 5L
HiRip R Eim THIEMB AR
Z-hE+ - A +HANBRREZM
B DEE R —REM —FBRER S
—fioR_T-_—F+-_A=+—-8BK
T+ A=+ BRI ERLE
Pt o
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e M AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2022
B2 -E-—ff-A=+—HIFE

32. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING 32. MERHELNEEHR
ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing TRFANAEERE THELAHBEE
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing g SRS NIIEESES - B8 EH

activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified EEXNEGRERNAERGABESRE

ARERELRKRERECLHED

in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

204

activities. BRpEESReRENEE -
Borrowings
other than Lease
bank overdraft liabilities
BRERATIEZ S
MR HEAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR
At | January 2021 R-E-—F—H—H = 2,067
Financing cash flows RERERE = (1,518)
New leases entered BETETAEAY - 1,033
Interest expenses FEFRX - 124
At | January 2022 R-ZE-_—%—H—H - 1,706
Financing cash flows MEREME 59,771 (1,497)
New leases entered EEEEED = 2,194
Early termination of lease REKIEHL = (347)
Interest expenses MEFAX 229 138
At 31 December 2022 R=—E-=—F+=-A=1+—H 60,000 2,194
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P AR R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F-—F+-A=1—HIFE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE 33. AATBBMRRREER
COMPANY
31/12/2022 31/12/2021
—E-CF —E-—F
t=A=+t-8B +ZA=t+-H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REKBAR 1,040 1,040
Current assets REEE
Bank balances and cash RITHERNIR S 3,768 7,031
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS P B 2 RIFRIA 468 304
4,236 7,335
Current liabilities RBEE
Other payables Hi A5 4,177 2,128
Net current assets REEEFE 59 5,207
Net assets BESE 1,099 6,247
Capital and reserves EXR
Share capital RS 27,221 27,221
Reserves & (26,122) (20,974)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AREIEE AEERREER 1,099 6,247
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2022
B2 -E-—ff-A=+—HIFE

33.

206

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE 33. APTHBERRREER (E)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Movement in the Company’s reserves RATREEES
Share  Accumulated

premium losses Total

A3 RE RitER e

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR%TR AR®BTR

At | January 2021 RZZ-_—F—H—H 38,037 (52,875) (14,838)
Loss and other comprehensive expense for the year FAEE K E M2 HERH Y - (6,136) (6,136)
At 3| December 2021 RZZEZ—F+=HA=+—H 38,037 (59,011) (20,974)
Loss and other comprehensive expense for the year FAE1E K E M2 - (5,148) (5,148)
At 3| December 2022 RZE-—F+=-A=+—H 38,037 (64,159) (26,122)
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34.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December

2022 and 2021 were as follows:

Names of subsidiary

MELE BB

Place of incorporation

/establishment/operation

iRV AV &k

e P AR R

for the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F-—F+-A=1—HIFE

34. MIBATIFEE

RRABR_E-_—FR_T-—F+=
A=1+—HB2EWBLRRFENT :

Principal activities

TEEH

Phone Charge Technology Limited
Phone Charge Technology Limited
NN Payment Limited
NN Payment Limited
Daily Charge HK Company Limited
Daily Charge HK Company Limited

EEXNBRARF
Daily Charge SZ (Note ii)

ARFEFRI (L)

Shenzhen NNK (Note i)

AINFER (M)

A AT BB R B R A R (Note i)
AYRTE R ERR R AR AR (M)
ZEEARBHE (RYI)BBRA BB MR A F)(Note i)
AR (RYI) BB AR AR AR (P
I RBER AR 2 B (Note i)

L REERRAR A (M)

Notes:

British Virgin Islands
ABEUES
British Virgin Islands
RBRAEE
Hong Kong

B

Hong Kong

Bt

The PRC

2
The PRC
i
The PRC
h
The PRC
h
The PRC
h

(i) The equity interests of the subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company through

the VIE Arrangement and the subsidiaries are wholly domestic owned enterprises

established in the PRC.

(i) The subsidiary is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the end of the each

reporting period or at any time during the year.

PEE :

Investment holding

AR

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Inactive

TEEX

Investment holding and trading of
products

REEBRNRERER

Mobile top-up services

FRARRERS

Technical development

B

Technical development

BB

Digital marketing service

BT EHIRS

ZEMBARIRBAIENRER
FRAREEESE - AREWE
AIRERERIIMNABBELE -

z
/A

ZME DB RN EEIEEE S
.,

REFEPRIAFREMEER - HE
MEBLREEEMETEIINELE

%o
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Five-Year Financial Summary

LFEPBRE

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FRGeEEREtEEKER

Year ended 3| December
BE+-A=t+—-HLFE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
BRI ZF--F —T-%F —TNF TN\
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTR ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETZT

Revenue A 86,655 90,622 81742 49,827 60,280
Cost of revenue WA A (13,887) (14,783) (18228) (20,129) (35,759)
Gross profit E7 72,478 75551 63,001 29,645 24318
Profit (loss) before tax BRiiADE A (&) 36,162 32,037 30219 673 (21610
Income tax expense FTS B (8,897) (5559) (6) ®) (4224)
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to A EHA AREIS
owners of the Company FREN (EE) 27,265 26478 30213 665 (25,834)
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive &7 (E518) k2 EU &
income (expense) (Fis) 1% 27,265 26,478 30213 665 (25,834)
Eamings (loss) per share — basic FREREM (BE)
(RMB cents) (AR%7) 6.57 6.38 7.28 0.16 (623)
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HRGEEERAEE
As at 3| December
R+=A=+-H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

ZECCE —E-—F Z2°FF —E-NF —E-N\F
RMB'000  RMB00O0  RMBR000  RMBO0O0  RMBO0O
ARETRT ARETIT ARBTT ARETT ARETRT

Total assets BEE
Total liabilties BeE
Total equity ks

506,599 379,842 352,970 280,052 321,155
243,650 144,158 143,764 101,059 142,827
262,949 235,684 209,206 178993 178,328
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